Università degli Studi di Torino



Scuola di Dottorato in

Biotecnologie Molecolari e Scienze per la Salute

**Dottorato in** 

# Medicina Molecolare (XXXIV ciclo)



# Applying meta-analysis to develop novel anti-tumor strategies

Candidato/a: Anurag Kumar Srivastava

Tutor(s): Prof. Francesco Novelli

### Table of Contents

List of Tables	iv
List of Figures	iv
Chapter 1: General Introduction	1
1.1 Aim of thesis	6
Chapter 2: Exploiting post-translational modifications of tumor-ass	sociated
antigens to enhance the efficacy of cancer immunotherapy	7
2.1 Introduction	11
2.2 Acetylation	14
2.3 Citrullination	
2.4 Phosphorylation	20
2.5 Glycosylation	23
2.6 Conclusion	29
Chapter 3: Role of Adiponectin Receptors Expression in Cancerogen	nesis 31
3.1 Methods	
3.1.1 Data Acquisition	35
3.1.2 Clustering and Heatmaps	35
3.1.3 Survival analysis	35
3.1.4 Spearman correlation	35
3.2 Results	
3.2.1 Correlation analysis finds that two adiponectin receptors expression a	re correlated in
DLBC	36
3.2.2 Clustering analysis classifies cancer patients into lower and higher exp	ression group of
adiponectin receptors	37
3.2.3 Adiponectin receptors expression profiles characterize cancer patients	s with their
diagnosis age	40
diagnosis age 3.2.4 Classification of cancer subtypes with expression profiles of adiponect	40 in receptors42

3.2.6 Lower expression of adiponectin receptors are better for survival in	four cancer types
	48
3.3 Discussion	50
Chanter 4: Transcriptional landscape of adjacentin and its recen	tors in
ancroatic cancorc	E3
4.1 Methods	54
4.1.1 Data Acquisition	54
4.1.2 Consensus Independent Component Analysis	54
4.1.3 Identification of transcriptional components with high absolute weig	shts of AdipoQ and
its receptors	56
4.1.4 Gene Set Enrichment Analysis	56
4.1.5 Identifying biology of AdipoQ-TCs outliers	57
4.1.6 Survival Analysis	57
4 1 6 1 Survival Tree Analysis	57
4.1.0.1 Survival Tree Analysis	
4.2 Results	58
4.2.1 Data set containing 184 pancreatic cancer tissue samples	58
4.2.2 Consensus independent component analysis identifies 182 transcrip	tional components
	59
4.2.3 Distinct biological processes show enrichment in the AdipoQ-TCs	60
4.2.4 The activity of three TC from AdipoQ-TC is associated with OS	62
4.2.5 Random survival forest identifies five TCs as significant classifiers fro	m AdipoQ-TCs in
OS	63
4.3 Discussion	
Chapter 5: Conclusions	70
References	
	······································
Acknowledgment	108
Personal Profile	116
- , -	

## List of Tables

Table 2-1 Immune response elicited by PTM-modified TAA13
Table 2-2:List of Phase III clinical trials using MUC1 antigen (retrieved from
clinicaltrial.gov website)
Table 3-1: Spearman correlation analysis between ADIPOR1 and ADIPOR2
expressions
Table 3-2: Description of each stage derived from TNM staging (Adapted from
(Rosen & Sapra, 2021))45
Table 4-1: Patient Characteristics
Table 4-2: Random Survival Forest Reveals significant classifiers for OS63
Table 4-3 Summary of the biological process of AdipoQ-TCs obtained from GSEA
and GenetICA64

# List of Figures

Figure 2-1: Graphical Abstract depicting the significance of presence of post-
translational modifications in tumor associated antigen in breaking the tolerance
10
Figure 2-2:Schematic representation of the acetylation process 15
Figure-2-3:Schematic representation of citrullination17
Figure 2-4: Schematic representation of phosphorylation on multiple amino acids
21
Figure 3-1: Scatter plot representing the correlation between AdipoR1 and AdipoR2
mRNA expression levels in diffused large B-cell lymphoma38
Figure 3-2: Scatter dot plot representing the hierarchical clustering analysis:
Figure 3-3: Diagnosis Age of patients in various cancers42
Figure 3-4 Subtypes of cancers44
Figure 3-5: Tumor staging of cancers

Figure 3-6: Neoplasm staging in cancer
Figure 3-7: Progression-Free Survival in cancer patients49
Figure 3-8: Overall survival of patients50
Figure 4-1: Workflow indicating the data acquisition and relations between the
methods
Figure 4-2: Heatmap of transcriptional components with AdipoQ or its receptors as
an outliers (AdipoQ-TCs)60
Figure 4-3:Enrichment heatmap of GOBP and Reactome gene sets in each TC of
AdipoQ-TCs:62
Figure 4-4: Random-forest survival analysis of patients defines survival cohorts:
65
Figure 4-5: Hypothetical model of biological process associated with the activities
of TCs and its clinical outcomes

### **Chapter 1: General Introduction**

Pancreatic cancer (PC) remains a highly fatal malignancy and is projected to become the second leading cause of cancer death, surpassing colorectal cancer before 2030 in the USA (Rahib et al., 2021). PC is more common in developed countries compared to developing countries. The highest incidence was reported in North America and Europe, while the lowest was in Asia and Africa (Sung et al., 2021). Almost 80% of PC patients present with either regional (unresectable) or metastatic disease at the time of diagnosis in the USA; hence, five-year-overall-survival is around 10-11% (Siegel et al., 2022). Overall-five-year-survival remains poor even for patients with localized resectable PC at the time of diagnosis. In 15-20% of patients who undergo radical resection of pancreatic cancer, the prognosis remains poor, with only 10-25% surviving five years after the surgery (Q. Li et al., 2022; Mizrahi et al., 2020).

PC is categorized into three types: pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC), pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors (rare), and cystic neoplasm (less than 1% of pancreatic cancers). Among them, PDAC accounts for more than 90% of cancers in the pancreas (Mostafa et al., 2017; Sarantis et al., 2020). Most PDAC arise from precursor lesions, termed pancreatic intraepithelial neoplasia, that progress in a stepwise process through the acquisition of genetic alterations and culminate in the development of over PDAC. A hallmark of PDAC is the point mutation of the KRAS oncogene and used for the early molecular characterization of patients (Luo, 2021). KRAS mutation is characteristic of the early stages of PDAC. The Hallmark of the later stage of carcinogenesis in PDAC is the mutation of TP53 and SMAD4 in PDAC (Hayashi et al., 2021; Mizrahi et al., 2020). Almost 70% of PDAC patients with aggressive staging (Grade III and IV) have reported TP53 mutations, whereas 50% of PDAC patients report inactivation of SMAD4 (Cicenas et al., 2017; Hayashi et al., 2021). Mutation in TP53 in PDAC patients is one of the significant causes of metastasis (Hayashi et al., 2021; Morton et al., 2022; Voutsadakis, 2021).

Patients with PC generally present the following clinical features at the time of diagnosis that includes abdominal pain (40–60%), abnormal liver function tests (~50%), jaundice (~30%), new-onset diabetes (13–20%), dyspepsia (~20%), nausea or vomiting (~16%), back pain (~12%) and weight loss (~10%) (Mizrahi et al., 2020; Schmidt-Hansen et al., 2016). For disease detection, the carbohydrate antigen (CA) level 19-9 in serum is well-studied and recommended (Ballehaninna & Chamberlain, 2011). The sensitivity and specificity of CA19-9 in PDAC symptomatic patients is around 80%, making it a well-documented and validated serum biomarker (Ballehaninna & Chamberlain, 2012; Mizrahi et al., 2020).

Even though the survival rate for resectable surgery is 10-25%, surgery remains the only curable option. The first line of adjuvant chemotherapy for PDAC patients was gemcitabine monotherapy. A large clinical trial assessed the role of adjuvant chemotherapy with the combination of fluorouracil and folinic acid (leucovorin) after surgery and compared it with no chemotherapy after surgery (Neoptolemos et al., 2001, 2004). The clinical trials found that patients treated with combination drugs had significantly better survival than the control group (Neoptolemos et al., 2001, 2004). Another study found that patients treated with the combination of fluorouracil plus leucovorin, oxaliplatin, and irinotecan (mFOLFIRINOX) had significantly better survival rates compared to gemcitabine monotherapy (Conroy et al., 2018). Even after administering more intensified chemotherapy regimens as adjuvant therapy, FOLFIRINOX has only modestly improved survival rates (Conroy et al., 2018). Hence, there is a need for effective therapeutic targets.

Cancer immunotherapy has been revolutionized with immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICI) advancements. ICI are monoclonal antibodies that target inhibition of Cytotoxic T-Lymphocyte–Associated Antigen 4 (CTLA-4), Programmed cell Death protein-1 (PD-1), and Programmed cell Death protein Ligand-1 (PD-L1) (Robert, 2020). The usage of ICI in solid tumors has emerged as very promising in treating melanoma, lung cancer, breast cancer, renal cell carcinoma, and other types of tumors (Robert, 2020; Schizas et al., 2020). ICI in PDAC has shown unfavorable results (Mucciolo et al., 2020; K. C. Soares et al., 2012). Recent clinical trials have focused on the combination therapy of chemo and ICI in PDAC, showing promising results (Mizrahi et al., 2020; Mucciolo et al., 2020; Schizas et al., 2020).

Another approach of immunotherapy is targeting tumor-associated antigens (TAAs). TAAs are self-protein expressed in both tumor and non-malignant cells but aberrantly expressed by tumor cells in terms of amount, chemical feature, and location (Fortner et al., 2017; Gnjatic et al., 2006). TAAs can elicit multiple specific immune responses. Studies have identified novel TAAs in PDAC, such as alpha-enolase (Capello et al., 2011; Cappello et al., 2013; Cappello, Tomaino, Chiarle, Ceruti, Novarino, Castagnoli, Migliorini, Perconti, Giallongo, Milella, et al., 2009; Tomaino et al., 2011), carcinoembryonic antigen-related cell adhesion molecule 6 (Pandey et al., 2019), and mucin-4 (Gautam et al., 2020).

Risk factors associated with the development of PDAC and PC are obesity, type 2 diabetes, and tobacco use (Mizrahi et al., 2020). Obesity causes approximately 20% of cancers (Gallagher, Emily J., 2022; C. J. Lin et al., 2020; Swinburn et al., 2019). A large prospective study by the National Institutes of Health studied more than 0.5 million patients to understand the role of obesity in developing PC (Stolzenberg-Solomon et al., 2013). The study followed the participants for 10.5 years. The study was the first to establish the role of obesity in developing pacreatic cancer. The study found that there was an increased likelihood of developing PC when the patients were overweight or obese (defined by body mass index [BMI]  $\geq$ 30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) compared to patients with normal range BMIs with hazard ratios (HR) of 1.15–1.53 (Stolzenberg-Solomon et al., 2013).

Obesity plays a role in type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular disease (Gutiérrez-cuevas et al., 2021; Ng et al., 2021; Piché et al., 2020; Silveira Rossi et al., 2022). Combining all the data from type-2 diabetes, cardiovascular diseases, and cancers (2,5%, 31,4 and 18.6% of the global burden of death, respectively), it is clear that obesity is the most significant contributor to the global burden of death (Abbafati et al., 2020).

World Health Organization defines obesity as "abnormal or excessive fat accumulation that presents a health risk" (World Health Organization (WHO), 2000). Adipose tissue is fat-depositing tissue and endocrine and paracrine organs (Zorena et al., 2020). It secretes a wide variety of hormones known as adipokines (or adipocytokines) that signal the key pathways to maintain metabolic homeostasis.

Adipokines include Leptin, Adiponectin (AdipoQ), Resistin, TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-6, and many others (H. Cao, 2014). AdipoQ and Leptin have been associated with obesity (Singh et al., 2016), and their levels are decreased in obese and increased in lean people (Choi et al., 2020; Gariballa et al., 2019; Körner et al., 2005; Singh et al., 2016).

AdipoQ interacts with two types of receptors, namely AdipoR1 and AdipoR2. AdipoR1 is expressed in muscles, the liver, and the hypothalamus, whereas AdipoR2 is expressed in the liver, white adipose tissue, and vasculature (Yamauchi et al., 2014). Both receptors are homologous, with seven transmembrane domains (Yamauchi et al., 2003). AdipoQ triggers downstream signaling events even though AdipoR1 or AdipoR2 have no intrinsic phosphorylation or protein kinase activity [(Ruan and Dong, 2016). AdipoR1 activates AMP-activated kinase (AMPK), whereas AdipoR2 activates peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (PPAR) $\alpha$ leading to increased insulin sensitivity (Yamauchi et al., 2014). AdipoQ stimulates the phosphorylation and subsequent activation of AMPK via AdipoR1, resulting in glucose consumption and lipid metabolism. AdipoQ via AdipopR2 activates and increases the expression of PPAR $\alpha$ , thus increasing lipid and fatty acid metabolism and energy consumption (Yamauchi et al., 2014).

The role of AdipoQ and its receptors in cancer is still debated, as both negative and positive correlations with cancer were observed (Katira & Tan, 2016). A metaanalysis compared the AdipoQ levels in people with different cancers and healthy people in the random effect model. It was shown that circulating AdipoQ levels in cancer cases were significantly lower than in the controls (Wei et al., 2016). In colorectal cancer, lower levels of AdipoQ in patients' sera compared to healthy or no association with AdipoQ was reported (An et al., 2012; Joshi et al., 2014; Xu et al., 2011). The expression of AdipoQ and its receptors was significantly higher in the bladder and cortical tumors than in benign tumors (Babińska et al., 2019; Kashiwagi et al., 2020).

Higher AdipoQ levels in serum association with PDAC risk are contested (positive, negative, or no association) (Chang et al., 2007; Dalamaga et al., 2009; Phelip et al., 2011; Grote et al., 2012; Bao et al., 2013), although PDAC patients with worse survival after treatment had a higher concentration of AdipoQ in the immune complexome (Mandili et al., 2020).

The thesis aims to understand the role of AdipoQ and its receptors in cancers and PDAC. We also discuss the post-translational modification in TAAs as novel immunotherapeutic targets.

#### **1.1 Aim of thesis**

As discussed above, one of the therapeutic approaches in PC and other cancers is targeting TAAs. I got interested in understanding the role of post-translational modifications (PTMs) in TAAs eliciting a specific immune response, making them targets for immuno-oncology therapy. Chapter 2 of the thesis reported the review that we just published, which discusses the hypothesis that PTMs increase the immunogenicity of TAAs by rendering them more similar to foreign antigens breaking the tolerance established against self-TAAs in the absence of PTMs (Srivastava et al., 2022). In this review, we outlined the preclinical studies of acetylation, citrullination, and phosphorylation as vaccines in multiple cancers. We highlighted the clinical trials of glycosylated and phosphorylated proteins in onco-immunology therapies.

Another issue I tackled during the PhD Program was the role of AdipoQ in cancer, which is still controversial. AdipoQ level is high in PDAC patients with worse survival undergo chemotherapy. This led us to question, what is the precise role of AdipoQ and its specific receptors in cancer progression, and in particular, whether or not AdipoQ receptor expression has any impact on the overall survival of the patients. To get an idea of the possible role played by AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 in cancer, I undertook a bio-informatic approach by using the publicly available transcriptomic data of more than 10,000 patients along with their clinic-pathological information. In the study reported in Chapter 3 of the thesis (manuscript under preparation), I hypothesized that lower mRNA AdipoR1/R2 expression in tumor cells has a better impact on patient clinical features, including survival.

I undertook a computational approach to get a better understanding of AdipoQ and its receptors in PC in Chapter 4:. I employed consensus-Independent Component Analysis (c-ICA) to analyze 184 transcription profiles of pancreatic cancer patients. I found that c-ICA segregates the bulk expression profiles into statistically independent Transcriptional Components (TC). In Chapter 4 of the thesis, I described the findings that five TC associated with AdipoQ and its receptors play a role in survival outcomes (manuscript under preparation).

# Chapter 2: Exploiting post-translational modifications of tumor-associated antigens to enhance the efficacy of cancer immunotherapy

This chapter aims to comprehensively understand the role of PTMs in TAAs in eliciting an immune response in multiple cancers. PTMs involves adding small chemical groups to amino acid residues in proteins after they are translated. I got interested in understanding PTMs, as they are associated with cancer progression, growth, and survival by altering the normal functions of proteins in tumor cells. TAAs are present in both tumor and normal cells, but they are over-expressed in tumor cells. They can elicit specific immune responses, which makes them an attractive target for cancer immunotherapy. In this review, which has been accepted for publication (Srivastava et al., 2022), I have addressed and discussed how the addition of acetyl, citrulline, and phosphorylation to proteins expressed by tumor cells makes them more antigenic and affects the immune response in multiple types of cancer. In addition, this review highlights the clinical trials using glycosylated and phosphorylated TAAs as a vaccine.

# Post-Translational Modifications in Tumor-Associated Antigens as a Platform for Novel Immuno-Oncology Therapies

Anurag Kumar Srivastava <sup>1,2</sup>, Giorgia Guadagnin <sup>1,2</sup>, Paola Cappello <sup>1,2</sup>, and Francesco Novelli <sup>1,2</sup>, \*

#### Cancers 2023, 15, 138.

- <sup>1</sup> Department of Molecular Biotechnology and Health Sciences, University of Turin, 10126 Turin, Italy 1; <u>anuragkumar.srivastava@unito.it</u>
- <sup>2</sup> Centro Ricerche Medicina Sperimentale, Azienda Ospedaliera Universitaria, Città della Salute e della Scienza di Torino, 10126 Turin, Italy 2; giorgia.guadagnin@unito.it paola.cappello@unito.it
- \* Correspondence: <a href="mailto:franco.novelli@unito.it">franco.novelli@unito.it</a>;

#### **Simple Summary**

Tumor-associated antigens (TAA) are antigens present in tumor cells but are also expressed in normal cells. However, TAAs are aberrantly expressed by tumor cells and can elicit multiple specific immune responses. One key feature of TAA is the presence of post-translational modifications often absent in normal proteins. This article offers an overview of the role of post-translational modifications in TAA in eliciting a specific immune response, which candidates them as targets for immunooncology therapy. Both preclinical and clinical studies will be discussed.

#### Abstract

Post-translational modifications (PTMs) are generated by adding small chemical groups to amino acid residues after the translation of proteins. Many PTMs have been reported to correlate with tumor progression, growth, and survival by modifying the normal functions of the protein in tumor cells. PTMs can also elicit humoral and cellular immune responses, making them an attractive target for cancer immunotherapy. This review will discuss how acetylation, citrullination, and phosphorylation of proteins expressed by tumor cells render the corresponding tumor-associated antigen more antigenic and affect the immune response in multiple cancers. In addition, the role of glycosylated protein mucins in anti-cancer immunotherapy will be considered. Mucin peptides, in combination with stimulating adjuvants, have, in fact, been utilized to produce anti-tumor antibodies and vaccines. Finally, we will also outline the results of the clinical trial exploiting glycosylated MUC1 as a vaccine for different cancers. Overall, PTMs in TAA could be considered in future therapies to result in lasting anti-tumor responses.

**Keywords:** TAA; cancer immunotherapy; post-translational modifications; acetylation; citrullination; phosphorylation; glycosylation

### **Graphical Abstract**



*Figure 2-1: Graphical Abstract depicting the significance of the presence of post-translational modifications in tumor-associated antigen in breaking the tolerance* 

"Parts of the figure were drawn by using pictures from Servier Medical Art. Servier Medical Art by Servier is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 3.0 Unported License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/)."

#### 2.1 Introduction

Post-translation modifications (PTMs) add small chemical moieties or chemical modifications at individual amino acids in translated proteins. PTMs regulate protein stability, folding, function, and their interaction with other biomolecules (Hermann et al., 2022). The most characterized PTMs are phosphorylation, acetylation, glycosylation, citrullination, and ubiquitination (Ramazi & Zahiri, 2021). PTMs are frequently involved in many diseases besides cancer. Highly phosphorylated tau protein has been associated with neurodegenerative diseases, including Alzheimer's disease (Wegmann et al., 2021). In rheumatoid arthritis, protein hyper-citrullination is a hallmark of the disease, and autoantibodies to hyper-citrullinated proteins are typically detected in the patient's synovial fluid (Darrah, E., and Andrade, 2018). In type 2 diabetes (T2D), an increase in global glycosylation levels leads to the impaired release of secreted proteins from adipose tissue and also induces insulin resistance (B. Chatterjee & Thakur, 2018; Lim et al., 2014).

Cancer cell transformation profoundly changes gene assets and, consequently, protein expression and activation. Tumor antigens are classified into: i) tumor-specific antigens (TSA) and ii) tumor-associated antigens (TAA). TSA are proteins specifically expressed by tumors but not by normal cells. TSAs can be classified into wild-type TSA and mutated TSA or "*neoantigens*" (Haen et al., 2020). These latter are proteins with individual specificity and emerge from somatic mutations in the tumor genome (Peng et al., 2019). As each tumor displays an individual heterogeneity and mutational burden, neoantigens can be defined as truly tumor-specific. Wild-type TSA has been identified as Human-Leukocyte Antigens (HLA)-eluted peptides with wild-type sequences (compared with the relevant germline sequence) that, nonetheless, have a tumor-specific presentation, not represented on benign/normal tissues, and to which the immune system has not been previously exposed (Haen et al., 2020). TSA was also identified and characterized by using high-throughput multi-omics analyses, including next-generation sequencing or tandem mass spectrometry (MS/MS) (Haen et al., 2020).

Self-proteins expressed in both tumor and non-malignant cells but aberrantly present in tumor cells in terms of amount, chemical features, location, or time, is defined as TAA and can elicit multiple specific immune responses (Sahin et al., 1995). TAAs were identified by using Serological Proteome Analysis (SERPA) or SErological analysis of Recombinant cDNA EXpression libraries (SEREX) (Le Naour et al., 2002). Between these two approaches to identifying TAA, SERPA - which specifically identifies the different isoforms of tumor proteins - is the more appropriate way to also identify the autoantibody response to PTM (Zaenker & Ziman, 2013). A key example of a TAA identified by SERPA is alpha Enolase (ENO1), which is overexpressed, acetylated, or phosphorylated in pancreatic cancer (Capello et al., 2011, 2015; Cappello, Tomaino, Chiarle, Ceruti, Novarino, Castagnoli, Migliorini, Perconti, Giallongo, & Milella, 2009; Tomaino et al., 2011; Zhou et al., 2010). Other examples of TAA that have been identified thanks to the analysis of the immune response elicited by them in cancer patients include acetylated and phosphorylated p53, phosphorylated insulin receptor substrate 2 (IRS2), cell division cycle 25b (CDC25b), citrullinated vimentin (Vim), and glycosylated mucin (MUC) protein (Brentville, Metheringham, et al., 2020; Karanikas et al., 1997; Kumai et al., 2014; K. Ohara et al., 2018; Zarling et al., 2014).

The choice of TSA or TAA is essential in any strategy aiming to unleash the antitumor T cell response by vaccine approaches (Saxena et al., 2021). Therapeutic cancer vaccines allow peptides derived from tumor proteins (TSA or TAA previously identified) to be presented by HLA molecules in order to activate the immune system to recognize and kill the established tumors expressing those proteins. These vaccines typically involve exogenous administration of selected tumor antigens combined with adjuvants that activate dendritic cells (DCs) as antigen-presenting cells or even DCs themselves previously loaded with the tumor antigen (Hollingsworth & Jansen, 2019). The aim of therapeutic cancer vaccines is to stimulate the patient's adaptive immune system against specific tumor antigens to regain control over tumor growth, induce regression of established tumors, and eradicate the minimal residual disease (Paston et al., 2021; Saxena et al., 2021).

The presence of PTM in TAA increases the immunogenicity as they may be considered foreign antigens by the immune system or break the tolerance established against the self-unmodified protein (see Figure 2-1). Immunogenic epitopes of TAA elicit immune responses, especially the production of autoantibodies (Fortner et al., 2017). In general, TAA phosphorylated epitopes are better presented than non-

phosphorylated epitopes by Human leucocyte Antigen (HLA) (Alpízar et al., 2017; Y. Li et al., 2010; Petersen, Wurzbacher, et al., 2009).

Some key examples of PTM-modified TAA and the relative induced-immune responses are listed in Table 2-1. All the studies reporting specific T cells or antibodies against the modified TAA always analyzed the same response induced by the un-modified antigen.

PTMs	TAA	<b>Type of Tumor</b>	Immune	References
		in which TAA	recognition	
		has been identified or to	(II any)	
		which the		
		antigen is		
		associated		
	ENO1	Pancreas	NA	(Zhou et al., 2010)
Acetylation	p53	Colon, Prostrate,	CD4+T	(Kumai et al.,
		Pharynx	Cell	2014)
Phosphorylation	MART-1	Melanoma,	CD4+T	(Depontieu et al.,
		Leukemia	Cell	2009)
	IRS2	Melanoma,	CD8+T	(Engelhard et al.,
		Breast, Ovary,	Cell	2020; Zarling et al.,
		Colon		2006, 2014)
	β-Catenin	Ovary,	CD8+T	(Engelhard et al.,
		Melanoma	Cell	2020; Zarling et al., 2006)
	Breast	Melanoma	CD8+ T	(Engelhard et al.,
	cancer		Cell	2020)
	antiestrogen			
	resistance 3			
	p53	Head and Neck	CD4+T Cell	(K. Ohara et al., 2018)
	ENO1	Pancreas	Ab, CD4+T	(Capello et al.,
			Cell	2015; Tomaino et al., 2011)
	CDC25b	Melanoma,	CD8+ T	(Zarling et al.,
		Breast, Ovary, Colon,	Cell	2006, 2014)
		Leukemia		
	TNF	Lung	CD8 + T	(MH. Lin et al.,
	receptor-		Cell	2019)
	associated			
	protein			
	(IKAP-1) Vim	Colon	CD4 + T	(M. Ohara at al
	v 1111	COIOII	CD4+ I	(IVI. Onara et al., 2020)
			cens	2020)

Table 2-1 Immune response elicited by PTM-modified TAA

Citrullination	Vim	Melanoma,	CD4 + T	(Brentville et al.,
		Lung	Cell	2016, 2019;
		-		Brentville,
				Metheringham, et
				al., 2020; Symonds
				et al., 2021)
	Enolase	Melanoma,	CD4 + T	(Brentville et al.,
		Lung	Cell	2019; Brentville,
				Metheringham, et
				al., 2020; Cook et
				al., 2018; Symonds
				et al., 2021)
Glycosylation	MUC1	Breast, Ovary	CD8 +T	(Boland et al.,
			Cell,	1982; Nuti et al.,
			Ab	1993)
Sialylation	Silayl-Tn-	Breast, Ovary	Ab (IgM)	(Fung et al., 1990;
	Antigen			Itzkowitz SH,
				Yuan M,
				Montgomery CK,
				Kjeldsen T,
				Takahashi HK,
				Bigbee WL, 1989;
				Longenecker et al.,
				1993; MacLean
				GD, Bowen-
				racysnyn MD,
				Samuel J, Weikle
				A, Stuart G,
				S Jorry M
				Koganty R Wong
				T. 1992)
SUMOvlation	p53	Sarcoma	NA	(Rodriguez et al.
J	r			1999)
Methylation	Enolase	Pancreas	NA	(Zhou et al., 2010)

Below, we will discuss in greater detail each PTM relevant to cancer immunotherapy.

### 2.2 Acetylation

Lysine (K) acetylation is a reversible PTM, which converts a positively charged lysine into a neutral amino acid, changing the function and properties of the protein. Acetylation plays an essential role in transcription regulation by modifying the core histone tails through lysine acetyltransferase (KAT) or lysine deacetylases (KDACs) (Figure 2-2) (Lee & Workman, 2007; Shahbazian & Grunstein, 2007). Acetylation in histone protein is a crucial regulator in the transcription process (Allfrey et al., 1964; Verdin & Ott, 2015). Due to technical difficulties, earlier acetylation was studied at the protein-to-protein level, which had restricted acetylation to be a nuclear PTM. With the advancement in enrichment methods and high-resolution mass spectrometry, studying acetylation at the proteome level became possible. These advanced methods led to identifying acetylation even in cytosolic and membrane proteins (Choudhary et al., 2009, 2014; Kim et al., 2006).



Figure 2-2:Schematic representation of the acetylation process

Altered acetylation levels in histone and non-histone proteins have been shown to play a role in tumorigenesis in numerous cancer types (Audia & Campbell, 2016; Calcagno et al., 2019; Guo et al., 2018; M. Hu et al., 2022; T. Li et al., 2014, 2018; S. Liu et al., 2019; Lv et al., 2013). Gene expression of proto-oncogene gets activated under hyperacetylation of histone. Histone acetylation is a reversible process for cancer therapeutics (Ramezankhani et al., 2021; Shanmugam et al., 2022). Five inhibitors of KDAC have been approved by the American Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for treating myeloma and T-Cell lymphoma (Bondarev et al., 2021). The successful approval of five agents has pushed scientific communities to test the efficacy of KDAC inhibitors in other tumors. Many agents targeting KDAC

have shown promising results in multiple clinical trials (Cancerología, 2006; Corporation, 2005; Hospital, 2011; Michael Luebbert, 2016; National Institute of Cancerología, 2007; Ramezankhani et al., 2021; Therapeutics, 2011). These results suggest that acetylation could represent a good target for tumor treatment, but any of these studies evaluated the potential presentation of acetylated histone epitopes or how the specific anti-tumor response was affected. Therefore, we did not include them in our discussion.

Besides histones, acetylation regards many other cytoplasmic proteins, such as the lactate dehydrogenase-A (LDH-A). In this case, acetylation inhibited its enzymatic activity, and acetylation of K5 in LDH-A in the pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC) cell line BxPC-3 was suggested to play a role in supporting tumor cell proliferation (D. Zhao et al., 2013). On the other hand, K5 acetylation of LDH-A also decreases lactate production, thereby restraining pancreatic cancer cell migration. However, in human pancreatic cancer samples, a significant decrease in the ratio of K5 acetylated LDH-A to total LDH-A protein was observed and acetylated LDH-A correlated with tumor stage; this suggested a possible role of LDH-A-K5 acetylation in the initiation of pancreatic cancer but not in its progression (D. Zhao et al., 2013). Linear Trap Quadrupole-orbitrap mass spectrometry identified 26 acetylation sites in ENO1 from PDAC and normal pancreatic duct cells, and of those, five were unique to PDAC cells (Zhou et al., 2010). ENO1 is a cytosolic or nuclear protein expressed on the membrane wall of bacteria to help in their invasion (Pancholi, 2001). In tumor cells, ENO1 is also highly expressed on the cell surface, but the mechanism by which it switches from cytoplasm to membrane is unknown (Capello et al., 2011). It is supposed that PTM could represent one of the molecular mechanisms for its membrane exposure.

A pilot study to test whether or not acetylated peptides could be immunogenic was performed with p53 peptides. CD4 T cells were stimulated *in vitro* with autologous DCs pulsed with acetylated or non-acetylated p53 peptides (Kumai et al., 2014). Three-fold increased cytokine production was observed when CD4 T cells were stimulated with acetylated p53 peptides compared to non-acetylated p53 peptides. This T cell response was inhibited by the addition of an anti-HLA-DR but not by

other anti-HLA class II (HLA-DQ, HLA-DP) antibodies, suggesting that the peptides (acetylated or non-acetylated) are mainly presented by HLA-DR molecules. Cancer patient peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) but not healthy donor PBMC were able to specifically produce IFN $\gamma$  after seven days of stimulation with acetylated but not with non-acetylated p53 peptides (Kumai et al., 2014). These results demonstrated that tumor-associated acetylated peptides are good candidates for developing cancer vaccines.

#### 2.3 Citrullination

Unlike other PTM, citrullination is an irreversible modification, which converts the positively charged amino acid arginine (Arg) to neutral citrulline by a family of peptidyl arginine deiminase (PAD) enzymes (Yuzhalin, 2019). The process is called citrullination or deamination (Figure-2-3); PAD replaces the primary ketamine (=NH) group in Arg with a ketone (=O) group, which was implicated in the recognition from the T cell receptor via HLA presentation (Alghamdi et al., 2019; Sakkas et al., 2014). The loss of positive charge affects the protein-protein interaction and the protein structure and may lead to protein denaturation. Citrullination is a standard process observed in cells under stress, nutrient starvation, and during apoptosis due to an increase in PAD expression (Yuzhalin, 2019).



Figure-2-3:Schematic representation of citrullination

A number of studies have reported that hyper citrullination could be a factor in breaking immune tolerance and inducing autoimmune diseases like Type-1-Diabetes, Multiple Sclerosis, and Rheumatoid Arthritis (Alghamdi et al., 2019; Buitinga et al., 2018; Darrah, E., and Andrade, 2018; Sakkas et al., 2014; Schellekens et al., 1998; L. Yang et al., 2016). In Rheumatoid Arthritis, anti-cyclic citrullinated peptides in patient sera are biomarkers to identify the disease at its early stages (Darrah, E., and Andrade, 2018; Schellekens et al., 1998). Given the role of citrullination in autoimmune diseases and its ability to break immune tolerance, the hypothesis that citrullinated peptides could also be immunotherapeutic agents in cancer treatments was evaluated.

Citrullinated peptides from Vim and ENO1 elicited a specific immune response with strong IFNγ release in HLA-DR4 transgenic mice, whereas there was no response against non-citrullinated peptides (Brentville et al., 2016; Cook et al., 2018). CD4 T cells were the most involved in mediating the citrullinated-specific response but displayed cytotoxic activity by expressing granzyme and Fas Ligand and directly killing tumors expressing HLA-II (Brentville et al., 2016; Brentville, Vankemmelbeke, et al., 2020; Cook et al., 2018). Splenocytes from mice immunized with citrullinated Vim peptides released granzyme upon stimulation with specific stimuli. Immunization with citrullinated (Brentville et al., 2016; Brentville, Vankemmelbeke, et al., 2020; Cook et al., 2018) Vim and ENO1 peptides increase survival of HLA-DR4 transgenic mice implanted with B16F1 tumors expressing HLA-DR4, as well as Lewis lung carcinoma cells (LLC/2), ovarian cancer cells (ID8) and pancreatic cancer cells (PanO2) (Brentville, Metheringham, et al., 2020).

Proliferative response against citrullinated Vim and ENO1 peptides was observed in 67% of healthy donors of PBMC (Brentville et al., 2019). Only 28% of these healthy donors displayed HLA-DR4, whereas 71% of donors displayed HLA-DP4 (Brentville et al., 2019). By assessing the T cell repertoire to citrullinated peptides in ovarian cancer patients and healthy donors, it was demonstrated that PBMC from 58% of patients proliferated in response to at least one of the PTM peptides and only 12% to both citrullinated Vim and ENO1 peptides (Brentville, Metheringham, et al.,

2020). Analyzing the type of HLA revealed that most responders were HLA-DR4 or HLA-DP4, but not all. With predictive methodologies, it was found that some even expressed HLA-DQ6, HLA-DR13, and HLA-DP18 (Brentville, Metheringham, et al., 2020). These data suggest that more HLA loci present citrullinated peptides, and those citrullinated peptides from TAA represent good candidates for vaccine approaches (Brentville, Metheringham, et al., 2020). Brentville, Vankemmelbeke, et al., 2020).

The binding of citrullinated Vim and ENO1 peptides to HLA-DP4 was tested by comparing it to that of HLA-DP4-known binding peptides like those from the Hepatitis B virus.-Unmodified Vim aa415-423 and aa28-49 peptides showed low binding to HLA-DP4 compared to the citrullinated Vim peptides, which showed stronger binding. Similarly, citrullinated ENO1 peptide had a higher binding capacity to HLA-DP4 compared to unmodified ENO1 peptide (Cook et al., 2018). In HLA-DP4 transgenic mice, the combination of a vaccine composed of citrullinated Vim and ENO1 peptides with granulocyte–macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) and TLR agonists (especially with TLR1/2 agonist) reduced by 10- to 100-fold the dose of the vaccine without losing the anti-tumor activity (Brentville, Metheringham, et al., 2020).

A combination of citrullinated peptides (Vim and ENO1) could also elicit similar immune responses in HLA-DR4 or HLA-DP4 transgenic mice (Brentville, Metheringham, et al., 2020; Brentville, Vankemmelbeke, et al., 2020). These combination peptide vaccines could elicit anti-tumor therapy against multiple tumor models in mice (Brentville, Metheringham, et al., 2020; Brentville, Vankemmelbeke, et al., 2020).

In a B16 melanoma mouse model, citrullinated peptides-induce IL10 release but also higher secretion of IFN $\gamma$  than non-citrullinated peptides (Symonds et al., 2021). New citrullinated peptides could be extracted by peptide elution and mass spectrometry (Symonds et al., 2021). Another important confirmation of the relevance of modified and specifically citrullinated peptides as targets to elicit an anti-tumor response is the presence of elevated levels of IgG-bound citrullinated peptides in the sera of newly diagnosed breast cancer patients (0-0.8 years) (Katayama et al., 2021). This suggests that citrullinated peptides-Ig complexes could be explored as biomarkers for early detection, just like they are used in the early identification of RA.

#### **2.4 Phosphorylation**

Phosphorylation is a reversible PTM catalyzed by phosphotransferase, which adds a phosphate group on the hydroxyl group of amino acid residues (Ser/Thr/Tyr) from the ATP molecule (Figure 2-4) (Cohen, 2002). It is one of the most widely studied PTMs (Ramazi & Zahiri, 2021). One of the hallmarks of tumor growth is, in fact, dysregulated phosphorylation, which contributes directly to oncogenic signaling cascades involved in cell growth, differentiation, and survival (Blume-Jensen & Hunter, 2001; Ehsanian et al., 2010; Y. Liu et al., 2021; T. Yang et al., 2019). This renders phosphorylation an interesting potential therapeutic tool, as the presence of PTMs increases the variety of naturally occurring peptide epitopes (Anderton, 2004; Engelhard et al., 2006; Petersen, Purcell, et al., 2009).



Phosphorylated peptides can be presented by HLA-II molecules. Structural analysis showed a 2.1 Å resolution of phosphorylated tumor-associated antigen MART-1 peptide (pMART-1<sub>100-114</sub>) bound with HLA-DR1 (Y. Li et al., 2010). Specific CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell clones secreted GM-CSF in response to phosphorylated MART-1 peptide-pulsed onto HLA-DR1-expressing antigen-presenting cells (APCs) but not to the non-phosphorylated peptide. This demonstrates that the phosphate group is indeed a critical determinant for T Cell Receptor recognition (Y. Li et al., 2010).

A study validated the hypothesis that phosphopeptides can be immunotherapeutic targets by analyzing mixtures of more than 10,000 peptides presented by HLA-A\*201 on the surface of human melanoma, ovarian cancer, and B cell lymphoma cell lines (Zarling et al., 2006). They were isolated, extracted, and phosphopeptides were enriched; 36 phosphopeptides presented by HLA-A\*201 on one or more of the four cell lines were identified, sequenced, and employed to immunize transgenic mice expressing HLA-A\*201. Isolated phosphopeptide-specific CD8 T cells secreted IFNy when exposed to synthetic phosphopeptide epitopes but not to nonphosphorylated peptides (Zarling et al., 2006). Fresh PBMC from melanoma patients HLA-DRB1\*01 HLA-DQB1\*0501 were and stimulated in vitro with phosphorylated MART1 (pMART1) peptides for several rounds of simulation. Phosphorylated specific CD4+ T cells secreted IFNy and GM-CSF in response to pMART1 but not in response to non-phosphorylated MART1 (Depontieu et al., 2009).

A phosphorylation site (Ser419) was also identified in the more acidic isoforms of the glycolytic enzyme ENO1 in PDAC and normal pancreatic ductal cells (Zhou et al., 2010). Autoantibodies against phosphorylated ENO1 were found in a greater percentage of PDAC patients and only in a small percentage of healthy individuals (Tomaino et al., 2011). Antibodies present in the sera of PDA patients recognized six different isoforms of ENO1 (ENO\_1,2,3,4,5,6), while those in healthy individuals only had four isoforms. Notably, the presence of anti-ENO\_1,2

autoantibodies improved the diagnostic performance of CA19.9 in pancreatic cancer patients with low levels of CA19.9 and correlated with a better prognosis and overall survival (OS) (Tomaino et al., 2011). This suggests that phosphorylation plays a role in breaking tolerance in cancer patients in an attempt to fight tumor growth. The association between the presence of the HLA-DRB1\*08 allele and the production of autoantibodies against a phosphorylated epitope of ENO1 was also demonstrated (Capello et al., 2015). In effect, the HLA-DRB1\*08 allele was more frequent in PDAC patients with autoantibodies against pENO1<sub>413-422</sub> (phosphate group at Ser419) than healthy controls or patients without these autoantibodies. Interestingly, PDAC patients with autoantibodies against pENO1 also displayed T cells that proliferated and secreted IFN $\gamma$  in response to phosphopeptides but, to a lesser extent, in response to unmodified peptides (Capello et al., 2015).

Phosphopeptides from IRS2, CDC25b, p53, Vim, and TRAP1 also could elicit specific immune responses in different cancer models in terms of T cells secreting IFN $\gamma$  (M.-H. Lin et al., 2019; K. Ohara et al., 2018; M. Ohara et al., 2020; Zarling et al., 2006). Phosphopeptides of IRS-2, CDC25b, and TRAP1 specifically elicited CD8 T cells, whereas the CD4 specific T cell response was elicited in response to phosphopeptides of p53 and Vim (M.-H. Lin et al., 2019; K. Ohara et al., 2019; K. Ohara et al., 2018; M. Ohara et al., 2018; M. Ohara et al., 2020; Zarling et al., 2006).

An open-label, pilot, proof-of-concept clinical trial study to assess the phosphopeptide vaccine safety and immunogenicity was performed on patients with resected stage II-IV melanoma (Craig L Slingluff, 2016; Engelhard et al., 2020). pIRS2 and phosphorylated BCAR3 were used as vaccines. Patients were divided into three groups: the first group (3 patients) was administered with pBCAR3, the second group (3 patients) with pIRS2, and the third group (9 patients) received both phosphopeptides. Vaccines were administered along with tetanus toxoid peptide in a water-in-oil emulsion with an equal volume of incomplete Freud's adjuvant. Immediately after vaccination, poly-L-lysine and carboxymethyl cellulose were injected into patients to stimulate the immune system (Engelhard et al., 2020). A total of 17% of patients administered with pBCAR3 showed a CD8+ T cell response,

whereas 42% of patients elicited a CD8+ T cell response when administered with the pIRS2 vaccine, with a greater increase in IFN $\gamma$  production (Craig L Slingluff, 2016; Engelhard et al., 2020). None of the patients reported severe adverse effects after vaccination, showing that the phosphopeptide vaccine is safe and should be tried in larger clinical trials (Craig L Slingluff, 2016; Engelhard et al., 2020).

Overall, all these studies support the hypothesis that phosphorylated epitopes are recognized by the adaptive immune system and, therefore, imply that the anti-tumor response that can fight tumor growth.

### 2.5 Glycosylation

Protein glycosylation is a PTM where a carbohydrate molecule is attached to nitrogen or hydroxyl, or other functional groups of amino acids through enzymatic reactions. The glycosyltransferase enzyme catalyzes these reactions (Eichler, 2019). Protein glycosylation is classified into two major categories: N-Linked glycosylation, where glycans are attached to the nitrogen of an Asparagine (Asn) or Arg residues, and O-Linked glycosylation, where glycans are attached to the hydroxyl group of Ser or Thr residues (Eichler, 2019). Protein glycosylation plays a significant role in protein folding, activity, stability, and conformation. Almost half of the human proteins are glycosylated, and most cancer biomarkers, which the FDA has approved, consist of glycoprotein or carbohydrate antigens (Kirwan et al., 2015; Mereiter et al., 2019; Munkley, 2019; Silsirivanit, 2019).

Many glycoproteins are associated with cancer progression (Apostolopoulos et al., 1997; Itzkowitz SH, Yuan M, Montgomery CK, Kjeldsen T, Takahashi HK, Bigbee WL, 1989). One common glycoprotein whose role is well-established in tumors is MUC. The first identified membrane MUC protein in many solid tumors and hematopoietic cancers was MUC1 (Boland et al., 1982; Hasegawa et al., 2011; Nath & Mukherjee, 2014). MUC1 is often upregulated and aberrantly glycosylated, making it a potential therapeutic target for cancer immunotherapy. In some malignant transformations, MUC1 becomes hypo-glycosylated, carrying truncated

carbohydrates known as Tn antigens. MUC2 is another MUC protein commonly found in the intestinal lining and expressed in goblet cells of the small bowel and colon (S.-K. Chang et al., 1994). In mucinous carcinoma of the pancreas, prostate, breast, ovary, and colon, there is an overexpression of MUC2 (Hanski et al., 1997; O'Connell et al., 2002).

The potential of MUC1 as a vaccine was evaluated in preclinical models in different tumors (Apostolopoulos et al., 1997; Barratt-Boyes et al., 1999; Beatty et al., 2010; Fung et al., 1990; MacLean GD, Bowen-Yacyshyn MB, Samuel J, Meikle A, Stuart G, Nation J, Poppema S, Jerry M, Koganty R, Wong T, 1992; Reichenbach & Finn, 2013; M. M. Soares et al., 2001). Successful results in mice led to many phases I clinical trials showing that MUC1 is safe and well tolerated in patients (Goydos et al., 1996; Gulley et al., 2008; Karanikas et al., 1997; Lepisto et al., 2008; Loveland et al., 2006; MacLean et al., 1996; Ramanathan et al., 2005; Scholl et al., 2000; Wierecky et al., 2006). These exciting results began a new era of immunotherapy clinical trials over the following two decades. Many phase II and phase III clinical trials targeting glycosylation demonstrated an effective anti-tumor response but limited success in extending the survival of cancer patients. (Apostolopoulos et al., 2006; Arlen et al., 2006; Butts et al., 2014; Heery et al., 2015; Limacher & Quoix, 2012; MercK, n.d.; Miles et al., 2011; Mitchell et al., 2014; Posey et al., 2016; Quoix et al., 2016; Wu et al., 2011) Phase III clinical trials targeting MUC1 are shown in Table 2-2.

The majority of clinical trials proposed the use of a viral vector expressing MUC1 alone or in combination with other TAA in different solid cancers (Akbulut et al., 2010; Arlen et al., 2006; Gabitzsch et al., 2015; Gulley et al., 2008; Heery et al., 2015; Limacher & Quoix, 2012; Mohebtash et al., 2011; Quoix et al., 2016; Scholl et al., 2000; Tosch et al., 2017). Many phase III trials got terminated either prematurely or suspended because of lack of funding; hence, there are no related publications and limited information on the <u>Clinicaltrials.gov website</u>. One of the major phase III clinical trials used TG4010, a modified vaccinia Ankara vector expressing MUC1 and Interleukin 2, in combination with chemotherapeutic drugs or

placebo in 222 non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) patients (Quoix et al., 2016). Patients were subdivided into two arms: those receiving chemotherapeutic drugs with TG4010 and those receiving chemotherapeutic medication with a placebo. Patients treated with TG4010 combined with chemotherapeutic drugs had a longer significant PFS compared to that of patients treated with a placebo plus chemotherapeutic drugs (Quoix et al., 2016).

The most extensive phase III clinical trial of MUC1 was conducted by enrolling 1513 patients of NSCLC treated with Tecemotide, a lipopeptide derived from MUC1 (Butts et al., 2014). No significant differences in OS of the patients treated with Tecemotide or with a placebo were reported. However, 10.2 months improvement in median survival for patients who received Tecemotide after chemoradiotherapy was observed. This suggests that Tecemotide may have a potential role in the efficacy of maintenance therapy after initial concurrent chemoradiotherapy in NSCLC patients (Butts et al., 2014). Other phase III clinical trials targeting MUC1 are detailed in Table 2, with outcomes from the studies.

Many small Phase I/II trials evaluated the potential of autologous DC presenting MUC1 (Gray et al., 2016; Lepisto et al., 2008; Loveland et al., 2006; Mitchell et al., 2014; Scheid et al., 2016; Wierecky et al., 2006). The vaccine (CVac) was made with a recombinant fusion protein (FP) conjugated to oxidized mannan (M) and loaded into autologous DC (Loveland et al., 2006). The FP consisted of a variable number of tandem repeats (VNTR) region of the MUC1 protein and glutathione-S-transferase (Loveland et al., 2006). The benefit of mannan conjugated antigen is to induce DC activation and maturation by targeting the complex of mannose receptors of DC (Loveland et al., 2006). Oxidized mannan increases the efficiency of HLA I presentation of MUC1 recombinant protein (Apostolopoulos et al., 2000). Ovarian cancer patients in complete remission (CR) were treated with CVac to evaluate its efficacy and safety (Gray et al., 2016). Patients from the first CR (CR1) or second CR (CR2) were randomized to standard of care (SOC) observation to CVac treatment. Patients were given ten doses of CVac over 56 weeks and followed up for another 48 weeks at the end of the study to measure PFS. When both groups were

challenged with MUC1 antigen, SOC patients had few or no T cells, whereas CVactreated patients had both CD8 and CD4 T cell responses (Gray et al., 2016). In addition, CVac-treated patients displayed a higher CD8 cytotoxic T-cell response compared to that elicited in CD4 T cells, for which it was not possible to evaluate the release of cytokines. In the CR1 group of patients, no significant change was observed in progression-free survival (PFS) and OS between the SOC and CVac arms. However, in CR2 patients CVac treated patients had higher PFS than the SOC control group (Gray et al., 2016). Another phase I/II clinical trial assessed the safety of a vaccine composed of Tn-MUC1 loaded onto autologous DC in 17 patients with non-metastatic castrate-resistant prostate cancer (nmCRPC) (Scheid et al., 2016). The Tn-MUC1 DC vaccine was found to be safe and elicited a robust CD4 T cell response by increasing the secretion of cytokines such as TNF $\alpha$ , IL2, IFN $\gamma$ , and a more robust CD8 T cell response, although nmCRPC patients did not achieve the desired Prostate Specific Antigen (PSA) values (Scheid et al., 2016). However, the strong immune response monitored in the patients suggested that a larger trial in combination with chemotherapeutic drugs could improve both PFS and OS.

Many clinical trials also employed direct vaccination with MUC1 peptides in different tumors and even as a prevention strategy (Fiedler et al., 2016; Goydos et al., 1996; Karanikas et al., 1997; Kimura et al., 2013; Ramanathan et al., 2005). Patients with advanced colon adenoma were vaccinated with MUC1 to assess the ability of this vaccine to induce an anti-MUC1 immune response and long-term memory without toxicity (Kimura et al., 2013). The authors found that 44% of patients could produce high levels of anti-MUC1 immunoglobulin G (IgG) and long-lasting immune memory without toxicity (Kimura et al., 2013). The remaining 56% of patients, who did not show elevated levels of anti-MUC1 IgG, displayed higher levels of myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSC) already before the vaccination (Kimura et al., 2013). Another interesting phase I study used a humanized glycol-optimized monoclonal antibody against the MUC1 epitope (PankoMab-GEX) in different cancers (Fiedler et al., 2016). PankoMab-GEX was well tolerated in patients with advanced disease and was strong enough to elicit an anti-tumor activity. The best result in this trial was observed in ovarian and lung cancer patients: in the

former cohort, one patient had a complete response, and 32% of patients displayed disease stabilization (Fiedler et al., 2016).

MUC2 is commonly used as a biomarker for many cancers as well as other diseases (García-Labastida et al., 2014; Lakshmanan et al., 2015; C. Li et al., 2018; McIntire et al., 2011): a study with fifty patients with goblet cell metaplasia found that MUC2 expression in non-goblet epithelium may represent a specific biomarker. The authors concluded that in the esophagus, MUC2 expression represents a late event in converting mucinous columnar cells to goblet cells (McIntire et al., 2011). MUC2 overexpression was correlated with a lower tumor grade and a lower rate of lymphatic invasion in a large meta-analysis of 2,363 patients with gastric carcinoma (L. N. Hu et al., 2021). However, there was no statistically significant correlation between the expression of MUC2 and lymph node metastasis, gender, and five-year survival rate (L. N. Hu et al., 2021).

Clinical studies assessed the role of MUC2 as a potential therapeutic immune target in cancers (Astashchanka et al., 2019; Lesuffleur et al., 1993; Ragupathi et al., 1999; Rakha et al., 2005; S. F. Slovin et al., 1999). MUC2, conjugated to the immunologic carrier protein, keyhole limpet hemocyanin (KLH), and given with the saponin adjuvant, Quillaja saponin (QS-21), was safe and induced high IgM and IgG titer specific for the immunogen (Ragupathi et al., 1999; S. Slovin et al., 2002; S. F. Slovin et al., 1999; S. F. Slovin & Scher, 1999). Another interesting tumorassociated carbohydrate antigen is Globo H, which is expressed on the outer membrane of cancer cells but not in normal tissue cells. Indeed, antibodies against Globo H mediated complement lysis or ADCC (S. Slovin et al., 2002). In phase I clinical trial, a bivalent vaccine consisting of Globo H and MUC2 conjugated to the carrier, KLH, and mixed with adjuvant QS21 was administered to 43 patients with relapsed prostate cancer (S. F. Slovin et al., 2005). The vaccine was found to be safe and generated high titer of IgG and IgM antibodies to MUC2, but only IgM antibodies to Globo-H.(S. F. Slovin et al., 2005). The promising result from the Phase I clinical trial led to other Phase II clinical trials involving MUC2 and/or Globo H as vaccine targets with conjugates, which have no posted results yet (NCT00004929, 2013; NCT00016146, 2013; NCT00036933, 2013).

Even after some failed trials, an interest in finding a vaccine for cancer using glycosylated antigens as a target has not decreased. The number of new registrations for clinical trials has increased in the past two decades. This clearly shows the faith of corporate in investing a lot in immunotherapy.

Vaccine	Number	Treatment	Outcome	References
	of			
0 11 1	Patients	A 1 * * / 1	<b>.</b>	
Oxidized	31 doubly	Administered	5.5 years since the	(Apostolopoulos
mannan	blind	subcutaneous	final patient began	et al., 2006)
MUCI	breast	injections of either	treatment (8.5 years	
peptide	cancer	placebo or oxidized	from the start of	
	stage II	mannan-	treatment of	
		MUCI	the first patient), the	
			recurrence rate in	
			patients receiving	
			the placebo was	
			27% (4/15; the	
			expected rate of	
			recurrence in stage	
			II breast cancer);	
			those receiving	
			immunotherapy had	
			no	
			recurrences (0/16),	
			and this finding was	
			statistically	
			significant (P =	
DANULAG	255		0.0292).	0.5.1
PANVAC-	255	PANVAC-VF	No significant	(Madan et al.,
VF viral	patients,	versus palliative	difference in OS of	2007)
a vector	advanced	chemotherapy	patients receiving	
expressing	pancreatic		PANVAC-VF	
CEA.	cancer		versus palliative	
and MUCI	patients		chemotherapy or	
plus B7.1,			best supportive care	
Silayl Tn-	1028	Silayl Tn-KLH	No significant	(Miles et al.,
KLH	breast	versus KLH	difference in OS in	2011)
	cancer		patients receiving	,
	patients		Silayl Tn-KLH	
			versus KLH alone	

Table 2-2:List of Phase III clinical trials using MUC1 antigen (retrieved from clinicaltrial.gov website)

Tecemotide	1513	Tecemotide (L-	No significant OS	(Butts et al.,
(L-BLP25)	NSCLC	BLP25) versus	difference within	2014)
lyophilized	patients	placebo after	the whole cohort	
25mer		chemoradiotherapy		
MUC1				
TG4010 (a	222 stage		TG4010 plus	(Quoix et al.,
modified	IV		chemotherapy	2016)
vaccinia	NSCLC		seems to improve	
Ankara	patients		progression-free	
expressing	(phase		survival compared	
MUC1)	2b/3)		to placebo plus	
and			chemotherapy	
interleukin				
2				
Tecemotide	285 Stage		The study was	(MercK, n.d.;
(L-BLP25)	IV		prematurely	Wu et al., 2011)
lyophilized	NSCLC		terminated	
25mer	patients			
MUC1				
		OS: Overall Survival PANVAC-VF: Can carcinoembryonic ant (V) and Flowpox (F)	ncer vaccine targe igen delivered via two v	ting MUC1 and viral vectors, Vaccina

KLH: Keyhole Limpet Hemocyanin

### 2.6 Conclusion

It is becoming more apparent that immunotherapy represents a real promise for treating cancer in all its forms. Passive immunization or immune checkpoint blockade was the first approach to take hold, although an increase in clinical trials using the adoptive transfer of CAR T cells or TRC-engineered T cells has been reported since 2015 (Yu et al., 2019). Vaccines are still less successful than previous approaches due to the complex relationship between tumors, stroma, and immune cells, rendering the microenvironment extremely demanding and exhausting. However, the crucial point in active immunotherapy remains the choice of antigen to be targeted by the vaccine. TAA with PTMs represents an exciting option for cancer immunotherapy. New insights regarding the ability of acetylated and citrullinated peptides to elicit tumor-specific responses represent promising results which, nevertheless, need further investigation, especially in pilot-phase clinical trials. The promising results from combinational citrullinated ENO1 and Vim peptides also should be further explored with chemotherapeutic targets in pilot clinical trials for their immunogenicity and safety in cancer patients to open new possibilities for designing immunotherapeutic strategies. Efforts should first be focused on identifying and then exploiting aberrantly phosphorylated, acetylated,

citrullinated, and glycosylated proteins variably expressed from multiple cancers to develop vaccines for large-scale immunotherapy. The focus should be to translate these preclinical studies into clinical trials.

A pilot clinical trial into vaccines against phosphorylated peptides of pIRS2 and PBCAR3 along with the vaccine against MUC1, MUC2 showed promising results for those many vaccines which have yet to undergo clinical trials. Future vaccine strategies could involve many PTM antigens, which could enhance the magnitude of the immune response.

It is very important to deeply understand the meaning of PTM in cancer in parallel to their immunogenicity characterization. If the PTM becomes a general and key process acquired during carcinogenesis, it is expected that it will be maintained in all tumor cells and not only in certain clones, which happens for the so-called neoantigens. This will allow the extreme heterogeneity that has been well described in tumor cells to be overcome. Are PTM modulated by treatments and if yes, in which way and with which drugs? The answer to this open question will also allow designing the best vaccine for each patient based on which treatment they are receiving.

# Chapter 3: Role of Adiponectin Receptors Expression in Cancerogenesis

This chapter reports the results of a bio-informatic study finalized to elucidate the role of Adiponectin and its receptors in cancer development. I got interested in the role of AdipoQ, and its receptors as the association of AdipoQ levels in serum with PDAC risk is controversial (positive, negative, or no association), and PDAC patients with worse survival after treatment had a higher concentration of AdipoQ in the immune-complexome. In this work, whose manuscript is in preparation, I performed an integrative analysis of the AdipoQ receptor genes in 33 types of cancers from The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA). I analyzed the transcriptome of patients using hierarchical clustering analysis. I identified two groups of patients for each tumor type, one with high levels of AdipoR1/AdipoR2 and one with low levels of AdipoR1/AdipoR2. I examined the expression profiles of approximately 10,000 cancer patients representing 33 cancer types from TCGA to identify the role of AdipoR1 and AdipoR2. I found out that lung adenocarcinoma patients with higher expression of AdipoR2 are predisposed to have more aggressive tumors, which could lead to poorer survival outcomes. To the best of my knowledge, the current study is the first to find an association between the expression of AdipoR1 in thymoma. Moreover, I found that patients with lower mRNA expression of AdipoR1 have better progression-free and overall survival outcomes. Overall, this study suggests that lower expression of AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 in multiple cancers is better for the survival of patients.
## Role of Adiponectin Receptors Expression in the Pan-Cancer Study

Anurag Kumar Srivastava <sup>1,2#</sup>, Laura Follia<sup>3#</sup>, Marco Beccuti<sup>3</sup>, Francesca Cordero<sup>3</sup>, Paola Cappello <sup>1,2</sup>, and Francesco Novelli <sup>1,2</sup>, \*

### (Manuscript under preparation)

- <sup>#</sup> Equal contribution
- <sup>1</sup> Department of Molecular Biotechnology and Health Sciences, University of Turin, 10126 Turin, Italy
- <sup>2</sup> Centro Ricerche Medicina Sperimentale, Azienda Ospedaliera Universitaria, Città della Salute e della Scienza di Torino, 10126 Turin, Italy
- <sup>3</sup> Department of Computer Science, Corso Svizzera 185 10149, University of Torino, Italy <u>anuragkumar.srivastava@unito.it</u> <u>laura.follia@unito.it</u> <u>beccuti@di.unito.it</u> <u>francesca.cordero@unito.it</u> <u>paola.cappello@unito.it</u>
- \* Correspondence: <u>franco.novelli@unito.it</u>

### TCGA Study Abbreviations used in this work

Study Abbreviations	Study Name
ACC	Adrenocortical carcinoma
BLCA	Bladder urothelial carcinoma
BRCA	Breast invasive carcinoma
CESC	Cervical squamous cell carcinoma and endocervical adenocarcinoma
CHOL	Cholangiocarcinoma
COAD	Colon adenocarcinoma
DLBC	Diffuse large B-cell lymphoma
ESCA	Esophageal carcinoma
GBM	Glioblastoma
HNSC	Head and neck squamous carcinoma
KICH	Kidney chromophobe
KIRC	Kidney renal clear cell carcinoma
KIRP	Kidney renal papillary cell carcinoma
LAML	Acute myeloid leukemia
LGG	Low-grade gliomas
LIHC	Liver hepatocellular carcinoma
LUAD	Lung adenocarcinoma
LUSC	Lung squamous cell carcinoma
MESO	Mesothelioma
OV	Ovarian serous cystadenocarcinoma
PCPG	Pheochromocytoma and Paraganglioma
PAAD	Pancreatic adenocarcinoma
PRAD	Prostate adenocarcinoma

SARC	Sarcoma
SKCM	Skin cutaneous melanoma
STAD	Stomach adenocarcinoma
TGCT	Testicular germ cell tumors
ТНҮМ	Thymoma
THCA	Thyroid carcinoma
UCS	Uterine Carcinosarcoma
UCEC	Uterine Corpus Endometrial Carcinoma
UVM	Uveal Melanoma

### Abstract

Obesity and type-2 diabetes (T2D) are two of the three modifiable risk factors for PDAC. AdipoQ is one of the most abundant adipocytokines secreted by adipose tissue. AdipoQ is emerging as a link between obesity, T2D, and obesity/T2D-related tumors. AdipoQ and its receptors (AdipoR1 and AdipoR2) role in PDAC progression is debatable. We performed an integrative analysis of the AdipoQ receptor genes in 33 types of cancers from The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA). The transcriptome of patients was analyzed using hierarchical clustering analysis. Statistical analyses of clinical data were performed using R and GraphPad Prism 9. The clustering analysis of transcriptome data in each tumor type identified two groups of patients: one with high levels of AdipoR1/AdipoR2 receptors and one with low levels of AdipoR1/AdipoR2. Statistical analysis revealed that tumors with high AdipoR1/AdipoR2 are more aggressive compared to the low AdipoR1/AdipoR2 patients in terms of overall cancer grading, tumor stage grading, and in some cases, the aggressive subtypes. Additionally, it was observed that cancer patients with low AdipoR1/AdipoR2 expression display a better survival rate despite cancer subtypes than those with tumors highly expressing AdipoR1/AdipoR2. Our analysis confirms the role of AdipoR1/AdipoR2 expression in cancer, pointing out that targeting AdipoQ signaling could represent a novel therapeutic strategy for PDAC and other obesity/T2D-related tumors.

Keywords: AdipoR1, AdipoR2, TCGA, Pan-Cancer, Survival

### 3.1 Methods

#### 3.1.1 Data Acquisition

RNASeq data of 33 tumor types of TCGA Pan-Cancer study and clinic-pathological data were downloaded from cbioportal (https://www.cbioportal.org/). The clinic-pathological parameters included age, cancer subtypes, TNM staging, neoplasm staging, and sex of the 10,967 patients. mRNA expression of each patient was in Fragments Per Kilobase of transcript per Million (FPKM)-Z-score transformed format.

### **3.1.2** Clustering and Heatmaps

All the analyses were performed by R version 3.2.1. Adiponectin and its receptors in each cancer dataset were filtered with *filter* function in the *dplyr* (0.7.8) package from the mRNA FPKM Z-score transformed data files. Hierarchical clustering was performed using *Heatmap.2* function in *gplots* (3.1.3) package with the Euclidean distance and the Ward.D2 clustering method on patients in each cancer type based on the expression level of AdipoQ, AdipoR1, and AdipoR2. Heatmaps were made using the *gplots* (3.1.3) and *RColorBrewer* (1.1.3) packages in R.

#### **3.1.3** Survival analysis

We performed Kaplan-Meier survival analysis with higher and lower expressions of AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 to find an association between their expression and patient survival. The analysis was used to plot survival curves. We employed the log-rank test to compare the survival rates between the high- and low-expression groups. We performed these analyses using GraphPad Prism 9.1.

#### 3.1.4 Spearman correlation

Spearman correlation analysis was performed between mRNA expressions level of ADIPOR1 and ADIPOR2 in all 33 types of cancer using GraphPad Prism 9.1.

### **3.2 Results**

# **3.2.1** Correlation analysis finds that two adiponectin receptors expression are correlated in DLBC

To find whether the AdipoR1 expression values are correlated with the expression values of AdipoR2 in 33 types of cancer, we performed the Spearman correlation analysis between the mRNA expression levels of AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 (Table 3-1). We retrieved from cbioportal (43) the mRNA expression FPKM Z-Score transformed data of the TCGA Pan-Cancer study Atlas (40) along with their clinical information. We observed that there was little to no correlation between the expression levels of AdipoR1 and AdipoR2. Only diffused large B cell lymphoma (DLBC) expression data was moderately correlated between AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 with a spearman r coefficient of 0.5579 (p-value <0.0001) (Figure 3-1).

Type of Cancers	Spearman	R	Confidence Interval	p-value
	coefficient			
ACC	-0.05838		-0.2835 to 0.1728	0.6116
BLCA	<mark>0.1646</mark>		0.06563 to 0.2604	<mark>0.0009</mark>
BRCA	<mark>0.1852</mark>		0.1252 to 0.2438	<mark>&lt;0.0001</mark>
CHOL	0.1021		-0.2438 to 0.4249	0.5536
GBM	0.1232		-0.03723 to 0.2774	0.1207
<b>LGG</b>	<mark>0.1958</mark>		0.1088 to 0.2799	<mark>&lt;0.0001</mark>
PAAD	<mark>0.1783</mark>		0.02724 to 0.3214	<mark>0.0176</mark>
CESC	<mark>0.2172</mark>		0.1021 to 0.3266	0.0002
ESCA	0.08692		-0.06402 to 0.2340	0.2446
HNSC	<mark>0.1210</mark>		0.03236 to 0.2077	<mark>0.0060</mark>
KIRC	0.05044		-0.03911 to 0.1392	0.255
LIHC	0.08092		-0.02481 to 0.1849	0.1222

Table 3-1: Spearman correlation analysis between ADIPOR1 and ADIPOR2 expressions

Ovary	0.02574	-0.01419 to 0.09109	0.6570
PRAD	<mark>0.2882</mark>	0.2026 to 0.3694	<mark>&lt;0.0001</mark>
<b>STAD</b>	<mark>0.1485</mark>	0.04975 to 0.2443	<mark>0.0025</mark>
KICH	-0.2036	-0.4324 to 0.04972	0.1037
KIRP	<mark>0.1953</mark>	0.07711 to 0.3081	<mark>0.0010</mark>
LAML	-0.6944	-0.02206 to -0.08501	0.3640
LUAD	-0.01908	-0.01083 to 0.07042	0.6672
<b>LUSC</b>	<mark>0.1025</mark>	0.01081 to 0.1924	0.0242
COAD	0.03317	-0.04992 to 0.1158	0.4205
TGCT	0.1269	-0.03940 to 0.2864	0.1230
ТНСА	-0.07961	0.1688 to 0.01092	0.0759
ТНҮМ	0.1289	-0.05769 to 0.3068	0.1624
UCEC	0.06724	-0.02081 to 0.1543	0.1231
UCS	0.1004	-0.1721 to 0.3587	0.4574
DLBC	<mark>0.5579</mark>	0.3175 to 0.7308	<mark>&lt;0.0001</mark>
MESO	-0.02008	-0.1975 to 0.2357	0.8535
PCPG	-0.04923	-0.1029 to 0.1991	0.5141
SARC	0.03004	-0.09727 to 0.1564	0.6344
<b>SKCM</b>	<mark>0.2079</mark>	0.1142 to 0.2978	< <u>0.0001</u>
UVM	-0.03393	-0.2579 to 0.1935	0.7651

Yellow highlighted part in the table means statistically significant correlation value.

# **3.2.2** Clustering analysis classifies cancer patients into lower and higher expression group of adiponectin receptors

We used hierarchical clustering analysis to divide the patients based on their mRNA expression levels of AdipoR1 and AdipoR2. Clustering analysis of AdipoR1 and

AdipoR2, mRNA expression data, identifies two main groups of patients corresponding to High and Low AdipoR1/AdipoR2. Almost all the cancer types had a significant difference in the mRNA expression level of AdipoR1 and AdipoR2, as represented by a scatter plot in Figure 3-2 A and B, respectively.

r = 0.5579 p-value < 0.0001



Figure 3-1: Scatter plot representing the correlation between AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 mRNA expression levels in diffused large B-cell lymphoma



*Figure 3-2: Scatter dot plot representing the hierarchical clustering analysis:* A) Hierarchical clustering analysis of AdipoR1 gene expression in 33 types of tumors; B). Hierarchical clustering analysis of AdipoR2 gene expression in 33 types of tumors Clustering analysis

significantly divided patients into high (red dots) and low (blue dots) AdipoR1/AdipoR2 expression. P-values from Wilcoxon test, \*\*\*\*=p<0.0001.

## **3.2.3** Adiponectin receptors expression profiles characterize cancer patients with their diagnosis age

We performed clinicopathological association of patients in pan-cancer studies with mRNA expression profiles of AdipoR1 and AdipoR2. Based on the hierarchical clustering of AdipoR1 and AdipoR2, the patients in each cancer group were divided into lower mRNA expression and higher mRNA expression groups of AdipoR1 and AdipoR2. As the age of diagnosis followed a normal distribution, we used the mean age of the patients for each group of mRNA expression for AdpioR1 and AdipoR2.

The mean age at diagnosis for the breast cancer (BRCA) patients belonging to the high AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 group (Figure 3-3A) is 61.15 (SD 13.98, n=158) and 58.53 (SD 13.43, n=333), respectively, whereas for the patients belonging to the low AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 groups are 57.93 (SD 12.99, n=924) and 58.34 (SD 13.08, n= 749) respectively. We found a significant difference in the mean age at diagnosis for AdipoR1 (p-value =0.007924, from the Wilcoxon test). In the case of AdipoR2, no such difference is observed (p-value =0.2838, from the Wilcoxon test).

The mean age at diagnosis for the esophagus cancer (ESCA) patients belonging to the high AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 group (Figure 3-3B) is 58.93 (SD 10.42, n=65) and 62.42 (SD 11.89, n=66), respectively, whereas for the patients belonging to the low AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 groups are 64.12 (SD 12.19, n=116) and 62.17 (SD 11.82, n=115) respectively. We found a significant difference in the mean age at diagnosis for AdipoR1 (p-value =0.0099, from the Wilcoxon test). In the case of AdipoR2, no such difference is observed (p-value =0.90, from the Wilcoxon test).

The mean age at diagnosis for colorectal cancer (COAD) patients belonging to the high AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 group (Figure 3-3C) is 67.81 (SD 10.42, n=216) and 66.73 (SD 12.53, n=270), respectively, whereas for the patients belonging to the low AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 groups are 65.2 (SD 13.02, n=374) and 65.6 (SD 13.06, n= 320) respectively. In the colorectal cancer patients, we found a significant difference in the mean age at diagnosis for AdipoR1 (p-value =0.028, from the Wilcoxon test).

In the case of AdipoR2, no such difference is observed (p-value =0.29, from the Wilcoxon test).

The mean age at diagnosis for the head and neck cancer (HNSC) patients belonging to the high AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 group (Figure 3-3D) are 61.71 (SD 12.53, n=221) and 64.04 (SD 11.41, n=41), respectively, whereas for the patients belonging to the low AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 groups are 60.1 (SD 11.01, n=293) and 60.5 (SD 11.7, n= 473) respectively. For head and neck cancer patients, a significant difference was observed in the mean age at diagnosis for AdipoR1 (p-value =0.02, from Wilcoxon test) in the case of AdipoR2; no such distinction is observed (p-value =0.101, from Wilcoxon test).

The mean age at diagnosis (Figure 3-3E) for the low-grade-glioma (LGG) patients belonging to the high AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 groups is 47.07 (SD 16.18, n=56) years and 40.96 (SD 11.65, n=144) years respectively, whereas for the patients belonging to the low AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 groups are 42.38 (SD 12.87, n=458) years and 43.67 (SD 14.07, n= 370) years respectively. No significant difference was observed in the mean age in LGG patients at diagnosis for AdipoR2 (p-value =0.0966, from Wilcoxon test). Still, a significant difference was observed in the case of AdipoR1 (p-value =0.0343, from the Wilcoxon test).

The mean age at diagnosis (Figure 3-3F) for testis cancer (TGCT) patients belonging to the high AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 groups are 28.8 (SD 8.2, n=22) years and 34.08 (SD 11.73, n=36) years, respectively, whereas for the patients belonging to the low AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 groups are 32.58 (SD 9.2, n=111) years and 31.08 (SD 8.07, n= 96) years respectively. We found a significant difference in the mean age at diagnosis for AdipoR1 (p-value =0.049, from the Wilcoxon test), but no such difference was observed in the case of AdipoR2 (p-value =0.466, from the Wilcoxon test).

These results show that patients with lower mRNA expression of AdipoR1 in BRCA, LGG, COAD, and HNSC are diagnosed at an early age, whereas patients with lower mRNA expression of AdipoR1 in ESCA and TGCT are diagnosed at a later age.



Figure 3-3: Diagnosis Age of patients in various cancers

A) BRCA patients' diagnosis age to low and high mRNA expression of AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 B) ESCA patients' diagnosis age to low and high mRNA expression of AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 C) COAD patients diagnosis age with respect low and high mRNA expression of AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 D) HNSC patients diagnosis age with respect low and high mRNA expression of AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 E) LGG patients diagnosis age with respect low and high mRNA expression of AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 F) TGCT patients diagnosis age with respect low and high mRNA expression of AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 F) TGCT patients diagnosis age with respect low and high mRNA expression of AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 F) TGCT patients diagnosis age with respect low and high mRNA expression of AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 F) TGCT patients diagnosis age with respect low and high mRNA expression of AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 F) TGCT patients diagnosis age with respect low and high mRNA expression of AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 F) TGCT patients diagnosis age with respect low and high mRNA expression of AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 F) TGCT patients diagnosis age with respect low and high mRNA expression of AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 F) TGCT patients diagnosis age with respect low and high mRNA expression of AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 F) TGCT patients diagnosis age with respect low and high mRNA expression of AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 F) TGCT patients diagnosis age with respect low and high mRNA expression of AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 F) TGCT patients diagnosis age with respect low and high mRNA expression of AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 F) TGCT patients diagnosis age with respect low and high mRNA expression of AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 F) TGCT patients diagnosis age with respect low and high mRNA expression of AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 F) TGCT patients diagnosis age with respect low and high mRNA expression for AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 F) TGCT patients diagnosis age with respect low and high mRNA expression for AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 F) TGCT patients diagnosis age with respect low and high mRNA expression for AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 F) F addited for AdipoR1 and F addited for Adi

# **3.2.4** Classification of cancer subtypes with expression profiles of adiponectin receptors

Knowing the subtype of cancer is essential to planning treatment and determining prognosis. Cancer subtypes describe the smaller groups that a type of cancer can be divided into based on specific characteristics of the cancer cells. These characteristics include how cancer cells look under a microscope. To understand how the mRNA expression of AdipoR1/R2 is distributed among the patients of various cancer subtypes, we performed a chi-square test on patients with higher and lower mRNA expression of AdipoR1 and AdipoR2.

We observed that patients with lower mRNA expression of AdipoR1 or AdipoR2 had a higher distribution of cancer subtypes which are worse in prognosis and survival. In BRCA patients, triple negative subtype or basal (BRCA\_Basal) was significantly more in patients with lower mRNA expression of AdipoR1 (17.42% of patients vs. 6% of patients with higher expression of AdipoR1) or AdipoR2 (19% of patients vs. 7.8% of patients with higher expression of AdipoR2) (Figure 3-4A).

Similarly, in ESCA patients with chromosomal instability (ESAC\_CIN), significantly more in lower mRNA expression profiles of AdipoR1 (54% of patients vs. 17% of patients with higher expression of AdipoR1) (Figure 3-4B).

In the TCGA, sarcoma cancer (SARC) patients are divided according to their complex karyotypes: (1) dedifferentiated liposarcoma (DDLPS), an undifferentiated sarcoma usually arising in association with well-differentiated liposarcoma and characterized by 12q13~15 amplification; (2) Leiomyosarcoma (LMS), showing smooth muscle differentiation, arising in both gynecologic (ULMS) and soft tissue (STLMS) sites; (3) undifferentiated pleomorphic sarcoma (UPS), lacking any defined line of differentiation and myxofibrosarcoma (MFS), showing fibroblastic differentiation with myxoid stroma; (4) and the rest kind of alterations are combined in Other sections which include malignant peripheral nerve sheath tumor (MPNST), arising in peripheral nerves and simple-karyotype sarcoma, synovial sarcoma (SS), defined by the translocation t(X;18)(p11;q11) (Abeshouse et al., 2017). Our analysis of the expression profile of AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 mRNA revealed that SARC patients with higher mRNA expression of AdipoR2 had a significantly higher fraction of MFS/UPS subtypes. Whereas, in the case of AdipoR1 expression, patients had a substantially higher fraction of the LMS subtype with their higher expression (Figure 3-4C).

LGG is divided into subtypes based on whether or not there is a mutation in isocitrate dehydrogenase (IDH) (Aliotta et al., 2019). We observed that patients with lower mRNA expression of AdipoR1 had a higher percentage of patients (84% vs. 60% of patients with higher expression of AdipoR1) with IDH mutation subtype. In contrast, patients with higher mRNA expression of AdipoR2 had a significantly large proportion of IDH mutations (92% vs. 75% of patients with lower expression of AdipoR2) (Figure 3-4D).

The TCGA classified stomach cancer (STAD) into six subtypes using genomic and molecular platforms, including genome/exome/methylome DNA sequencing, RNA sequencing, protein arrays, and sophisticated statistical and informatics analyses of data from 295 tumors (Zhang, 2014). The subtypes were named Epstein-Barr virus (EBV)-positive tumors, microsatellite instable (MSI) tumors, genomically stable (GS) tumors, and tumors with chromosomal instability (CIN) (Zhang, 2014). We

observed that STAD patients with CIN subtypes had a significantly higher percentage of higher mRNA expression of AdipoR1 (63% vs. 52% for patients with lower mRNA expression of AdipoR1) or AdipoR2 (72% vs. 49% for patients with lower mRNA expression of AdipoR2). In the case of a more aggressive subtype of STAD, GS subtypes were found with lower mRNA expression of AdipoR1 (13% vs. 5% for patients with higher mRNA expression of AdipoR1) or AdipoR2) or AdipoR2 (14% vs. 5.5% for patients with higher mRNA expression of AdipoR2).

Based on genomic characteristics of endometrial cancer (UCEC), TCGA similarly classified it into four subtypes, namely POLE hyper-mutation, high-mutation microsatellite instability (MSI), and high-copy number type (such as p53 gene mutation), and low-copy number type (Y. Hu et al., 2021). With our analysis, we noted that higher mRNA expression of AdipoR2 had a significantly more fraction of UCEC patients (48%) with high copy numbers compared to a group with lower mRNA expression of AdipoR2 (19%). Whereas in the AdipoR1 expression profile, the order was reversed for copy number high subtypes, we found that lower mRNA expression of AdipoR1 (33.5%) had a significantly higher fraction of patients compared to higher mRNA expression of AdipoR1 (15%) (Figure 3-4F).



Figure 3-4 Subtypes of cancers

A)BRCA subtypes in patients with low and high mRNA expression of AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 B) ESCA subtypes in patients with low and high mRNA expression of AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 C) SARC subtypes in patients with respect low and high mRNA expression of AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 D) LGG cancer subtypes in patients with respect low and high mRNA expression of AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 E) STAD subtypes in patients with respect low and high mRNA expression of AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 E) UCEC subtypes in patients with respect low and high mRNA expression of AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 F) UCEC subtypes in patients with respect low and high mRNA expression of AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 F) UCEC subtypes in patients with respect low and high mRNA expression of AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 F) UCEC subtypes in patients with respect low and high mRNA expression of AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 F) UCEC subtypes in patients with respect low and high mRNA expression of AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 F) UCEC subtypes in patients with respect low and high mRNA expression of AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 F) UCEC subtypes in patients with respect low and high mRNA expression of AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 F) UCEC subtypes in patients with respect low and high mRNA expression of AdipoR1 and AdipoR2

# **3.2.5** Lower expression of adiponectin receptors is better for the least aggressive tumor

To better understand the clinical behavior of cancer malignancies, a staging system is used to classify every tumor. American Joint Committee on Cancer developed a standard staging system (AJCC) called TNM staging. In the TNM staging system, cancer is classified based on the dimensions of the primary tumor, the presence and extent of regional lymph node metastases, and the presence and absence of distant metastases (Hortobagyi et al., 2018).

The TNM system provides clinical significance by establishing the anatomic extent of the disease. Combining all three factors can help to describe the overall stage of the tumor with stages from I-IV, with stage I being the least aggressive stage, whereas stage IV is the most severe stage (Rosen & Sapra, 2021). The detail of each stage is described in Table 3.

Stage	Description
Stage 0	Indicates carcinoma in situ. Tis, N0, M0
Stage I	Localized cancer. T1-T2, N0, M0
Stage II	Locally advanced cancer, early stages. T2-T4, N0, M0
Stage III	Locally advanced cancer, late stages. T1-T4, N1-N3, M0
Stage IV	Metastatic cancer. T1-T4, N1-N3, M1

Table 3-2: Description of each stage derived from TNM staging (Adapted from (Rosen & Sapra, 2021))

To get an in-depth understanding of how the mRNA expression profile of AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 is distributed among patient tumor staging. We observed that patients with lower mRNA expression of AdipoR1 have a significantly higher percentage of smaller tumor size (less than 5 cm, more T1 and T2) in kidney renal papilloma (KIRP) (85% of patients vs. 61% of patients with higher mRNA expression of

AdipoR1) (Figure 3-5A). In STAD, we observed that patients with higher mRNA expression of AdipoR1 had a significantly lower fraction of patients with more than 7cm (T4) size of tumor (12% of patients vs. 30% of patients with lower mRNA expression of AdipoR1) (Figure 3-5B). In COAD, we observed that patients with tumor size more than 7cm (T4) were significantly less in a group with lower mRNA expression of AdipoR1 (8% vs. 16% of patients with higher mRNA expression of AdipoR1) (Figure 3-5C). In lung adenocarcinoma (LUAD), the distribution of patients with more than 5 cm tumor (T3 and T4) was found to be significantly more in a group with higher mRNA expression of AdipoR1 (24% vs. 11.5% of patients with lower mRNA expression of AdipoR2 (16% vs. 10% of patients with lower mRNA expression of AdipoR2) (Figure 3-5D).

We observed similar results in clinical neoplasm staging. Patients with lower mRNA expression of AdipoR1 have a significantly higher percentage of less aggressive tumors (Stage I and Stage II) in KIRP (75% of patients vs. 53% of patients with higher mRNA expression of AdipoR1) (Figure 3-6A). We observed that patients with higher mRNA expression of AdipoR1 significantly lower fraction of STAD patients with more aggressive tumors (stage III and Stage IV) (35% of patients vs. 55% of patients with lower mRNA expression of AdipoR1) (Figure 3-6B). Our analysis found that COAD patients with the most severe stage of the tumor (Stage IV) were significantly less in a group with lower mRNA expression of AdipoR1) (Figure 3-6C). In LUAD, the distribution of patients with more severe stages of tumor (Stage III and Stage IV) was found to be significantly more in a group with higher mRNA expression of AdipoR2 (26% vs. 18% of patients with lower mRNA expression of AdipoR2) (Figure 3-6D).



Figure 3-5: Tumor staging of cancers

A) Proportional bar plots showing tumor staging of KIRP patients with respect to mRNA expression of AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 group B) Proportional bar plots showing tumor staging of STAD patients with respect to mRNA expression of AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 group C) Proportional bar plots showing tumor staging of COAD patients with respect mRNA expression of AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 group D) Proportional bar plots showing tumor staging of LUAD patients with respect mRNA expression of AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 group



Figure 3-6: Neoplasm staging in cancer

A) Proportional bar plots showing neoplasm staging of KIRP patients with respect to mRNA expression of AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 group B) Proportional bar plots showing neoplasm staging of STAD patients with respect to mRNA expression of AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 group C) Proportional bar plots showing neoplasm staging of COAD patients with respect mRNA expression of AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 group D) Proportional bar plots showing neoplasm staging of LUAD patients with respect mRNA expression of AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 group

# **3.2.6** Lower expression of adiponectin receptors are better for survival in four cancer types

The overall objective of the current study was to find whether the expression of AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 had any role in the patient's survival. Our survival analysis revealed that mRNA expression of AdipoR1 or AdipoR2 played a significant role in progression-free (PFS) and overall survival (OS) of four cancer types.

A lower expression profile of AdipoR1 was associated with better survival (PFS and OS) in patients with KIRP, LGG, and thymoma (THYM). In the case of KIRP and THYM patients, the median survival time for PFS and OS was statistically undefined, as more than 50% of patients were alive at the end of the study. The median survival months with higher mRNA expression of AdipoR1 in KIRP patients for PFS and OS were 106 and 96 months, respectively (Figure 3-7A and Figure

3-8A). Our analysis revealed that the median survival months of LGG patients with lower mRNA expression of AdipoR1 in PFS and OS were 45 and 93 months, respectively. At the same time, the median survival time for patients with lower expression for PFS and OS was 19 and 63 months, respectively (Figure 3-7B and Figure 3-8B). Additionally, the median survival months for THYM patients with higher mRNA expression of AdipoR1 for OS was 114 months, whereas for PFS, it was statistically undefined (Figure 3-7C and Figure 3-8C).

We observed that lower expression of AdipoR2 was significantly correlated with better survival in LUAD patients. The median survival months of LUAD patients with lower mRNA expression of AdipoR2 in PFS and OS were 45 and 59 months, respectively. In comparison, the median survival time for patients with higher mRNA expression of AdipoR2 for PFS and OS was 25 and 34 months, respectively (Figure 3-7D and Figure 3-8D).



Figure 3-7: Progression-Free Survival in cancer patients

A) Survival curve showing KIRP progression-free survival months for Low and High AdipoR1/AdipoR2 B) Survival curve showing LGG progression-free survival months for Low and High AdipoR1/AdipoR2 C) Survival curve showing THYM progression-free survival months for Low and High AdipoR1/AdipoR2 D) Survival curve showing LUAD progression-free survival months for Low and High AdipoR1/AdipoR2 D) Survival curve showing LUAD progression-free survival months for Low and High AdipoR1/AdipoR2 D) Survival curve showing LUAD progression-free survival months for Low and High AdipoR1/AdipoR2



Figure 3-8: Overall survival of patients

A) Survival curve showing KIRP overall survival months for Low and High AdipoR1/AdipoR2 B) Survival curve showing LGG overall survival months for Low and High AdipoR1/AdipoR2 C) Survival curve showing THYM overall survival months for Low and High AdipoR1/AdipoR2 D) Survival curve showing LUAD overall survival months for Low and High AdipoR1/AdipoR2

### 3.3 Discussion

In the present study, we used more than 10,000 cancer patients' expression profiles in 33 types from TCGA pan-cancer analysis to understand the role of AdipoR1 and AdipoR2. We performed statistical analysis on clinical parameters in 33 types of cancers. We used hierarchical clustering to classify the mRNA expression of AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 in patients as higher and lower expression groups.

Lung cancer has been associated with obesity, and a report found higher expression of AdipoR1 in serum levels of patients with lung cancer compared to regular healthy patients (Nigro et al., 2020). Our analysis shows the presence of more aggressive tumors for lung adenocarcinoma patients expressing higher AdipoR2. In simpler words, it could lead to lesser survival, and in the analysis, we find the same, that patients with higher mRNA expression of AdipoR2 had worse progression-free and overall survival.

Even though there are no studies on the role of AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 in thymoma, our analysis shows that patients with lower mRNA expression of AdipoR1 are better for progression-free and overall survival. The new findings could be used to establish the role of AdipoQ and its receptors in thymoma.

Kidney cancer has been associated with obesity (C. J. Lin et al., 2020). Lower AdipoQ concentration was reported in renal cell carcinoma patients compared to those without disease in a meta-analysis of ten published studies and could be used as biomarkers (X. Liu et al., 2018). There is no study investigating kidney renal papilloma. Our analysis found that patients with lower mRNA expression of AdipoR1 had a significantly higher fraction of less aggressive and smaller tumor sizes. The lesser aggressive tumor meant that patients had better survival; in both progression and overall survival studies, more than 50% of patients were alive at the end of the investigations.

Even though obesity is not correlated as a causative factor in LGG, expression of AdipoQ, AdipopR1, and AdipoR2 were reported in all the cell lines of gliomas at the mRNA and protein level (Porcile et al., 2014). It was also observed that AdipoQ expression was acting as a negative regulator for the gliomas (Porcile et al., 2014). Our analysis also shows that lower expression of AdipoR1 is better for the overall and progression-free survival of low-grade glioma. Further investigation is required to establish the role of AdipoQ and its receptor in LGG.

Overall, our pan-cancer analysis of AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 shows that lower mRNA expression is better for patients. These preliminary data need to be further investigated to understand the role of AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 in obesity-associated cancer.

### Chapter 4: Transcriptional landscape of adiponectin and its receptors in pancreatic cancers

Taking advantage of the data shown in Chapter 3 on the role of AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 in the survival of patients with multiple cancer. In collaboration with the group of Prof. Rudolf Fehrmann at the Department of Medical Oncology, University Medical Center Groningen, Groningen, the Netherlands, where I spent more than six months of work. The stay at Fehrmann Lab allowed me to dive deep into understanding the role of AdipoQ and its receptors in PC. 184 transcriptomic data of PC patients were downloaded from TCGA, and the gene expression profiles of PC were disentangled with c-ICA. The study found ten transcriptional components where AdipoQ or its receptors were outliers after applying c-ICA. I performed further analysis on these AdipoQ-TCs with gene set enrichment analysis and cofunctionality network analysis. With these biological process analyses, I observed that AdipoQ-TCs were active in innate immune pathways, DNA repair, lipid metabolism, and organ development. I employed random forest survival analysis and found that five of the AdipoQ-TCs played an active role in the overall survival of the patients. This analysis, which represents the basis of a manuscript that is under preparation for submission, revealed that a potential linkage between AdipoR1 and kallikrein (KLK) enzyme family expression exists. As one of the AdipoQ-TCs with AdipoR1 as an outlier, four KLKs genes upregulated. Further analysis is warranted to understand this mechanism.

## Transcriptional landscape of adiponectin and its receptors in pancreatic cancers

Anurag Kumar Srivastava <sup>1,2#</sup>, Arkajyoti Bhattacharya<sup>3#</sup>, Paola Cappello <sup>1,2</sup>, Rudolf S. N. Fehrmann<sup>3\*</sup> and Francesco Novelli <sup>1,2,\*</sup>

### (Manuscript under preparation)

- <sup>#</sup> Equal contribution
- <sup>1</sup> Department of Molecular Biotechnology and Health Sciences, University of Turin, 10126 Turin, Italy
- <sup>2</sup> Centro Ricerche Medicina Sperimentale, Azienda Ospedaliera Universitaria, Città della Salute e della Scienza di Torino, 10126 Turin, Italy
- <sup>3</sup> Department of Medical Oncology, University Medical Center Groningen, Groningen, the Netherlands

anuragkumar.srivastava@unito.it a.bhattacharya@umcg.nl paola.cappello@unito.it

\* Correspondence: <u>franco.novelli@unito.it</u> <u>r.s.n.fehrmann@umcg.nl</u>

### Abstract

Adiponectin is produced by adipose tissue that has been found to play a role in the development and progression of pancreatic cancer. So far research on the role of adiponectin in pancreatic cancer remains controversial. The objective of this chapter is to elucidate the role of adiponectin and its receptor in pancreatic cancer using consensus-independent component analysis (c-ICA). This work included 184 transcriptome profiles of pancreatic cancer patients downloaded from the TCGA. c-ICA disentangled transcriptome profiles into statistically independent transcriptional components. We found ten TCs where adiponectin or its receptors were overexpressed. Our random forest survival analysis resulted in five TCs found to be significant classifiers for the overall survival of the patients.

### 4.1 Methods

#### 4.1.1 Data Acquisition

We downloaded the pre-processed and RNAseq with Expectation Maximization (RSEM) normalized gene expression profiles of PAncreatic ADenocarcinoma (PAAD) patients from TCGA using the Broad GDAC Firehose portal (https://gdac.broadinstitute.org/)). We standardized gene expression profiles to a mean of zero and a variance of one on the gene level across all the patients with PAAD. This transformed gene expression dataset is referred to as the PAAD-TCGA data set throughout the manuscript. Clinicopathological information of the patients from the PAAD-TCGA dataset (Hoadley et al., 2018) was downloaded using the cbioportal website

(https://www.cbioportal.org/study/clinicalData?id=paad\_tcga\_pan\_can\_atlas\_2018) (cbioportal, n.d.; Cerami et al., 2017; Gao et al., 2013). Clinicopathological information of the patients included neoplasm staging, tumor staging in TNM (Tumor size, degree of spread to regional lymph Nodes, presence of Metastasis), age at the time of diagnosis, tumor subtypes, number of mutations counts, and tumor subtype the clinicopathological dataset is referred to as the PAAD-clinical dataset.

### 4.1.2 Consensus Independent Component Analysis

We used consensus-independent component analysis (c-ICA) to segregate the average gene expression profiles of complex biopsies into statistically independent

transcriptomic footprints. The PAAD-TCGA dataset containing standardized gene expression profile of n genes and s samples was pre-processed using whitening transformation, making all profiles uncorrelated and giving them a variance of one. We performed ICA on the whitened dataset using the in-house *AnalyzerTool* developed by the Fehrmaan group version 6, based on the FastICA algorithm. c-ICA resulted in the extraction of i independent components (hereafter estimated sources (ES)), a matrix of  $n^* i$  dimension, and a mixing matrix of  $i^*s$  dimension. The number of principal components capturing 100% explained variance in the whitened dataset were chosen as the number of ESs to extract. Each ES contains separate weights of all genes. This weight represents the direction and magnitude of the influence of an underlying transcriptional regulatory process on the expression level of that gene. The mixing matrix contains the coefficients of ES in each sample, representing the activity of an ES in the corresponding sample.

In the ICA, an initial random weight vector with a variance of 1 must be chosen to obtain statistically independent ES. Hence, varying initial random weight vectors could result in different sets of Ess. To obtain a global solution, we performed 250 ICA runs with different randomly initialized weight vectors. ESs extracted from different runs were clustered together if the absolute value of the Pearson correlation between them was > 0.9. Representative ESs were selected based on distance correlation with all other cluster members which are maximally correlated to each other. To further remove ES's with dependency on any other ESs, "xi" correlation was performed between the representative ES's (S. Chatterjee, 2021). Representative ESs with an xi-correlation coefficient value less than 0.1 were selected as statistically independent ES, and representative ESs with an xi-correlation coefficient between 0.1 and 0.5 were removed from the analysis. For representative ESs with an xicorrelation coefficient value of more than 0.5, the ESs with maximum correlation with other representative ESs was selected. Next, we calculated a credibility index (CI) for each representative ES by determining the proportion of ICA runs the ESs appeared as a solution. We used a cutoff of CI more than 10% of ICA runs. Consensus ESs were selected when representative ESs appeared in more than cutoff value of run. Consensus ESs will be referred as Transcriptional Components (TC) in the manuscript. These TCs were used for further analysis. After applying the consensus algorithm, we obtained a TC matrix of the j\*n dimension with j

transcriptional components and the n number of genes. TCs, in combination with the original input expression profiles, were used to obtain the consensus mixing matrix (MM).

# **4.1.3** Identification of transcriptional components with high absolute weights of AdipoQ and its receptors

To better understand the role played by AdipoQ and its receptor in PAAD, we identified the TCs with high absolute weights of AdipoQ and its receptors. We used an absolute cutoff weight of 3 to determine the TC where AdipoQ or its receptors are outliers. We called this new matrix AdipoQ-TCs.

#### 4.1.4 Gene Set Enrichment Analysis

AdipoQ plays a vital role in metabolism via various signaling pathways like AMPactivated protein kinase (AMPK) and peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors (PPARs) signaling pathways (Yamauchi et al., 2014). We performed gene set enrichment analysis (GSEA) to investigate the enrichment of different biological processes in AdipoQ-TCs. We used gene sets from the MsigDB for GSEA analysis (Carbon et al., 2021; De Preter et al., 2008; Gillespie et al., 2022; Kanehisa et al., 2021; Köhler et al., 2021; Liberzon et al., 2011, 2015; Martens et al., 2021; Schaefer et al., 2009; Segal et al., 2003; Subramanian et al., 2005; X. Wang, 2008; Wong & Wang, 2015). Gene sets containing less than ten genes or more than 500 genes (after filtering out genes that were not present in our data sets) were excluded from further analysis. Enrichment of each gene set against TC was tested using the Fisher exact test. The Fisher exact test checks whether the two variables are independent. We defined above 3 as high weight, below -3 as low weight, and values between 3 and -3 as the intermediate weight for Fisher's exact test. The enrichment score was calculated as a Z-score obtained by transforming the p-value of Fisher's exact test. As we performed multiple Fisher exact tests, it would have introduced multipletesting errors. To correct the multiple-testing error, we performed a Bonferroni correction. Bonferroni corrected p-value ( $\alpha$ ) was calculated by dividing the p-value of 0.05 by the number of tests performed. The  $\alpha$  was then converted to a Z-score value. We showed the enriched gene sets in each AdipoQ-TCs by heatmaps. We generated heatmaps using the ComplexHeatmap package (v2.10.0) in R with hierarchical clustering on the enriched gene sets with *spearman correlation* distance method and *hclust* method.

#### 4.1.5 Identifying biology of AdipoQ-TCs outliers

We identified the biological processes associated with the AdipoQ-TCs using multiple methods. Firstly, we performed GSEA on each TC of AdipoQ-TCs separately using MsigDB gene set collections (explained in detail above). Secondly, we constructed separate co-functionality networks using GenetICA network on top 250 genes with positive values and bottom genes with negative values from each of the AdipoQ-TCs (available at this site) (Urzúa-Traslaviña et al., 2021). The enrichment of predicted functionality was calculated for clusters containing  $\geq$  five genes and subsequently used to identify biological processes associated with the TC under investigation.

#### 4.1.6 Survival Analysis

To determine the association between the AdipoQ-TC activity and OS, we performed a univariate Cox proportional hazard regression analysis using the patients with clinicopathological information (n= 184, Table 1). We performed the Cox proportional hazard regression model using *survminer* (v0.4.9) and *survival* (v3.3.1) packages in R.

#### 4.1.6.1 Survival Tree Analysis

Survival tree analysis was performed for PAAD patients using activities of TCs from AdipoQ-TCs to identify significant classifiers. We used PAAD-Survival-TCs as an input matrix for survival tree analysis.

We conducted a recursive process, samples were divided into two groups with a threshold of activities of TC, and a log-rank test was applied to each TC activities with survival information. The log-rank test would assign a p-value for each patient's activity score of a TC column. This step will be repeated for each TC column. A tree would be formed based on the p-values of TC column. TC whose activity score would be lowest among other will come on the top of the tree. For each resulting subset, this recursive step was repeated. This process stopped if the number of patients in the two subsets dropped below 50, one subset dropped below 17, or the

number of events for both subsets was < 25. We obtained survival probabilities for both subsets.

We used *MST* (v2.2) package in R to create a multi-survival tree. For splitting the tree with correlation, we used the "independence model" method. The independence model ignores dependence and uses log-rank statistics as the splitting rule. The classifier in our analysis is a numeric value, and we obtained a cutoff for each activity score of classifiers. To assess the goodness of fit survival curve, we created a new variable survival cohort to store the terminal node number in the survival tree of each sample using *partykit* (v 1.2.15) package in R.

### 4.2 Results

#### **4.2.1** Data set containing 184 pancreatic cancer tissue samples

We collected gene expression profile for 184 patient samples from TCGA-Broad-GDAC-Firehose. Of these PAAD, major tumor types included pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC, n=153), mucinous non-cystic PAAD (n=4), and 25 representing other subtypes of PAAD. Patient median diagnosis age was 65 years (range 57-73). 83% of patients were diagnosed with clinical stage II. We retrieved follow-up and survival data for all patients (Table 4-1).

Clinico-pathological features	Patients (184)
Median Age at diagnosis	65 (range 57-73)
Male	101 (55%)
Female	83 (45%)
Stage I	22 (12%)
Stage II	152 (83%)
Stage III	6 (3%)

Table 4-1: Patient Characteristics

Stage IV	6 (3%)
PDAC	153 (83.15%)
PAAD, other subtypes	31 (16.85%)
Alive	85 (46%)
Dead	99 (54%)



Figure 4-1: Workflow indicating the data acquisition and relations between the methods

# **4.2.2** Consensus independent component analysis identifies 182 transcriptional components

c-ICA on the 184 gene expression profiles resulted in 182 statistically independent TCs. Even though we kept credibility index (CI) as 0.1 while performing c-ICA, 90.1% (164/182) of TC had CI of 1 and remaining had CI value more than 0.75 (Supplementary Table 1, Figure 4-1). High CI value showed the robustness of our

method for generating TCs. We found AdipoQ or its receptors as outliers in 10 TCs (AdipoQ-TC) and those TCs were used for further analysis (Figure 4-2 and Supplementary Table 2).



Figure 4-2: Heatmap of transcriptional components with AdipoQ or its receptors as an outliers (AdipoQ-TCs)

#### 4.2.3 Distinct biological processes show enrichment in the AdipoQ-TCs

# 4.2.3.1 Geneset enrichment analysis shows enrichment of AdipoQ-TCs in 274 genesets from 18 databases

GSEA with 32,880 gene sets that defines biological processes was performed to identify TCs in AdipoQ-TCs enriched for biological processes. The gene sets were selected from all the gene set collections within the Molecular Signatures DataBase (MSigDB, v7.5.1; for the systematic selection strategy, see the "Methods" section). We used a separate transformed z-score from Bonferroni corrected p-value cutoff of 0.05 for identifying enriched gene sets corresponding to each database. Gene set with a higher enrichment score than the threshold was considered enriched gene sets in an individual TC. GSEA showed that each TC from AdipoQ-TCs was significantly enriched for at least one gene set in one of the 18 available gene sets database (significance was defined as Bonferroni corrected Z score for p-value <0.05 ). For example, the number of enriched gene sets from Gene Ontology Biological Process (GOBP) gene set collection in an individual AdipoQ-TC ranged from zero to 32

enriched gene sets (Figure 4-3). The median top Z score was 2.56 (range 0.00017 - 7.026, interquartile range 1.90 - 5.02) for each GOBP gene set. Similarly, the number of enriched gene sets from Reactome gene set collection in an individual TC of AdipoQ-TC ranged from zero to six enriched gene sets. The median top Z score was 3.39 (range 1.33 -7.44, interquartile range 2.35 - 4.77) for each Reactome gene set.

# 4.2.3.2 GenetICA co-functionality network shows AdipoQ-TCs involved in DNA repair, innate immunity, and organ development

GenetICA network analysis (Supplementary Table 3) of the top 250 genes in TC 145, and TC 140 were involved in innate immunity, DNA repair, and organ development. TC 140 was also involved in apoptosis and skin development, whereas TC 145 was additionally involved with RNA splicing. Co-functionality network revealed that the top genes from TC 124 were involved in neuronal signals , DNA repair and innate immunity. The top genes of TC 65 showed their involvement in DNA repair and innate immunity. Co-functionality network prediction showed that top genes of TC 70 were enriched in DNA repair RNA splicing, and chromosomal segregation. The top genes of TC 162, TC 165, and TC 177 showed their involvement in DNA repair, organ development and innate immunity. The top genes of TC 15 and TC 99 showed their involvement in DNA repair, innate immunity, and organ development. Co-functionality network revealed that one of the clusters of TC 99 were enriched in digestion process . We observed that AdipoQ was present in cluster showing DNA repair for components with AdipoQ as an outlier.



Figure 4-3:Enrichment heatmap of GOBP and Reactome gene sets in each TC of AdipoQ-TCs:

GSEA results of all TC from AdipoQ-TC are present. GOBP and Reactome gene sets were included if the enrichment for at one TC passed the Bonferroni threshold for multiple testing correction. Gene sets were clustered using Pearson correlation and Ward D2. To facilitate interpretation, heatmap colours were based on Z-scores and truncated at a value of ten.

### 4.2.4 The activity of three TC from AdipoQ-TC is associated with OS

Univariate Cox regression revealed that the activities of TC 15, TC 124, and TC 140 from AdipoQ-TC were significantly associated with OS after multiple testing corrections (significance based on Bonferroni adjusted p-value less than 0.05, Supplementary Table 4).

# **4.2.5** Random survival forest identifies five TCs as significant classifiers from AdipoQ-TCs in OS

Random survival forest analysis revealed five TCs namely TC 99, TC 124, TC 140, TC 145, and TC 162 from AdipoQ-TCs as a significant classifier for OS (significance based on p-value less than 0.05 and importance score more than or equal to 0.5, Table 4-2). Eight robust cohorts of patients were observed using random survival forest analysis. All the patients belonging to cohort 6 had the best OS, whereas those belonging to cohort 3 had worse OS (Figure 4-4).

TCs	Input tree	Number of. significant	Importance.	P value
		classifiers	Score	
TC 99	126	126	1	8.39E-29
TC 162	126	120	0.80	7.74E-24
TC 140	126	116	0.64	8.43E-21
TC 145	126	125	0.64	6.10E-28
TC 124	126	102	0.51	6.90E-12
TC 65	126	113	0.48	1.15E-18
TC 15	126	63	0.25	1
TC 165	126	86	0.24	6.10E-05
TC 70	126	48	0.15	0.00978
TC 177	126	55	0.13	0.181449

Table 4-2: Random Survival Forest Reveals significant classifiers for OS

Input Tree: Number of trees in the random forest

Number of Significant classifiers: Number of times a TC appeared in the tree

Importance score: Number of times a TC appeared at the top of the tree (TC with importance score above or equal to 0.5 and with p-value less than 0.05 were considered as significant classifier for the survival analysis)

	TCs	Biology captured by AdipoQ-TCs from GSEA and GenetICA		
_				
	TC 15	Innate immunity, DNA repair and organ development		
	TC 65	Innate immunity, and DNA repair		
	TC 70	DNA repair, RNA splicing, and chromosomal segregation		
	TC 99	ER biology, DNA repair, innate immunity		
	TC 124	Lipid metabolism, neuronal development, transport		
	TC 140	Innate immunity, DNA repair, apoptosis, organ development		
	TC 145	Innate immunity, Lipid metabolism, and DNA repair		
	TC 162	Neuronal development, DNA repair, and innate immunity		
	TC 165	Organ development, DNA repair, and innate immunity		
	TC 177	Organ development, DNA repair, and innate immunity		





A) Survival curve for eight cohort's patients in OS (B) Heatmap showing the activity of TCs from best to worst survival cohorts of patients (right to left) in OS



Figure 4-5: Hypothetical model of biological process associated with the activities of TCs and its clinical outcomes

### 4.3 Discussion

The current research utilized 184 gene expression profiles in conjunction with c-ICA to uncover the landscape of AdipoQ-TC in PAAD patients. We described each of the 10 AdipoQ-TC with GSEA and genetICA network analysis. The composition of all TCs, gene set enrichment results and the activity of the TCs in each sample are publicly available via http:// opendatainscience.net/. This portal provides a new tool to gain further insight into the adiponectin biology that impacts the patient's survival in pancreatic cancer.

Our analysis revealed that patients with worse OS were characterized by higher activity of TC 140 and TC 145. These TCs were enriched for gene sets related to innate immune pathways, such as neutrophil degranulation, interleukin 4 (IL-4) and interleukin 13 (IL-13) signaling, activation of myeloid-derived suppressor cells (Briukhovetska et al., 2021; Masucci et al., 2019; Pergamo & Miller, 2017; Shi et al., 2021; Thyagarajan et al., 2019; Toedebusch et al., 2021; Xiong et al., 2021). Significantly higher level of IL-4 and IL-13 was reported in blood plasma level of pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC) patients compared to the control participant (Chen et al., 2009; Gabitass et al., 2011; Yako et al., 2017). IL-4 and IL-13 were reported to be a strong predictor of disease-free survival (DFS) in patients with resectable PDAC (Formentini et al., 2009; Piro et al., 2017). Furthermore, higher levels of IL-13 and IL-4R are associated with increased lymph node metastasis (Formentini et al., 2009). Additionally, the close connection between IL-4 and

tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs) suggests that IL-4 can activate the cathepsin protease in TAMs, leading to PDAC tumor growth and angiogenesis (Shi et al., 2021). IL-4 treatment of TAMs promoted the malignancy of PC cells by inducing epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT), resulting in increased cell growth and movement (C.-Y. Liu et al., 2013). These observations from studies suggest that increased IL-4 and IL-13 signaling are detrimental to PC patients. As we observed that higher activity of TC 140 and TC 145 are associated with worse survival of the patients, we can hypothesize that increased signalling of IL-4 and IL-13 could be one of the factors.

Studies have found that neutrophils and granulocytes are involved at every stage of tumorigenesis, from cancer initiation growth and metastasis (Masucci et al., 2019; Xiong et al., 2021). Neutrophils promote carcinogenesis by inducing DNA damage and mutation through reactive oxygen species. They also play a role in the immunosuppression by the release of arginase-1, which inhibits CD3-mediated T cell activation and proliferation. This results in the creation of an acidic environment which inhibits the anticancer activity of T cells and NK cells. The cancer progression is promoted by the neutrophils and granulocyte through IL-1RA which eliminates senescence (Masucci et al., 2019; Xiong et al., 2021). A study discovered that increased neutrophil infiltration was at the center of metastasis of PDAC in the liver, lung, and stomach (Jiang et al., 2022). Studies have established that neutrophils mediate tumor metastasis by vascular epidermal growth factors (VEGF), transforming growth factor beta (TGF $\beta$ ), and tumor necrosis factor (TNF) (Jiang et al., 2022; Masucci et al., 2019; Patel et al., 2018; Y. Wang et al., 2018; Xiong et al., 2021). With our in-silico analysis we hypothesize that higher activities of TCs impact those innate immune pathways which are pro-tumorigenesis and that could have an impact on the OS of patients (Figure 4-5).

We also observed that TC 65, TC124, TC 145, TC 165, and TC 177 had higher expression of leptin gene (Supplementary Table 5). The result is concurrent with invitro studies of obesity, where it was shown that leptin induces the adiponectin expression (E. Hu et al., 1996; Makimura et al., 2002). A randomized clinical trial on weight gain in 44 patients showed a positive correlation between increase in adiponectin expression to leptin expression (Singh et al., 2016). However, a study in
breast cancer found that leptin expression is not associated with expression of adiponectin (Jardé et al., 2009).

Furthermore, our study from GSEA and genetICA analysis revealed that TCs of AdipoQ-TCs were majorly involved in lipid metabolism, innate immunity, DNA repair, and organ development (Table 4-3). AdipoQ is known to be an active player in lipid metabolism, and innate immunity (Ruan & Dong, 2016; Yamauchi et al., 2014). TC 145 captured the biology of innate immunity and lipid metabolism with multiple gene sets enriched in GOBP and Reactome, belonging to innate immunity as well as lipid metabolism (Supplementary Table 6 and Figure 4-3).

Random survival forest analysis showed that TC 99, TC 124, TC 140, TC 145, and TC 162 are significant classifiers. We observed that lower activity of TC 140, TC 99, TC 145, and TC 162 were associated with better OS of patients. Whereas higher activity of TC 124 was associated with better OS of patients. TC 140, TC 145, TC 99, and TC 162 showed biological function of innate immunity, and DNA repair pathways. DNA damage repair deficiency has already been shown to be associated with significantly better survival than patients with proficient DNA damage repair pathways independent of cancer subtypes (Zimmermann et al., 2021). Our result also shows that a lower or deficiency of DNA damage repair pathway could be better for the PAAD patient's OS. One of the innate immune pathways shown to be enriched in TC 145 is IL-4 and IL-13 signalling pathway (Supplementary Table 6). IL-4 is a known player in the tumor progression of PDAC. A prospective study of 287 PDAC patients found that IL-4 was significantly associated with worse disease-free survival (Piro et al., 2017). Our analysis also supports that lower the innate immunity pathways is better for PAAD patients OS.

We also checked for the top genes in these components and what is known about them in the literature. We found that in TC 140, four of the kallikrein (KLK) family of enzymes were upregulated. KLK 6, KLK7, KLK8, and KLK10 were upregulated (Supplementary Table 5). KLKs are a subgroup of serine proteases, enzymes capable of cleaving peptide bonds in proteins. KLKs encode a family of fifteen closely related serine proteases. KLKs are upregulated in pancreatic cancer and aberrant KLK levels are associated with poor prognosis (Iakovlev et al., 2012). KLK7positive staining is associated with almost a three-fold increase in mortality rate of patients with unresected PAAD (Iakovlev et al., 2012). Another study observed that higher expression of KLK6, KLK 7, and KLK 10 in PAAD patients were associated with poor OS and disease-free survival (Rückert et al., 2008). Aberrant upregulation of KLK10 promotes metastasis and was associated with poor prognosis, survival and tumor progression of PAAD patients (X.-Y. Cao et al., 2018). KLK7 was overexpressed in PAAD patients by 30 folds and was involved in tumor proliferation and migration (Du et al., 2018). Positive KLK8 staining was associated with the progression and poor survival of PAAD (Hua et al., 2021). KLKs have been shown to be associated with poor survival in oral cancer (H. Zhao et al., 2011), colorectal cancer (Alexopoulou et al., 2013; Inoue et al., 2010; Talieri et al., 2009), breast cancer (Talieri et al., 2004), and ovarian cancer (Kyriakopoulou et al., 2003). TC 140 had KLK6, KLK7, and KLK8 highly upregulated with their presence in the top 20 genes. Due to the aberrant upregulation of KLKs, there could be a plausible explanation for the higher activity of TC 140 associated with poor survival in OS Further investigation is needed to establish the role of KLKs and AdipoQ in pancreatic cancer.

## **Chapter 5: Conclusions**

The thesis elucidated in Chapter 2: the role of PTMs in TAAs as a platform for novel immune-oncology therapy. The future perspective of that chapter would focus on translating the success of many preclinical studies in citrullinated peptide as a vaccine in clinical settings. The start of the open-label pilot phase clinical trial of phosphorylated peptides in melanoma opens the arena for more clinical trials. These promising results suggest that in the future, we could be able to target cold tumors with vaccines having PTMs in TAAs.

I showed in Chapter 3: that lower expressions of AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 are better for survival and least aggressive tumors in multiple cancers. Further studies should be carried out to find the physiological and biological role of AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 in Thymoma, low-grade glioma, and Kidney renal papilloma. As there is limited literature on the presence of AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 in these tumors. A detailed investigation could open up a new arena of therapeutic targets in these cancers.

The final chapter of the thesis (Chapter 4:) focused on the transcriptomic landscape of AdipoQ and its receptors in pancreatic cancer. One of the key findings from this study is the presence of KLKs enzyme overexpression in TCs with AdipoR1 as an outlier. We should investigate in tumor model mice what happens when AdipoR1 is overexpressed, whether we are able to replicate the overexpression of KLKs in these mice models, and how the immune system behaves as well as over survival of the mice should be investigated. Our future studies should focus on analyzing the role of the top 20 genes in each AdipoQ-TCs found as significant classifiers of survival.

## References

- Abbafati, C., Abbas, K. M., Abbasi-Kangevari, M., Abd-Allah, F., Abdelalim, A., Abdollahi, M., Abdollahpour, I., Abegaz, K. H., Abolhassani, H., Aboyans, V., Abreu, L. G., Abrigo, M. R. M., Abualhasan, A., Abu-Raddad, L. J., Abushouk, A. I., Adabi, M., Adekanmbi, V., Adeoye, A. M., Adetokunboh, O. O., ... Amini, S. (2020). Global burden of 369 diseases and injuries in 204 countries and territories, 1990–2019: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. *The Lancet*, 396(10258), 1204–1222. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30925-9
- Abeshouse, A., Adebamowo, C., Adebamowo, S. N., Akbani, R., Akeredolu, T., Ally, A., Anderson, M. L., Anur, P., Appelbaum, E. L., Armenia, J., Auman, J. T., Bailey, M. H., Baker, L., Balasundaram, M., Balu, S., Barthel, F. P., Bartlett, J., Baylin, S. B., Behera, M., ... Zmuda, E. (2017). Comprehensive and Integrated Genomic Characterization of Adult Soft Tissue Sarcomas. *Cell*, *171*(4), 950-965.e28. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2017.10.014
- Akbulut, H., Tang, Y., Akbulut, K. G., Maynard, J., & Deisseroth, A. (2010). Addition of adenoviral vector targeting of chemotherapy to the MUC-1/ecdCD40L VPPP vector prime protein boost vaccine prolongs survival of mice carrying growing subcutaneous deposits of Lewis lung cancer cells. *Gene Therapy*, 17(11), 1333–1340. https://doi.org/10.1038/gt.2010.93
- Alexopoulou, D. K., Papadopoulos, I. N., & Scorilas, A. (2013). Clinical significance of kallikrein-related peptidase (KLK10) mRNA expression in colorectal cancer. *Clinical Biochemistry*, 46(15), 1453–1461.
- Alghamdi, M., Alasmari, D., Assiri, A., Mattar, E., Aljaddawi, A. A., Alattas, S. G., & Redwan, E. M. (2019). An Overview of the Intrinsic Role of Citrullination in Autoimmune Disorders. *Journal of Immunology Research*, 2019, 7592851. https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/7592851
- Aliotta, E., Nourzadeh, H., Batchala, P. P., Schiff, D., Lopes, M. B., Druzgal, J. T., Mukherjee, S., & Patel, S. H. (2019). Molecular subtype classification in lowergrade glioma with accelerated DTI. *American Journal of Neuroradiology*, 40(9), 1458–1463. https://doi.org/10.3174/ajnr.A6162

- Allfrey, V. G., Faulkner, R., & Mirsky, A. E. (1964). Acetylation and Methylation of Histones and Their Possible Role in the regulation of RNA synthesis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States Of*, 51(1938), 786–794. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.51.5.786
- Alpízar, A., Marino, F., Ramos-Fernández, A., Lombardía, M., Jeko, A., Pazos, F., Paradela, A., Santiago, C., Heck, A. J. R., & Marcilla, M. (2017). A Molecular Basis for the Presentation of Phosphorylated Peptides by HLA-B Antigens. *Molecular & Cellular Proteomics : MCP*, 16(2), 181–193. https://doi.org/10.1074/mcp.M116.063800
- An, W., Bai, Y., Deng, S. X., Gao, J., Ben, Q. W., Cai, Q. C., Zhang, H. G., & Li, Z.
  S. (2012). Adiponectin levels in patients with colorectal cancer and adenoma:
  A meta-analysis. *European Journal of Cancer Prevention*, 21(2), 126–133. https://doi.org/10.1097/CEJ.0b013e32834c9b55
- Anderton, S. M. (2004). Post-translational modifications of self antigens: Implications for autoimmunity. *Current Opinion in Immunology*, 16(6), 753– 758. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coi.2004.09.001
- Apostolopoulos, V., Karanikas, V., Haurum, J. S., & McKenzie, I. F. C. (1997). Induction of HLA-A2-Restricted CTLs to the Mucin 1 Human Breast Cancer Antigen. *Journal of Immunology*, 159(11), 5211–5218.
- Apostolopoulos, V., Pietersz, G. A., Gordon, S., Martinez-Pomares, L., & McKenzie, I. F. C. (2000). Aldehyde-mannan antigen complexes target the MHC class I antigen-presentation pathway. *European Journal of Immunology*, 30(6), 1714–1723.
- Apostolopoulos, V., Pietersz, G. A., Tsibanis, A., Tsikkinis, A., Drakaki, H., Loveland, B. E., Piddlesden, S. J., Plebanski, M., Pouniotis, D. S., Alexis, M. N., McKenzie, I. F., & Vassilaros, S. (2006). Pilot phase III immunotherapy study in early-stage breast cancer patients using oxidized mannan-MUC1 [ISRCTN71711835]. *Breast Cancer Research*, 8(3), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1186/bcr1505
- Arlen, P. M., Pazdur, M., Skarupa, L., Rauckhorst, M., & Gulley, J. L. (2006). A ramdomized phase II study of docetaxel alone or in combination with

PANVAC<sup>TM</sup>-V (Vaccinia) and PANVAC<sup>TM</sup>-F (Fowlpox) in patients with metastatic breast cancer (NCI 05-C-0229). *Clinical Breast Cancer*, 7(2), 176–179. https://doi.org/10.3816/CBC.2006.n.032

- Astashchanka, A., Shroka, T. M., & Jacobsen, B. M. (2019). Mucin 2 (MUC2) modulates the aggressiveness of breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment*, 173(2), 289–299.
- Audia, J. E., & Campbell, R. M. (2016). Histone modifications and cancer. Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology, 8(4), a019521.
- Babińska, A., Pęksa, R., Wiśniewski, P., & Sworczak, K. (2019). Expression of adiponectin receptors 1 and 2 and the leptin receptor in human adrenal tumors. *Archives of Medical Science*, 15(5), 1254–1260. https://doi.org/10.5114/aoms.2018.76142
- Ballehaninna, U. K., & Chamberlain, R. S. (2011). Serum CA 19-9 as a Biomarker for Pancreatic Cancer-A Comprehensive Review. *Indian Journal of Surgical Oncology*, 2(2), 88–100. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13193-011-0042-1
- Ballehaninna, U. K., & Chamberlain, R. S. (2012). The clinical utility of serum CA 19-9 in the diagnosis, prognosis and management of pancreatic adenocarcinoma: An evidence based appraisal. *Journal of Gastrointestinal Oncology*, 3(2), 105.
- Bao, Y., Giovannucci, E. L., Kraft, P., Stampfer, M. J., Ogino, S., Ma, J., Buring, J. E., Sesso, H. D., Lee, I. M., Gaziano, J. M., Rifai, N., Pollak, M. N., Cochrane, B. B., Kaklamani, V., Lin, J. H., Manson, J. E., Fuchs, C. S., & Wolpin, B. M. (2013). A prospective study of plasma adiponectin and pancreatic cancer risk in five US cohorts. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, *105*(2), 95–103. https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/djs474
- Barratt-Boyes, S. M., Vlad, A., & Finn, O. J. (1999). Immunization of chimpanzees with tumor antigen MUC1 mucin tandem repeat peptide elicits both helper and cytotoxic T-cell responses. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 5(7), 1918–1924.
- Beatty, P. L., Narayanan, S., Gariépy, J., Ranganathan, S., & Finn, O. J. (2010). Vaccine against MUC1 antigen expressed in inflammatory bowel disease and

cancer lessens colonic inflammation and prevents progression to colitisassociated colon cancer. *Cancer Prevention Research*, *3*(4), 438–446. https://doi.org/10.1158/1940-6207.CAPR-09-0194

- Blume-Jensen, P., & Hunter, T. (2001). Oncogenic kinase signalling. *Nature*, *411*(6835), 355–365.
- Boland, C. R., Montgomery, C. K., & Kim, Y. S. (1982). Alterations in human colonic mucin occurring with cellular differentiation and malignant transformation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 79(6 I), 2051–2055. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.79.6.2051
- Bondarev, A. D., Attwood, M. M., Jonsson, J., Chubarev, V. N., Tarasov, V. V, & Schiöth, H. B. (2021). Recent developments of HDAC inhibitors: Emerging indications and novel molecules. *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 87(12), 4577–4597.
- Brentville, V. A., Metheringham, R. L., Daniels, I., Atabani, S., Symonds, P., Cook,
  K. W., Vankemmelbeke, M., Choudhury, R., Vaghela, P., Gijon, M., Meiners,
  G., Krebber, W. J., Melief, C. J. M., Melief, C. J. M., Durrant, L. G., & Durrant,
  L. G. (2020). Combination vaccine based on citrullinated vimentin and enolase
  peptides induces potent CD4-mediated anti-tumor responses. *Journal for ImmunoTherapy of Cancer*, 8(1), 6–9. https://doi.org/10.1136/jitc-2020000560
- Brentville, V. A., Metheringham, R. L., Gunn, B., Symonds, P., Daniels, I., Gijon, M., Cook, K., Xue, W., & Durrant, L. G. (2016). Citrullinated vimentin presented on MHC-II in tumor cells is a target for CD4+ T-Cell-mediated antitumor immunity. *Cancer Research*, 76(3), 548–560. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-15-1085
- Brentville, V. A., Symonds, P., Cook, K. W., Daniels, I., Pitt, T., Gijon, M., Vaghela, P., Xue, W., Shah, S., Metheringham, R. L., & Durrant, L. G. (2019). T cell repertoire to citrullinated self-peptides in healthy humans is not confined to the HLA-DR SE alleles; Targeting of citrullinated self-peptides presented by HLA-DP4 for tumour therapy. *OncoImmunology*, 8(5), e1576490. https://doi.org/10.1080/2162402X.2019.1576490

- Brentville, V. A., Vankemmelbeke, M., Metheringham, R. L., & Durrant, L. G. (2020). Post-translational modifications such as citrullination are excellent targets for cancer therapy. *Seminars in Immunology*, 47(October 2019), 101393. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smim.2020.101393
- Briukhovetska, D., Dörr, J., Endres, S., Libby, P., Dinarello, C. A., & Kobold, S. (2021). Interleukins in cancer: from biology to therapy. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, 21(8), 481–499. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41568-021-00363-z
- Buitinga, M., Callebaut, A., Sodré, F. M. C., Crèvecoeur, I., Blahnik-Fagan, G., Yang, M. L., Bugliani, M., Arribas-Layton, D., Marré, M., Cook, D. P., Waelkens, E., Mallone, R., Piganelli, J. D., Marchetti, P., Mamula, M. J., Derua, R., James, E. A., Mathieu, C., & Overbergh, L. (2018). Inflammation-induced citrullinated glucose-regulated protein 78 elicits immune responses in human type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes*, 67(11), 2337–2348. https://doi.org/10.2337/db18-0295
- Butts, C., Socinski, M. A., Mitchell, P. L., Thatcher, N., Havel, L., Krzakowski, M., Nawrocki, S., Ciuleanu, T. E., Bosquée, L., Trigo, J. M., Spira, A., Tremblay, L., Nyman, J., Ramlau, R., Wickart-Johansson, G., Ellis, P., Gladkov, O., Pereira, J. R., Eberhardt, W. E. E., ... Shepherd, F. A. (2014). Tecemotide (L-BLP25) versus placebo after chemoradiotherapy for stage III non-small-cell lung cancer (START): A randomised, double-blind, phase 3 trial. *The Lancet Oncology*, *15*(1), 59–68. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1470-2045(13)70510-2
- Calcagno, D. Q., Wisnieski, F., Mota, E. R. da S., Maia de Sousa, S. B., Costa da Silva, J. M., Leal, M. F., Gigek, C. O., Santos, L. C., Rasmussen, L. T., & Assumpção, P. P. (2019). Role of histone acetylation in gastric cancer: implications of dietetic compounds and clinical perspectives. *Epigenomics*, *11*(3), 349–362.
- Cancerología, N. I. of. (2006). A Phase II Study of Epigenetic Therapy to Overcome Chemotherapy Resistance in Refractory Solid Tumors. Clinicaltrials.Gov. https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT00404508
- Cao, H. (2014). Adipocytokines in obesity and metabolic disease. *Journal of Endocrinology*, 220(2). https://doi.org/10.1530/JOE-13-0339

- Cao, X.-Y., Zhang, X.-X., Yang, M.-W., Hu, L.-P., Jiang, S.-H., Tian, G.-A., Zhu, L.-L., Li, Q., Sun, Y.-W., & Zhang, Z.-G. (2018). Aberrant upregulation of KLK10 promotes metastasis via enhancement of EMT and FAK/SRC/ERK axis in PDAC. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 499(3), 584–593.
- Capello, M., Caorsi, C., Bogantes Hernandez, P. J., Dametto, E., Bertinetto, F. E., Magistroni, P., Rendine, S., Amoroso, A., & Novelli, F. (2015). Phosphorylated alpha-enolase induces autoantibodies in HLA-DR8 pancreatic cancer patients and triggers HLA-DR8 restricted T-cell activation. *Immunology Letters*, 167(1), 11–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.imlet.2015.06.008
- Capello, M., Ferri-Borgogno, S., Cappello, P., & Novelli, F. (2011). α-enolase: A promising therapeutic and diagnostic tumor target. *FEBS Journal*, 278(7), 1064–1074. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1742-4658.2011.08025.x
- Cappello, P., Rolla, S., Chiarle, R., Principe, M., Cavallo, F., Perconti, G., Feo, S., Giovarelli, M., & Novelli, F. (2013). Vaccination with ENO1 DNA prolongs survival of genetically engineered mice with pancreatic cancer. *Gastroenterology*, 144(5), 1098–1106. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2013.01.020
- Cappello, P., Tomaino, B., Chiarle, R., Ceruti, P., Novarino, A., Castagnoli, C., Migliorini, P., Perconti, G., Giallongo, A., & Milella, M. (2009). An integrated humoral and cellular response is elicited in pancreatic cancer by α-enolase, a novel pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma-associated antigen. *International Journal of Cancer*, *125*(3), 639–648.
- Cappello, P., Tomaino, B., Chiarle, R., Ceruti, P., Novarino, A., Castagnoli, C., Migliorini, P., Perconti, G., Giallongo, A., Milella, M., Monsurrò, V., Barbi, S., Scarpa, A., Nisticò, P., Giovarelli, M., & Novelli, F. (2009). An integrated humoral and cellular response is elicited in pancreatic cancer by α-enolase, a novel pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma-associated antigen. *International Journal of Cancer*, *125*(3), 639–648. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.24355
- Carbon, S., Douglass, E., Good, B. M., Unni, D. R., Harris, N. L., Mungall, C. J., Basu, S., Chisholm, R. L., Dodson, R. J., Hartline, E., Fey, P., Thomas, P. D.,

Albou, L. P., Ebert, D., Kesling, M. J., Mi, H., Muruganujan, A., Huang, X., Mushayahama, T., ... Elser, J. (2021). The Gene Ontology resource: Enriching a GOld mine. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 49(D1), D325–D334. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkaa1113

- cbioportal. (n.d.). *Data retirval*. Retrieved May 15, 2020, from https://www.cbioportal.org
- Cerami et al. (2017). The CBio Cancer Genomics. *Cancer Discov.*, *32*(7), 736–740. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0178059
- Chang, M. C., Chang, Y. T., Su, T. C., Yang, W. S., Chen, C. L., Tien, Y. W., Liang, P. C., Wei, S. C., & Wong, J. M. (2007). Adiponectin as a potential differential marker to distinguish pancreatic cancer and chronic pancreatitis. *Pancreas*, 35(1), 16–21. https://doi.org/10.1097/MPA.0b013e3180547709
- Chang, S.-K., Dohrman, A. F., Basbaum, C. B., Ho, S. B., Tsuda, T., Toribara, N. W., Gum, J. R., & Kim, Y. S. (1994). Localization of mucin (MUC2 and MUC3) messenger RNA and peptide expression in human normal intestine and colon cancer. *Gastroenterology*, 107(1), 28–36.
- Chatterjee, B., & Thakur, S. S. (2018). Investigation of post-translational modifications in type 2 diabetes. *Clinical Proteomics*, 15(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12014-018-9208-y
- Chatterjee, S. (2021). A new coefficient of correlation. *Journal of the American Statistical Association*, *116*(536), 2009–2022.
- Chen, J., Du, M., Li, W. B., Lei, C., Yang, B., Tang, H. K., Zhai, Z. M., Ma, J. L., & Li, Q. (2009). The relationship between CD4 (-) CD8 (-) T cells in the peripheral blood of patients with pancreatic carcinoma and IL-4, IFN-gamma levels. *Zhonghua Wai Ke Za Zhi [Chinese Journal of Surgery]*, 47(13), 995–998.
- Choi, H. M., Doss, H. M., & Kim, K. S. (2020). Multifaceted physiological roles of adiponectin in inflammation and diseases. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 21(4). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21041219
- Choudhary, C., Kumar, C., Gnad, F., Nielsen, M. L., Rehman, M., Walther, T. C., Olsen, J. V, & Mann, M. (2009). Lysine Acetylation Targets Protein Complexes

and Co-Regulates Major Cellular Functions. *Science*, *325*(5942), 834–840. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1175371

- Choudhary, C., Weinert, B. T., Nishida, Y., Verdin, E., & Mann, M. (2014). The growing landscape of lysine acetylation links metabolism and cell signalling. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*, 15(8), 536–550.
- Cicenas, J., Kvederaviciute, K., Meskinyte, I., Meskinyte-Kausiliene, E., Skeberdyte, A., & Cicenas, J. (2017). KRAS, TP53, CDKN2A, SMAD4, BRCA1, and BRCA2 Mutations in Pancreatic Cancer. *Cancers*, 9(5). https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers9050042
- Cohen, P. (2002). The origins of protein phosphorylation. *Nature Cell Biology*, *4*(5), E127–E130.
- Conroy, T., Hammel, P., Hebbar, M., Ben Abdelghani, M., Wei, A. C., Raoul, J.-L., Choné, L., Francois, E., Artru, P., & Biagi, J. J. (2018). FOLFIRINOX or gemcitabine as adjuvant therapy for pancreatic cancer. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 379(25), 2395–2406.
- Cook, K., Daniels, I., Symonds, P., Pitt, T., Gijon, M., Xue, W., Metheringham, R., Durrant, L., & Brentville, V. (2018). Citrullinated α-enolase is an effective target for anti-cancer immunity. *OncoImmunology*, 7(2), e1390642. https://doi.org/10.1080/2162402X.2017.1390642
- Corporation, C. (2005). A Single Agent Phase II Study of Romidepsin (Depsipeptide, FK228) in the Treatment of Cutaneous T-cell Lymphoma (CTCL).
   Clinicaltrials.Gov. https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT00106431
- Craig L Slingluff, J. (2016). Evaluation of a Multi-phosphopeptide Vaccine Plus PolyICLC in Participants With High Risk and Advanced Malignancies (Mel59). Clinicaltrials.Gov. https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT01846143
- Dalamaga, M., Migdalis, I., Fargnoli, J. L., Papadavid, E., Bloom, E., Mitsiades, N.,
  Karmaniolas, K., Pelecanos, N., Tseleni-Balafouta, S., Dionyssiou-Asteriou,
  A., & Mantzoros, C. S. (2009). Pancreatic cancer expresses adiponectin
  receptors and is associated with hypoleptinemia and hyperadiponectinemia: A

case-control study. *Cancer Causes and Control*, 20(5), 625–633. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10552-008-9273-z

- Darrah, E., and Andrade, F. (2018). Rheumatoid arthritis and citrullination. *Current Opinion in Rheumatology*, *30*(1), 72–78.
- De Preter, K., Barriot, R., Speleman, F., Vandesompele, J., & Moreau, Y. (2008). Positional gene enrichment analysis of gene sets for high-resolution identification of overrepresented chromosomal regions. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 36(7). https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkn114
- Depontieu, F. R., Qian, J., Zarling, A. L., Mcmiller, T. L., Salay, T. M., Norris, A., Michelle English, A., Shabanowitz, J., Engelhard, V. H., Hunt, D. F., Topalian, S. L., English, A. M., Shabanowitz, J., Engelhard, V. H., Hunt, D. F., & Topalian, S. L. (2009). Identification of tumor-associated, MHC class IIrestricted phosphopeptides as targets for immunotherapy. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 106(29), 12073– 12078. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0903852106
- Du, J. P., Li, L., Zheng, J., Zhang, D., Liu, W., Zheng, W. H., Li, X. S., Yao, R. C., Wang, F., Liu, S., & Tan, X. (2018). Kallikrein-related peptidase 7 is a potential target for the treatment of pancreatic cancer. *Oncotarget*, 9(16), 12894–12906. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.24132
- Ehsanian, R., Brown, M., Lu, H., Yang, X. P., Pattatheyil, A., Yan, B., Duggal, P., Chuang, R., Doondeea, J., & Feller, S. (2010). YAP dysregulation by phosphorylation or ΔNp63-mediated gene repression promotes proliferation, survival and migration in head and neck cancer subsets. *Oncogene*, 29(46), 6160–6171.

Eichler, J. (2019). Protein glycosylation. Current Biology, 29(7), R229-R231.

Engelhard, V. H., Altrich-Vanlith, M., Ostankovitch, M., & Zarling, A. L. (2006).
Post-translational modifications of naturally processed MHC-binding epitopes. *Current Opinion in Immunology*, 18(1), 92–97.
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coi.2005.11.015

- Engelhard, V. H., Obeng, R. C., Cummings, K. L., Petroni, G. R., Ambakhutwala, A. L., Chianese-Bullock, K. A., Smith, K. T., Lulu, A., Varhegyi, N., Smolkin, M. E., Myers, P., Mahoney, K. E., Shabanowitz, J., Buettner, N., Hall, E. H., Haden, K., Cobbold, M., Hunt, D. F., Weiss, G., ... Slingluff, C. L. (2020). MHC-restricted phosphopeptide antigens: Preclinical validation and first-in-humans clinical trial in participants with high-risk melanoma. *Journal for ImmunoTherapy of Cancer*, 8(1), e000262. https://doi.org/10.1136/jitc-2019-000262
- Fiedler, W., Dedosso, S., Cresta, S., Weidmann, J., Tessari, A., Salzberg, M., Dietrich, B., Baumeister, H., Goletz, S., Gianni, L., & Sessa, C. (2016). A phase i study of PankoMab-GEX, a humanised glyco-optimised monoclonal antibody to a novel tumour-specific MUC1 glycopeptide epitope in patients with advanced carcinomas. *European Journal of Cancer*, 63, 55–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejca.2016.05.003
- Formentini, A., Prokopchuk, O., Sträter, J., Kleeff, J., Grochola, L. F., Leder, G., Henne-Bruns, D., Korc, M., & Kornmann, M. (2009). Interleukin-13 exerts autocrine growth-promoting effects on human pancreatic cancer, and its expression correlates with a propensity for lymph node metastases. *International Journal of Colorectal Disease*, 24, 57–67.
- Fortner, R. T., Damms-Machado, A., & Kaaks, R. (2017). Systematic review: Tumor-associated antigen autoantibodies and ovarian cancer early detection. *Gynecologic* Oncology, 147(2), 465–480. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygyno.2017.07.138
- Fung, P. Y. S., Madej, M., Longenecker, B. M., Koganty, R. R., & Longenecker, B. M. (1990). Active Specific Immunotherapy of a Murine Mammary Adenocarcinoma Using a Synthetic Tumor-associated Glycoconjugate. *Cancer Research*, 50(14), 4308–4314.
- Gabitass, R. F., Annels, N. E., Stocken, D. D., Pandha, H. A., & Middleton, G. W. (2011). Elevated myeloid-derived suppressor cells in pancreatic, esophageal and gastric cancer are an independent prognostic factor and are associated with significant elevation of the Th2 cytokine interleukin-13. *Cancer Immunology, Immunotherapy*, 60, 1419–1430.

- Gabitzsch, E. S., Tsang, K. Y., Palena, C., David, J. M., Fantini, M., Kwilas, A., Rice, A. E., Latchman, Y., Hodge, J. W., Gulley, J. L., Madan, R. A., Heery, C. R., Balint, J. P., Jones, F. R., & Schlom, J. (2015). The generation and analyses of a novel combination of recombinant adenovirus vaccines targeting three tumor antigens as an immunotherapeutic. *Oncotarget*, *6*(31), 31344–31359. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.5181
- Gallagher, Emily J., D. L. (2022). Obesity and cancer. *Cancer and Metastasis Reviews*. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1007/s10555-022-10049-z
- Gao, J., Aksoy, B. A., Dogrusoz, U., Dresdner, G., Gross, B., Sumer, S. O., Sun, Y., Jacobsen, A., Sinha, R., Larsson, E., Cerami, E., Sander, C., & Schultz, N. (2013). Integrative analysis of complex cancer genomics and clinical profiles using the cBioPortal. *Science Signaling*, 6(269), 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1126/scisignal.2004088
- García-Labastida, L., Garza-Guajardo, R., Barboza-Quintana, O., Rodríguez-Sanchez, I. P., Ancer-Rodríguez, J., Flores-Gutierrez, J. P., & Gómez-Macías, G. S. (2014). CDX-2, MUC-2 and B-catenin as intestinal markers in pure mucinous carcinoma of the breast. *Biological Research*, 47(1), 43.
- Gariballa, S., Alkaabi, J., Yasin, J., & Al Essa, A. (2019). Total adiponectin in overweight and obese subjects and its response to visceral fat loss. BMC Endocrine Disorders, 19(1), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12902-019-0386-z
- Gautam, S. K., Kumar, S., Dam, V., Ghersi, D., Jain, M., & Batra, S. K. (2020). MUCIN-4 (MUC4) is a novel tumor antigen in pancreatic cancer immunotherapy. *Seminars in Immunology*, 47, 101391. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smim.2020.101391
- Gillespie, M., Jassal, B., Stephan, R., Milacic, M., Rothfels, K., Senff-Ribeiro, A., Griss, J., Sevilla, C., Matthews, L., Gong, C., Deng, C., Varusai, T., Ragueneau, E., Haider, Y., May, B., Shamovsky, V., Weiser, J., Brunson, T., Sanati, N., ... D'Eustachio, P. (2022). The reactome pathway knowledgebase 2022. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 50(D1), D687–D692. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkab1028
- Gnjatic, S., Nishikawa, H., Jungbluth, A. A., Güre, A. O., Ritter, G., Jäger, E., Knuth, A., Chen, Y., & Old, L. J. B. T.-A. in C. R. (2006). *NY-ESO-1: Review of an*

*Immunogenic Tumor Antigen* (Vol. 95, pp. 1–30). Academic Press. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-230X(06)95001-5

- Goydos, J. S., Elder, E., Whiteside, T. L., Finn, O. J., & Lotze, M. T. (1996). A phase I trial of a synthetic mucin peptide vaccine: Induction of specific immune reactivity in patients with adenocarcinoma. *Journal of Surgical Research*, 63(1), 298–304. https://doi.org/10.1006/jsre.1996.0264
- Gray, H. J., Benigno, B., Berek, J., Chang, J., Mason, J., Mileshkin, L., Mitchell, P., Moradi, M., Recio, F. O., Michener, C. M., Secord, A. A., Tchabo, N. E., Chan, J. K., Young, J., Kohrt, H., Gargosky, S. E., & Goh, J. C. (2016). Progression-free and overall survival in ovarian cancer patients treated with CVac, a mucin 1 dendritic cell therapy in a randomized phase 2 trial. *Journal for ImmunoTherapy of Cancer*, 4(1), 34. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40425-016-0137-x
- Grote, V. A., Rohrmann, S., Dossus, L., Nieters, A., Halkjær, J., Tjønneland, A., Overvad, K., Stegger, J., Chabbert-Buffet, N., Boutron-Ruault, M. C., Clavel-Chapelon, F., Teucher, B., Becker, S., Montonen, J., Boeing, H., Trichopoulou, A., Lagiou, P., Trichopoulos, D., Palli, D., ... Kaaks, R. (2012). The association of circulating adiponectin levels with pancreatic cancer risk: A study within the prospective EPIC cohort. *International Journal of Cancer*, *130*(10), 2428–2437. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.26244
- Gulley, J. L., Arlen, P. M., Tsang, K. Y., Yokokawa, J., Palena, C., Poole, D. J., Remondo, C., Cereda, V., Jones, J. L., Pazdur, M. P., Higgins, J. P., Hodge, J. W., Steinberg, S. M., Kotz, H., Dahut, W. L., & Schlom, J. (2008). Pilot study of vaccination with recombinant CEA-MUC-1-tric0m pox viral-based vaccines in patients with metastatic carcinoma. *Clinical Cancer Research*, *14*(10), 3060– 3069. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-08-0126
- Guo, P., Chen, W., Li, H., Li, M., & Li, L. (2018). The histone acetylation modifications of breast cancer and their therapeutic implications. *Pathology & Oncology Research*, 24(4), 807–813.
- Gutiérrez-cuevas, J., Sandoval-rodriguez, A., Meza-rios, A., Monroy-ramírez, H. C., Galicia-moreno, M., García-bañuelos, J., Santos, A., & Armendariz-borunda, J.

(2021). Molecular mechanisms of obesity-linked cardiac dysfunction: An update on current knowledge. *Cells*, *10*(3), 1–28. https://doi.org/10.3390/cells10030629

- Haen, S. P., Löffler, M. W., Rammensee, H.-G., & Brossart, P. (2020). Towards new horizons: characterization, classification and implications of the tumour antigenic repertoire. *Nature Reviews Clinical Oncology*, 17(10), 595–610.
- Hanski, C., Hofmeier, M., Schmitt-Gräff, A., Riede, E., Hanski, M. L., Borchard, F., Sieber, E., Niedobitek, F., Foss, H., & Stein, H. (1997). Overexpression or ectopic expression of MUC2 is the common property of mucinous carcinomas of the colon, pancreas, breast, and ovary. *The Journal of Pathology: A Journal* of the Pathological Society of Great Britain and Ireland, 182(4), 385–391.
- Hasegawa, H., Komoda, M., Yamada, Y., Yonezawa, S., Tsutsumida, H., Nagai, K., Atogami, S., Tsuruda, K., Osaka, A., & Sasaki, D. (2011). Aberrant overexpression of membrane-associated mucin contributes to tumor progression in adult T-cell leukemia/lymphoma cells. *Leukemia & Lymphoma*, 52(6), 1108–1117.
- Hayashi, A., Hong, J., & Iacobuzio-Donahue, C. A. (2021). The pancreatic cancer genome revisited. *Nature Reviews Gastroenterology and Hepatology*, 18(7), 469–481. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41575-021-00463-z
- Heery, C. R., Ibrahim, N. K., Arlen, P. M., Mohebtash, M., Murray, J. L., Koenig, K., Madan, R. A., McMahon, S., Marté, J. L., Steinberg, S. M., Donahue, R. N., Grenga, I., Jochems, C., Farsaci, B., Folio, L. R., Schlom, J., & Gulley, J. L. (2015). Docetaxel alone or in combination with a therapeutic cancer vaccine (PANVAC) in patients with metastatic breast cancer: A Randomized Clinical Trial. *JAMA Oncology*, *1*(8), 1087–1095. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaoncol.2015.2736
- Hermann, J., Schurgers, L., & Jankowski, V. (2022). Identification and characterization of post-translational modifications: Clinical implications. *Molecular Aspects of Medicine*, 86, 101066.
- Hoadley, K. A., Yau, C., Hinoue, T., Wolf, D. M., Lazar, A. J., Drill, E., Shen, R., Taylor, A. M., Cherniack, A. D., Thorsson, V., Akbani, R., Bowlby, R., Wong,

C. K., Wiznerowicz, M., Sanchez-Vega, F., Robertson, A. G., Schneider, B. G., Lawrence, M. S., Noushmehr, H., ... Laird, P. W. (2018). Cell-of-Origin Patterns Dominate the Molecular Classification of 10,000 Tumors from 33 Types of Cancer. *Cell*, *173*(2), 291-304.e6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2018.03.022

- Hollingsworth, R. E., & Jansen, K. (2019). Turning the corner on therapeutic cancer vaccines. *Npj Vaccines*, 4(1), 7.
- Hortobagyi, G. N., Edge, S. B., & Giuliano, A. (2018). New and Important Changes in the TNM Staging System for Breast Cancer. *American Society of Clinical Oncology Educational Book*, 38, 457–467. https://doi.org/10.1200/edbk\_201313
- Hospital, J. W. G. U. (2011). Phase I/II Study With Oral Panobinostat Maintenance Therapy Following Allogeneic Stem Cell Transplantation in Patients With High Risk Myelodysplastic Syndrome (MDS) or Acute Myeloid Leukemia (AML). Clinicaltrials.Gov. http://clinicaltrials.gov/show/NCT01451268
- Hu, E., Liang, P., & Spiegelman, B. M. (1996). AdipoQ Is a Novel Adipose-specific Gene Dysregulated in Obesity (\*). *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 271(18), 10697–10703.
- Hu, L. N., Su, W., Guo, X. Z., Xu, T., Wang, H., & Yu, M. H. (2021). Prognostic role of MUC-2 expression in patients with gastric carcinoma: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci*, 25(10), 3700–3708.
- Hu, M., He, F., Thompson, E. W., Ostrikov, K., & Dai, X. (2022). Lysine acetylation, cancer hallmarks and emerging onco-therapeutic opportunities. *Cancers*, 14(2), 346.
- Hu, Y., Zheng, M., Zhang, D., Gou, R., Liu, O., Wang, S., & Lin, B. (2021).
  Identification of the prognostic value of a 2-gene signature of the WNT gene family in UCEC using bioinformatics and real-world data. *Cancer Cell International*, 21(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12935-021-02215-0
- Hua, Q., Li, T., Liu, Y., Shen, X., Zhu, X., & Xu, P. (2021). Upregulation of KLK8 predicts poor prognosis in pancreatic cancer. *Frontiers in Oncology*, 11.

- Iakovlev, V., Siegel, E. R., Tsao, M.-S., & Haun, R. S. (2012). Expression of Kallikrein-Related Peptidase 7 Predicts Poor Prognosis in Patients with Unresectable Pancreatic Ductal AdenocarcinomaExpression of KLK7 in Pancreatic Ductal Adenocarcinoma. *Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers & Prevention*, 21(7), 1135–1142.
- Inoue, Y., Yokobori, T., Yokoe, T., Toiyama, Y., Miki, C., Mimori, K., Mori, M., & Kusunoki, M. (2010). Clinical significance of human kallikrein7 gene expression in colorectal cancer. *Annals of Surgical Oncology*, 17(11), 3037– 3042.
- Itzkowitz SH, Yuan M, Montgomery CK, Kjeldsen T, Takahashi HK, Bigbee WL, K. Y. (1989). Expression of Tn, sialosyl-Tn, and T antigens in human colon cancer. *Cancer Res.*, 49(1), 197–203.
- Jardé, T., Caldefie-Chézet, F., Goncalves-Mendes, N., Mishellany, F., Buechler, C., Penault-Llorca, F., & Vasson, M.-P. (2009). Involvement of adiponectin and leptin in breast cancer: clinical and in vitro studies. *Endocrine-Related Cancer*, 16(4), 1197–1210.
- Jiang, S.-H., Liu, D., Hu, L.-P., Zhang, S., Yu, Y., Sun, Y.-W., Ji, J., & Zhang, Z.-G. (2022). Modeling of cancer-related body-wide effects identifies LTB4 as a diagnostic biomarker for pancreatic cancer. *EBioMedicine*, 80, 104050.
- Joshi, R. K., Kim, W. J., & Lee, S. A. (2014). Association between obesity-related adipokines and colorectal cancer: A case-control study and meta-analysis. *World Journal of Gastroenterology*, 20(24), 7941–7949. https://doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v20.i24.7941
- Kanehisa, M., Furumichi, M., Sato, Y., Ishiguro-Watanabe, M., & Tanabe, M. (2021). KEGG: Integrating viruses and cellular organisms. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 49(D1), D545–D551. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkaa970
- Karanikas, V., Hwang, L. A., Pearson, J., Ong, C. S., Apostolopoulos, V., Vaughan, H., Xing, P. X., Jamieson, G., Pietersz, G., Tait, B., Broadbent, R., Thynne, G., & McKenzie, I. F. C. (1997). Antibody and T cell responses of patients with adenocarcinoma immunized with mannan-MUC1 fusion protein. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *100*(11), 2783–2792. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI119825

- Kashiwagi, E., Abe, T., Kinoshita, F., Ushijima, M., Masaoka, H., Shiota, M., Netto, G. J., Eto, M., & Miyamoto, H. (2020). The role of adipocytokines and their receptors in bladder cancer: Expression of adiponectin or leptin is an independent prognosticator. *American Journal of Translational Research*, 12(6), 3033–3045. https://doi.org/10.1016/s2666-1683(20)32677-x
- Katayama, H., Kobayashi, M., Irajizad, E., Sevillarno, A., Patel, N., Mao, X., Rusling, L., Vykoukal, J., Cai, Y., Hsiao, F., Yu, C. Y., Long, J., Liu, J., Esteva, F., Fahrmann, J., & Hanash, S. (2021). Protein citrullination as a source of cancer neoantigens. *Journal for ImmunoTherapy of Cancer*, 9(6), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1136/jitc-2021-002549
- Katira, A., & Tan, P. H. (2016). Evolving role of adiponectin in cancer-controversies and update. *Cancer Biology and Medicine*, 13(1), 101–119. https://doi.org/10.28092/j.issn.2095-3941.2015.0092
- Kim, S. C., Sprung, R., Chen, Y., Xu, Y., Ball, H., Pei, J., Cheng, T., Kho, Y., Xiao, H., Xiao, L., Grishin, N. V., White, M., Yang, X. J., & Zhao, Y. (2006).
  Substrate and Functional Diversity of Lysine Acetylation Revealed by a Proteomics Survey. *Molecular Cell*, 23(4), 607–618. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2006.06.026
- Kimura, T., McKolanis, J. R., Dzubinski, L. A., Islam, K., Potter, D. M., Salazar, A. M., Schoen, R. E., & Finn, O. J. (2013). MUC1 vaccine for individuals with advanced adenoma of the colon: A cancer immunoprevention feasibility study. *Cancer Prevention Research*, 6(1), 18–26. https://doi.org/10.1158/1940-6207.CAPR-12-0275
- Kirwan, A., Utratna, M., O'Dwyer, M. E., Joshi, L., & Kilcoyne, M. (2015). Glycosylation-Based Serum Biomarkers for Cancer Diagnostics and Prognostics. *BioMed Research International*, 2015, 490531. https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/490531
- Köhler, S., Gargano, M., Matentzoglu, N., Carmody, L. C., Lewis-Smith, D.,
  Vasilevsky, N. A., Danis, D., Balagura, G., Baynam, G., Brower, A. M.,
  Callahan, T. J., Chute, C. G., Est, J. L., Galer, P. D., Ganesan, S., Griese, M.,
  Haimel, M., Pazmandi, J., Hanauer, M., ... Robinson, P. N. (2021). The human

phenotype ontology in 2021. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 49(D1), D1207–D1217. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkaa1043

- Körner, A., Wabitsch, M., Seidel, B., Fischer-Posovszky, P., Berthold, A., Stumvoll, M., Blüher, M., Kratzsch, J., & Kiess, W. (2005). Adiponectin expression in humans is dependent on differentiation of adipocytes and down-regulated by humoral serum components of high molecular weight. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 337(2), 540–550. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2005.09.064
- Kumai, T., Ishibashi, K., Oikawa, K., Matsuda, Y., Aoki, N., Kimura, S., Hayashi, S., Kitada, M., Harabuchi, Y., Celis, E., & Kobayashi, H. (2014). Induction of tumor-reactive T helper responses by a posttranslational modified epitope from tumor protein p53. *Cancer Immunology, Immunotherapy*, *63*(5), 469–478. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00262-014-1533-z
- Kyriakopoulou, L. G., Yousef, G. M., Scorilas, A., Katsaros, D., Massobrio, M., Fracchioli, S., & Diamandis, E. P. (2003). Prognostic value of quantitatively assessed KLK7 expression in ovarian cancer. *Clinical Biochemistry*, 36(2), 135–143.
- Lakshmanan, I., Ponnusamy, M. P., Macha, M. A., Haridas, D., Majhi, P. D., Kaur, S., Jain, M., Batra, S. K., & Ganti, A. K. (2015). Mucins in lung cancer: diagnostic, prognostic, and therapeutic implications. *Journal of Thoracic Oncology*, 10(1), 19–27.
- Le Naour, F., Brichory, F., Beretta, L., & Hanash, S. M. (2002). Identification of tumor-associated antigens using proteomics. *Technology in Cancer Research & Treatment*, 1(4), 257–262.
- Lee, K. K., & Workman, J. L. (2007). Histone acetyltransferase complexes: One size doesn't fit all. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*, 8(4), 284–295. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm2145
- Lepisto, A. J., Moser, A. J., Zeh, H., Lee, K., Bartlett, D., McKolanis, J. R., Geller,B. A., Schmotzer, A., Potter, D. P., Whiteside, T., Finn, O. J., & Ramanathan,R. K. (2008). A phase I/II study of a MUC1 peptide pulsed autologous dendritic

cell vaccine as adjuvant therapy in patients with resected pancreatic and biliary tumors. *Cancer Therapy*, *6*(8), 955–964.

- Lesuffleur, T., Porchet, N., Aubert, J.-P., Swallow, D., Gum, J. R., Kim, Y. S., Real, F. X., & Zweibaum, A. (1993). Differential expression of the human mucin genes MUC1 to MUC5 in relation to growth and differentiation of different mucus-secreting HT-29 cell subpopulations. *Journal of Cell Science*, 106(3), 771–783.
- Li, C., Zuo, D., Yin, L., Lin, Y., Li, C., Liu, T., & Wang, L. (2018). Prognostic value of MUC2 expression in colorectal cancer: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Gastroenterology Research and Practice*, 2018, 6986870.
- Li, Q., Feng, Z., Miao, R., Liu, X., Liu, C., & Liu, Z. (2022). Prognosis and survival analysis of patients with pancreatic cancer: retrospective experience of a single institution. *World Journal of Surgical Oncology*, 20(1), 1–16.
- Li, T., Liu, M., Feng, X., Wang, Z., Das, I., Xu, Y., Zhou, X., Sun, Y., Guan, K. L., Xiong, Y., & Lei, Q. Y. (2014). Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate Dehydrogenase is activated by Lysine 254 Acetylation in response to Glucose signal. *Journal* of Biological Chemistry, 289(6), 3775–3785. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M113.531640
- Li, T., Zhang, C., Hassan, S., Liu, X., Song, F., Chen, K., Zhang, W., & Yang, J. (2018). Histone deacetylase 6 in cancer. *Journal of Hematology & Oncology*, *11*(1), 111.
- Li, Y., Depontieu, F. R., Sidney, J., Salay, T. M., Engelhard, V. H., Hunt, D. F., Sette, A., Topalian, S. L., & Mariuzza, R. A. (2010). Structural basis for the presentation of tumor-associated MHC class II-restricted phosphopeptides to CD4+ T cells. *Journal of Molecular Biology*, 399(4), 596–603. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmb.2010.04.037
- Liberzon, A., Birger, C., Thorvaldsdóttir, H., Ghandi, M., Mesirov, J. P., & Tamayo,
  P. (2015). The Molecular Signatures Database Hallmark Gene Set Collection. *Cell Systems*, 1(6), 417–425. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cels.2015.12.004

- Liberzon, A., Subramanian, A., Pinchback, R., Thorvaldsdóttir, H., Tamayo, P., & Mesirov, J. P. (2011). Molecular signatures database (MSigDB) 3.0. *Bioinformatics*, 27(12), 1739–1740. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btr260
- Lim, J.-M., Wollaston-Hayden, E. E., Teo, C. F., Hausman, D., & Wells, L. (2014). Quantitative secretome and glycome of primary human adipocytes during insulin resistance. *Clinical Proteomics*, 11(1), 20.
- Limacher, J. M., & Quoix, E. (2012). TG4010: A therapeutic vaccine against MUC1 expressing tumors. *OncoImmunology*, *1*(5), 791–792. https://doi.org/10.4161/onci.19863
- Lin, C. J., Chang, Y. C., Cheng, T. Y., Lo, K., Liu, S. J., & Yeh, T. L. (2020). The association between metabolically healthy obesity and risk of cancer: A systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *Obesity Reviews*, 21(10), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1111/obr.13049
- Lin, M.-H., Shen, K.-Y., Liu, B.-S., Chen, I.-H., Sher, Y.-P., Tseng, G.-C., Liu, S.-J., & Sung, W.-C. (2019). Immunological evaluation of a novel HLA-A2 restricted phosphopeptide of tumor associated Antigen, TRAP1, on cancer therapy. *Vaccine: X, 1, 100017.* https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvacx.2019.100017
- Liu, C.-Y., Xu, J.-Y., Shi, X.-Y., Huang, W., Ruan, T.-Y., Xie, P., & Ding, J.-L. (2013). M2-polarized tumor-associated macrophages promoted epithelial– mesenchymal transition in pancreatic cancer cells, partially through TLR4/IL-10 signaling pathway. *Laboratory Investigation*, 93(7), 844–854.
- Liu, S., Chang, W., Jin, Y., Feng, C., Wu, S., He, J., & Xu, T. (2019). The function of histone acetylation in cervical cancer development. *Bioscience Reports*, 39(4), BSR20190527.
- Liu, X., Sun, Q., Hou, H., Zhu, K., Wang, Q., Liu, H., Zhang, Q., Ji, L., & Li, D. (2018). The association between BMI and kidney cancer risk. *Medicine*, 97(44), e12860. https://doi.org/10.1097/md.000000000012860

- Liu, Y., Zhao, Q., Xu, F., Wang, K., Zhao, Y., Chen, H., He, W., Wang, W., Zhang, J., & Zhang, J. (2021). Dysregulation of phosphoproteins in hepatocellular carcinoma revealed via quantitative analysis of the phosphoproteome. *Oncology Letters*, 21(2), 117.
- Longenecker, B. M., Reddish, M., Koganty, R., & Maclean, G. D. (1993). Immune Responses of Mice and Human Breast Cancer Patients following Immunization with Synthetic Sialyl-Tn Conjugated to KLH Plus Detox Adjuvant. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 690(1), 276–291. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.1993.tb44016.x
- Loveland, B. E., Zhao, A., White, S., Gan, H., Hamilton, K., Xing, P. X., Pietersz, G. A., Apostolopoulos, V., Vaughan, H., Karanikas, V., Kyriakou, P., McKenzie, I. F. C., & Mitchell, P. L. R. (2006). Mannan-MUC1 Pulsed dendritic cell immunotherapy: A phase I trial in patients with adenocarcinoma. *Clinical Cancer Research*, *12*(3 I), 869–877. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-05-1574
- Luo, J. (2021). KRAS mutation in pancreatic cancer. *Seminars in Oncology*, 48(1), 10–18. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.seminoncol.2021.02.003
- Lv, L., Xu, Y. P., Zhao, D., Li, F. L., Wang, W., Sasaki, N., Jiang, Y., Zhou, X., Li, T. T., Guan, K. L., Lei, Q. Y., & Xiong, Y. (2013). Mitogenic and Oncogenic Stimulation of K433 Acetylation Promotes PKM2 Protein Kinase Activity and Nuclear Localization. *Molecular Cell*, 52(3), 340–352. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2013.09.004
- MacLean, G. D., Reddish, M. A., Koganty, R. R., & Longenecker, B. M. (1996).
  Antibodies against mucin-associated sialyl-Tn epitopes correlate with survival of metastatic adenocarcinoma patients undergoing active specific immunotherapy with synthetic STn vaccine. *Journal of Immunotherapy with Emphasis on Tumor Immunology*, 19(1), 59–68. https://doi.org/10.1097/00002371-199601000-00007
- MacLean GD, Bowen-Yacyshyn MB, Samuel J, Meikle A, Stuart G, Nation J, Poppema S, Jerry M, Koganty R, Wong T, et al. (1992). Active Immunization of Human Ovarian Cancer Patients Against a Common Carcinoma (Thomsen–

Friedenreich) Determinant Using a Synthetic Carbohydrate Antigen. *J Immunother*, 11(4), 292–305. https://doi.org/10.1097/00002371-199205000-00008.

- Madan, R. A., Arlen, P. M., & Gulley, J. L. (2007). PANVAC<sup>TM</sup>-VF: Poxviral-based vaccine therapy targeting CEA and MUC1 in carcinoma. *Expert Opinion on Biological Therapy*, 7(4), 543–554. https://doi.org/10.1517/14712598.7.4.543
- Makimura, H., Mizuno, T. M., Bergen, H., & Mobbs, C. V. (2002). Adiponectin is stimulated by adrenalectomy in ob/ob mice and is highly correlated with resistin mRNA. *American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 283(6), E1266–E1271.
- Mandili, G., Follia, L., Ferrero, G., Katayama, H., Hong, W., Momin, A. A., Capello, M., Giordano, D., Spadi, R., Satolli, M. A., Evangelista, A., Hanash, S. M., Cordero, F., & Novelli, F. (2020). Immune-complexome analysis identifies immunoglobulin-bound biomarkers that predict the response to chemotherapy of pancreatic cancer patients. *Cancers*, *12*(3), 746. https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers12030746
- Martens, M., Ammar, A., Riutta, A., Waagmeester, A., Slenter, D. N., Hanspers, K.,
  Miller, R. A., Digles, D., Lopes, E. N., Ehrhart, F., Dupuis, L. J., Winckers, L.
  A., Coort, S. L., Willighagen, E. L., Evelo, C. T., Pico, A. R., & Kutmon, M.
  (2021). WikiPathways: Connecting communities. *Nucleic Acids Research*,
  49(D1), D613–D621. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkaa1024
- Masucci, M. T., Minopoli, M., & Carriero, M. V. (2019). Tumor Associated Neutrophils. Their Role in Tumorigenesis, Metastasis, Prognosis and Therapy. *Frontiers in Oncology*, 9(November), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2019.01146
- McIntire, M. G., Soucy, G., Vaughan, T. L., Shahsafaei, A., & Odze, R. D. (2011). MUC2 is a highly specific marker of goblet cell metaplasia in the distal esophagus and gastroesophageal junction. *The American Journal of Surgical Pathology*, 35(7), 1007–1013.

- MercK. (n.d.). Cancer Vaccine Study for Stage III, Unresectable, Non-small Cell Lung Cancer (NSCLC) in the Asian Population (INSPIRE). Retrieved June 15, 2021, from https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT01015443
- Mereiter, S., Balmaña, M., Campos, D., Gomes, J., & Reis, C. A. (2019). Glycosylation in the Era of Cancer-Targeted Therapy: Where Are We Heading? *Cancer Cell*, 36(1), 6–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccell.2019.06.006
- Michael Luebbert, U. H. F. (2016). Study of Decitabine Alone or in Combination With Valproic Acid and All-trans Retinoic Acid in Acute Myeloid Leukemia (DECIDER).
   Clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT00867672
- Miles, D., Roché, H., Martin, M., Perren, T. J., Cameron, D. A., Glaspy, J., Dodwell, D., Parker, J., Mayordomo, J., Tres, A., Murray, J. L., & Ibrahim, N. K. (2011).
  Phase III Multicenter Clinical Trial of the Sialyl-TN (STn)-Keyhole Limpet Hemocyanin (KLH) Vaccine for Metastatic Breast Cancer. *The Oncologist*, *16*(8), 1092–1100. https://doi.org/10.1634/theoncologist.2010-0307
- Mitchell, P. L. R. L., Quinn, M. A., Grant, P. T., Allen, D. G., Jobling, T. W., White, S. C., Zhao, A., Karanikas, V., Vaughan, H., Pietersz, G., McKenzie, I. F. C. F., Gargosky, S. E., & Loveland, B. E. (2014). A phase 2, single-arm study of an autologous dendritic cell treatment against mucin 1 in patients with advanced epithelial ovarian cancer. *Journal for ImmunoTherapy of Cancer*, *2*(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1186/2051-1426-2-16
- Mizrahi, J. D., Surana, R., Valle, J. W., & Shroff, R. T. (2020). Pancreatic cancer. *The Lancet*, 395(10242), 2008–2020. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30974-0
- Mohebtash, M., Tsang, K. Y., Madan, R. A., Huen, N. Y., Poole, D. J., Jochems, C., Jones, J., Ferrara, T., Heery, C. R., Arlen, P. M., Steinberg, S. M., Pazdur, M., Rauckhorst, M., Jones, E. C., Dahut, W. L., Schlom, J., & Gulley, J. L. (2011). A pilot study of MUC-1/CEA/TRICOM poxviral-based vaccine in patients with metastatic breast and ovarian cancer. *Clinical Cancer Research*, *17*(22), 7164–7173. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-11-0649

- Morton, J. P., Timpson, P., Karim, S. A., Ridgway, R. A., Athineos, D., Doyle, B., Jamieson, N. B., Oien, K. A., Lowy, A. M., & Brunton, V. G. (2022). Mutant p53 drives metastasis and overcomes growth arrest/senescence in pancreatic cancer (vol 107, pg 246, 2010). PROCEEDINGS OF THE NATIONAL ACADEMY OF SCIENCES OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 119(17).
- Mostafa, M. E., Erbarut-Seven, I., Pehlivanoglu, B., & Adsay, V. (2017). Pathologic classification of" pancreatic cancers": current concepts and challenges. *Chinese Clinical Oncology*, 6(6), 59.
- Mucciolo, G., Roux, C., Scagliotti, A., Brugiapaglia, S., Novelli, F., & Cappello, P. (2020). The dark side of immunotherapy: Pancreatic cancer. *Cancer Drug Resistance*, 3(3), 491.
- Munkley, J. (2019). The glycosylation landscape of pancreatic cancer (Review). *Oncology Letters*, *17*(3), 2569–2575. https://doi.org/10.3892/ol.2019.9885
- Nath, S., & Mukherjee, P. (2014). MUC1: a multifaceted oncoprotein with a key role in cancer progression. *Trends in Molecular Medicine*, 20(6), 332–342. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molmed.2014.02.007
- National Institute of Cancerología. (2007). *Hydralazine Valproate for Ovarian Cancer*. Clinicaltrials.Gov. https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT00533299
- NCT00004929. (2013). Vaccine Therapy Plus QS21 in Treating Patients With Progressive Prostate Cancer. Clinicaltrials.Gov. https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT00004929
- NCT00016146. (2013). Vaccine Therapy Plus Biological Therapy in Treating Patients With Prostate Cancer. Clinicaltrials.Gov. https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT00016146
- NCT00036933. (2013). Vaccine Therapy Plus QS21 in Treating Patients With Prostate Cancer. Clinicaltrials.Gov. https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT00036933
- Neoptolemos, J. P., Dunn, J. A., Stocken, D. D., Almond, J., Link, K., Beger, H., Bassi, C., Falconi, M., Pederzoli, P., & Dervenis, C. (2001). Adjuvant

chemoradiotherapy and chemotherapy in resectable pancreatic cancer: a randomised controlled trial. *The Lancet*, *358*(9293), 1576–1585.

- Neoptolemos, J. P., Stocken, D. D., Friess, H., Bassi, C., Dunn, J. A., Hickey, H., Beger, H., Fernandez-Cruz, L., Dervenis, C., & Lacaine, F. (2004). A randomized trial of chemoradiotherapy and chemotherapy after resection of pancreatic cancer. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 350(12), 1200–1210.
- Ng, A. C. T., Delgado, V., Borlaug, B. A., & Bax, J. J. (2021). Diabesity: the combined burden of obesity and diabetes on heart disease and the role of imaging. *Nature Reviews Cardiology*, 18(4), 291–304. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41569-020-00465-5
- Nigro, E., Perrotta, F., Monaco, M. L., Polito, R., Pafundi, P. C., Matera, M. G., Daniele, A., & Bianco, A. (2020). Implications of the adiponectin system in non-small cell lung cancer patients: A case-control study. *Biomolecules*, 10(6), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.3390/biom10060926
- Nuti, M., Panici, P. B., & Mancuso, S. (1993). Human B-Cell Immune Response to the Polymorphic Epithelial Mucin. *Cancer Research*, 53(11), 2457–2459.
- O'Connell, J. T., Hacker, C. M., & Barsky, S. H. (2002). MUC2 is a molecular marker for pseudomyxoma peritonei. *Modern Pathology*, *15*(9), 958–972.
- Ohara, K., Ohkuri, T., Kumai, T., Nagato, T., Nozaki, Y., Ishibashi, K., Kosaka, A., Nagata, M., Harabuchi, S., Ohara, M., Oikawa, K., Aoki, N., Harabuchi, Y., Celis, E., & Kobayashi, H. (2018). Targeting phosphorylated p53 to elicit tumor-reactive T helper responses against head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *OncoImmunology*, 7(9), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1080/2162402X.2018.1466771
- Ohara, M., Ohara, K., Kumai, T., Ohkuri, T., Nagato, T., Hirata-Nozaki, Y., Kosaka, A., Nagata, M., Hayashi, R., Harabuchi, S., Yajima, Y., Oikawa, K., Harabuchi, Y., Sumi, Y., Furukawa, H., & Kobayashi, H. (2020). Phosphorylated vimentin as an immunotherapeutic target against metastatic colorectal cancer. *Cancer Immunology, Immunotherapy*, 69(6), 989–999. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00262-020-02524-9

- Pancholi, V. (2001). Multifunctional α-enolase: its role in diseases. Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences CMLS, 58(7), 902–920.
- Pandey, R., Zhou, M., Islam, S., Chen, B., Barker, N. K., Langlais, P., Srivastava, A., Luo, M., Cooke, L. S., Weterings, E., & Mahadevan, D. (2019).
  Carcinoembryonic antigen cell adhesion molecule 6 (CEACAM6) in Pancreatic Ductal Adenocarcinoma (PDA): An integrative analysis of a novel therapeutic target. *Scientific Reports*, 9(1), 18347. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-54545-9
- Paston, S. J., Brentville, V. A., Symonds, P., & Durrant, L. G. (2021). Cancer vaccines, adjuvants, and delivery systems. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 12(March), 627932. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2021.627932
- Patel, S., Fu, S., Mastio, J., Dominguez, G. A., Purohit, A., Kossenkov, A., Lin, C., Alicea-Torres, K., Sehgal, M., & Nefedova, Y. (2018). Unique pattern of neutrophil migration and function during tumor progression. *Nature Immunology*, 19(11), 1236–1247.
- Peng, M., Mo, Y., Wang, Y., Wu, P., Zhang, Y., Xiong, F., Guo, C., Wu, X., Li, Y., Li, X., Li, G., Xiong, W., & Zeng, Z. (2019). Neoantigen vaccine: An emerging tumor immunotherapy. *Molecular Cancer*, 18(1), 128. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12943-019-1055-6
- Pergamo, M., & Miller, G. (2017). Myeloid-derived suppressor cells and their role in pancreatic cancer. *Cancer Gene Therapy*, 24(3), 100–105.
- Petersen, J., Purcell, A. W., & Rossjohn, J. (2009). Post-translationally modified T cell epitopes: Immune recognition and immunotherapy. *Journal of Molecular Medicine*, 87(11), 1045–1051. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00109-009-0526-4
- Petersen, J., Wurzbacher, S. J., Williamson, N. A., Ramarathinam, S. H., Reid, H. H., Nair, A. K. N., Zhao, A. Y., Nastovska, R., Rudge, G., Rossjohn, J., & Purcell, A. W. (2009). Phosphorylated self-peptides alter human leukocyte antigen class I-restricted antigen presentation and generate tumor-specific epitopes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 106(8), 2776–2781. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0812901106

- Phelip, J. M., Bageacu, S., Baconnier, M., Barabino, G., Del Tedesco, E., Benhamou, P. Y., & Roblin, X. (2011). Comparison of adiponectin concentration between pancreatic cancer and colorectal cancer. *Journal of Gastrointestinal Oncology*, 2(4), 232–239. https://doi.org/10.3978/j.issn.2078-6891.2011.031
- Piché, M. E., Tchernof, A., & Després, J. P. (2020). Obesity Phenotypes, Diabetes, and Cardiovascular Diseases. *Circulation Research*, 1477–1500. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.120.316101
- Piro, G., Simionato, F., Carbone, C., Frizziero, M., Malleo, G., Zanini, S., Casolino, R., Santoro, R., Mina, M. M., & Zecchetto, C. (2017). A circulating TH2 cytokines profile predicts survival in patients with resectable pancreatic adenocarcinoma. *Oncoimmunology*, 6(9), e1322242.
- Porcile, C., Di Zazzo, E., Monaco, M. L., D'Angelo, G., Passarella, D., Russo, C., Di Costanzo, A., Pattarozzi, A., Gatti, M., Bajetto, A., Zona, G., Barbieri, F., Oriani, G., Moncharmont, B., Florio, T., & Daniele, A. (2014). Adiponectin as novel regulator of cell proliferation in human glioblastoma. *Journal of Cellular Physiology*, 229(10), 1444–1454. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp.24582
- Posey, A. D., Schwab, R. D., Boesteanu, A. C., Steentoft, C., Mandel, U., Engels, B., Stone, J. D., Madsen, T. D., Schreiber, K., Haines, K. M., Cogdill, A. P., Chen, T. J., Song, D., Scholler, J., Kranz, D. M., Feldman, M. D., Young, R., Keith, B., Schreiber, H., ... June, C. H. (2016). Engineered CAR T Cells Targeting the Cancer-Associated Tn-Glycoform of the Membrane Mucin MUC1 Control Adenocarcinoma. *Immunity*, 44(6), 1444–1454. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2016.05.014
- Quoix, E., Lena, H., Losonczy, G., Forget, F., Chouaid, C., Papai, Z., Gervais, R., Ottensmeier, C., Szczesna, A., Kazarnowicz, A., Beck, J. T., Westeel, V., Felip, E., Debieuvre, D., Madroszyk, A., Adam, J., Lacoste, G., Tavernaro, A., Bastien, B., ... Limacher, J. M. (2016). TG4010 immunotherapy and first-line chemotherapy for advanced non-small-cell lung cancer (TIME): Results from the phase 2b part of a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 2b/3 trial. *The Lancet Oncology*, *17*(2), 212–223. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1470-2045(15)00483-0

- Ragupathi, G., Adluri, R., Amaravathi, R., Howarad, L., Gilewski, T., & Slovin, S.
  F. (1999). Specificity analysis of sera from breast and prostate cancer patients vaccinated with MUC1-KLH and MUC-2-KLH conjugate vaccines. *Proc Am Assoc Cancer Res*, 40, 312.
- Rahib, L., Wehner, M. R., Matrisian, L. M., & Nead, K. T. (2021). Estimated projection of US cancer incidence and death to 2040. *JAMA Network Open*, 4(4), e214708–e214708. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.4708
- Rakha, E. A., Boyce, R. W. G., El-Rehim, A., Kurien, T., Green, A. R., Paish, E. C.,
  Robertson, J. F. R., & Ellis, I. O. (2005). Expression of mucins (MUC1, MUC2,
  MUC3, MUC4, MUC5AC and MUC6) and their prognostic significance in
  human breast cancer. *Modern Pathology*, *18*(10), 1295–1304.
- Ramanathan, R. K., Lee, K. M., McKolanis, J., Hitbold, E., Schraut, W., Moser, A. J., Warnick, E., Whiteside, T., Osborne, J., Kim, H., Day, R., Troetschel, M., & Finn, O. J. (2005). Phase I study of a MUC1 vaccine composed of different doses of MUC1 peptide with SB-AS2 adjuvant in resected and locally advanced pancreatic cancer. *Cancer Immunology, Immunotherapy*, *54*(3), 254–264. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00262-004-0581-1
- Ramazi, S., & Zahiri, J. (2021). Post-translational modifications in proteins: resources, tools and prediction methods. *Database*, 2021, baab012.
- Ramezankhani, R., Solhi, R., Es, H. A., Vosough, M., & Hassan, M. (2021). Novel molecular targets in gastric adenocarcinoma. *Pharmacology & Therapeutics*, 220, 107714.
- Reichenbach, D. K., & Finn, O. J. (2013). Early in vivo signaling profiles in MUC1specific CD4+ T cells responding to two different MUC1-targeting vaccines in two different microenvironments. *OncoImmunology*, 2(3), R27. https://doi.org/10.4161/onci.23429
- Robert, C. (2020). A decade of immune-checkpoint inhibitors in cancer therapy. *Nature Communications*, *11*(1), 1–3. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-17670-y

- Rodriguez, M. S., Desterro, J. M. P. P., Lain, S., Midgley, C. A., Lane, D. P., & Hay,
  R. T. (1999). SUMO-1 modification activates the transcriptional response of p53. *The EMBO Journal*, 18(22), 6455–6461. https://doi.org/10.1093/emboj/18.22.6455
- Rosen, R. D., & Sapra, A. (2021). TNM classification. In *StatPearls [Internet]*. StatPearls Publishing.
- Ruan, H., & Dong, L. Q. (2016). Adiponectin signaling and function in insulin target tissues. *Journal of Molecular Cell Biology*, 8(2), 101–109. https://doi.org/10.1093/jmcb/mjw014
- Rückert, F., Hennig, M., Petraki, C. D., Wehrum, D., Distler, M., Denz, A., Schröder,
  M., Dawelbait, G., Kalthoff, H., & Saeger, H. D. (2008). Co-expression of
  KLK6 and KLK10 as prognostic factors for survival in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. *British Journal of Cancer*, 99(9), 1484–1492.
- Sahin, U., Türeci, Ö., Schmitt, H., Cochlovius, B., Johannes, T., Schmits, R., Stenner, F., Luo, G., Schobert, I., & Pfreundschun, M. (1995). Human neoplasms elicit multiple specific immune responses in the autologous host. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 92(25), 11810–11813. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.92.25.11810
- Sakkas, L. I., Bogdanos, D. P., Katsiari, C., & Platsoucas, C. D. (2014). Anticitrullinated peptides as autoantigens in rheumatoid arthritis-relevance to treatment. *Autoimmunity Reviews*, 13(11), 1114–1120. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.autrev.2014.08.012
- Sarantis, P., Koustas, E., Papadimitropoulou, A., Papavassiliou, A. G., & Karamouzis, M. V. (2020). Pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma: Treatment hurdles, tumor microenvironment and immunotherapy. World Journal of Gastrointestinal Oncology, 12(2), 173–181. https://doi.org/10.4251/wjgo.v12.i2.173
- Saxena, M., van der Burg, S. H., Melief, C. J. M., & Bhardwaj, N. (2021). Therapeutic cancer vaccines. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, 21(6), 360–378. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41568-021-00346-0

- Schaefer, C. F., Anthony, K., Krupa, S., Buchoff, J., Day, M., Hannay, T., & Buetow, K. H. (2009). PID: The pathway interaction database. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 37(SUPPL. 1), 674–679. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkn653
- Scheid, E., Major, P., Bergeron, A., Finn, O. J., Salter, R. D., Eady, R., Yassine-Diab, B., Favre, D., Peretz, Y., Landry, C., Hotte, S., Mukherjee, S. D., Dekaban, G. A., Fink, C., Foster, P. J., Gaudet, J., Gariepy, J., Sekaly, R. P., Lacombe, L., ... Foley, R. (2016). Tn-MUC1 DC vaccination of rhesus macaques and a Phase I/II trial in patients with nonmetastatic castrate-resistant prostate cancer. *Cancer Immunology Research*, 4(10), 881–892. https://doi.org/10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-15-0189
- Schellekens, G. A., De Jong, B. A. W., Van Den Hoogen, F. H. J., Van De Putte, L.
  B. A., & Van Venrooij, W. J. (1998). Citrulline is an essential constituent of antigenic determinants recognized by rheumatoid arthritis-specific autoantibodies. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 101(1), 273–281. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI1316
- Schizas, D., Charalampakis, N., Kole, C., Economopoulou, P., Koustas, E., Gkotsis, E., Ziogas, D., Psyrri, A., & Karamouzis, M. V. (2020). Immunotherapy for pancreatic cancer: A 2020 update. *Cancer Treatment Reviews*, 86(January). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ctrv.2020.102016
- Schmidt-Hansen, M., Berendse, S., & Hamilton, W. (2016). Symptoms of pancreatic cancer in primary care: a systematic review. *Pancreas*, 45(6), 814–818.
- Scholl, S. M., Balloul, J. M., Le Goc, G., Bizouarne, N., Schatz, C., Kieny, M. P., von Mensdorff-Pouilly, S., Vincent-Salomon, A., Deneux, L., Tartour, E., Fridman, W., Pouillart, P., & Acres, B. (2000). Recombinant Vaccinia Virus Encoding Human MUC1 and IL2 as Immunotherapy in Patients With Breast Cancer. *Journal of Immunotherapy*, 23(5), 570–580. https://doi.org/10.1097/00002371-200009000-00007
- Segal, E., Shapira, M., Regev, A., Pe'er, D., Botstein, D., Koller, D., & Friedman, N. (2003). Segal-Ng-Vol34-Module-Networks. *Nature Genetics*, 34(2), 166– 176.

- Shahbazian, M. D., & Grunstein, M. (2007). Functions of Site-Specific histone acetylation and deacetylation. *Annual Review of Biochemistry*, 76, 75–100. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.biochem.76.052705.162114
- Shanmugam, G., Rakshit, S., & Sarkar, K. (2022). HDAC inhibitors: Targets for tumor therapy, immune modulation and lung diseases. *Translational Oncology*, 16, 101312.
- Shi, J., Song, X., Traub, B., Luxenhofer, M., & Kornmann, M. (2021). Involvement of IL-4, IL-13 and their receptors in pancreatic cancer. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 22(6), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms22062998
- Siegel, R. L., Miller, K. D., Fuchs, H. E., & Jemal, A. (2022). Cancer statistics, 2022.
   CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians, 72(1), 7–33. https://doi.org/10.3322/caac.21708
- Silsirivanit, A. (2019). Glycosylation markers in cancer. In Advances in Clinical Chemistry (1st ed., Vol. 89). Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.acc.2018.12.005
- Silveira Rossi, J. L., Barbalho, S. M., Reverete de Araujo, R., Bechara, M. D., Sloan, K. P., & Sloan, L. A. (2022). Metabolic syndrome and cardiovascular diseases:
  Going beyond traditional risk factors. *Diabetes/Metabolism Research and Reviews*, 38(3), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1002/dmrr.3502
- Singh, P., Sharma, P., Sahakyan, K. R., Davison, D. E., Sert-Kuniyoshi, F. H., Romero-Corral, A., Swain, J. M., Jensen, M. D., Lopez-Jimenez, F., Kara, T., & Somers, V. K. (2016). Differential effects of leptin on adiponectin expression with weight gain versus obesity. *International Journal of Obesity*, 40(2), 266– 274. https://doi.org/10.1038/ijo.2015.181
- Slovin, S. F., Ragupathi, G., Donaldson, C., Olkiewicz, K., Terry, K., & De-Paolo, R. (1999). MUC-2-KLH conjugate vaccine: immunogenicity in patients with relapsed prostate cancer. *Proc Am Assoc Cancer Res*, 40, 312.
- Slovin, S. F., Ragupathi, G., Fernandez, C., Jefferson, M. P., Diani, M., Wilton, A.
  S., Powell, S., Spassova, M., Reis, C., Clausen, H., Danishefsky, S., Livingston,
  P., & Scher, H. I. (2005). A bivalent conjugate vaccine in the treatment of

biochemically relapsed prostate cancer: a study of glycosylated MUC-2-KLH and Globo H-KLH conjugate vaccines given with the new semi-synthetic saponin immunological adjuvant GPI-0100 OR QS-21. *Vaccine*, *23*(24), 3114–3122. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2005.01.072

- Slovin, S. F., & Scher, H. I. (1999). Peptide and carbohydrate vaccines in relapsed prostate cancer: immunogenicity of synthetic vaccines in man--clinical trials at Memorial Sloan-Kettering Cancer Center. *Seminars in Oncology*, 26(4), 448– 454.
- Slovin, S., Ragupathi, R., Fernandez, C., Randall, E., & Diani, M. (2002). A bivalent vaccine containing glycosylated MUC-2-KLH and globo H-KLH conjugates using a new semi-synthetic saponin immunological adjuvant, GPI-0100, in biochemically relapsed prostate cancer (PC). *Proc Am Soc Clin Oncol*, 21, 196a.
- Soares, K. C., Zheng, L., Edil, B., & Jaffee, E. M. (2012). Vaccines for pancreatic cancer. *Cancer Journal (Sudbury, Mass.)*, 18(6), 642–652. https://doi.org/10.1097/PPO.0b013e3182756903
- Soares, M. M., Mehta, V., & Finn, O. J. (2001). Three Different Vaccines Based on the 140-Amino Acid MUC1 Peptide with Seven Tandemly Repeated Tumor-Specific Epitopes Elicit Distinct Immune Effector Mechanisms in Wild-Type Versus MUC1-Transgenic Mice with Different Potential for Tumor Rejection. *The Journal of Immunology*, *166*(11), 6555–6563. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.166.11.6555
- Srivastava, A. K., Guadagnin, G., Cappello, P., & Novelli, F. (2022). Post-Translational Modifications in Tumor-Associated Antigens as a Platform for Novel Immuno-Oncology Therapies. *Cancers*, 15(1). https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers15010138
- Stolzenberg-Solomon, R. Z., Schairer, C., Moore, S., Hollenbeck, A., & Silverman,
  D. T. (2013). Lifetime adiposity and risk of pancreatic cancer in the NIH-AARP
  Diet and Health Study cohort. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 98(4), 1057–1065. https://doi.org/10.3945/ajcn.113.058123

- Subramanian, A., Tamayo, P., Mootha, V. K., Mukherjee, S., Ebert, B. L., Gillette, M. A., Paulovich, A., Pomeroy, S. L., Golub, T. R., Lander, E. S., & Mesirov, J. P. (2005). Gene set enrichment analysis: A knowledge-based approach for interpreting genome-wide expression profiles. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 102(43), 15545–15550. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0506580102
- Sung, H., Ferlay, J., Siegel, R. L., Laversanne, M., Soerjomataram, I., Jemal, A., & Bray, F. (2021). Global cancer statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. *CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians*, 71(3), 209–249. https://doi.org/10.3322/caac.21660
- Swinburn, B. A., Kraak, V. I., Allender, S., Atkins, V. J., Baker, P. I., Bogard, J. R., Brinsden, H., Calvillo, A., De Schutter, O., Devarajan, R., Ezzati, M., Friel, S., Goenka, S., Hammond, R. A., Hastings, G., Hawkes, C., Herrero, M., Hovmand, P. S., Howden, M., ... Dietz, W. H. (2019). The Global Syndemic of Obesity, Undernutrition, and Climate Change: The Lancet Commission report. *The Lancet*, *393*(10173), 791–846. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(18)32822-8
- Symonds, P., Marcu, A., Cook, K. W., Metheringham, R. L., Durrant, L. G., & Brentville, V. A. (2021). Citrullinated Epitopes Identified on Tumour MHC Class II by Peptide Elution Stimulate Both Regulatory and Th1 Responses and Require Careful Selection for Optimal Anti-Tumour Responses. *Frontiers in Immunology*, *12*(November), 764462. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2021.764462
- Talieri, M., Diamandis, E. P., Gourgiotis, D., Mathioudaki, K., & Scorilas, A. (2004). Expression analysis of the human kallikrein 7 (KLK7) in breast tumors: a new potential biomarker for prognosis of breast carcinoma. *Thrombosis and Haemostasis*, 91(01), 180–186.
- Talieri, M., Li, L., Zheng, Y., Alexopoulou, D. K., Soosaipillai, A., Scorilas, A., Xynopoulos, D., & Diamandis, E. P. (2009). The use of kallikrein-related peptidases as adjuvant prognostic markers in colorectal cancer. *British Journal* of Cancer, 100(10), 1659–1665.

- Therapeutics, C. (2011). Safety Study of the Histone Deacetylase Inhibitor, CHR-3996, in Patients With Advanced Solid Tumours. Clinicaltrials.Gov. https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT00697879
- Thyagarajan, A., Alshehri, M. S. A., Miller, K. L. R., Sherwin, C. M., Travers, J. B., & Sahu, R. P. (2019). Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells and Pancreatic Cancer: Implications in Novel Therapeutic Approaches. *Cancers*, 11(11). https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers11111627
- Toedebusch, R. G., Lucchesi, C. A., Debebe, E. T., Wittenburg, L. A., Chen, X., & Toedebusch, C. M. (2021). Microglia-derived olfactomedin-like 3 promotes pro-tumorigenic microglial function and malignant features of glioma cells. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 22(23), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms222313052
- Tomaino, B., Cappello, P., Capello, M., Fredolini, C., Sperduti, I., Migliorini, P., Salacone, P., Novarino, A., Giacobino, A., Ciuffreda, L., Alessio, M., Nisticò, P., Scarpa, A., Pederzoli, P., Zhou, W., Petricoin, III, E. F., Liotta, L. A., Giovarelli, M., Milella, M., & Novelli, F. (2011). Circulating Autoantibodies to Phosphorylated α-Enolase are a Hallmark of Pancreatic Cancer. *Journal of Proteome Research*, *10*(1), 105–112. https://doi.org/10.1021/pr100213b
- Tosch, C., Bastien, B., Barraud, L., Grellier, B., Nourtier, V., Gantzer, M., Limacher, J. M., Quemeneur, E., Bendjama, K., & Préville, X. (2017). Viral based vaccine TG4010 induces broadening of specific immune response and improves outcome in advanced NSCLC. *Journal for ImmunoTherapy of Cancer*, 5(1), 70. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40425-017-0274-x
- Urzúa-Traslaviña, C. G., Leeuwenburgh, V. C., Bhattacharya, A., Loipfinger, S., van Vugt, M. A. T. M., de Vries, E. G. E., & Fehrmann, R. S. N. (2021). Improving gene function predictions using independent transcriptional components. *Nature Communications*, 12(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-21671-w
- Verdin, E., & Ott, M. (2015). 50 years of protein acetylation: From gene regulation to epigenetics, metabolism and beyond. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*, 16(4), 258–264. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm3931
- Voutsadakis, I. A. (2021). Mutations of p53 associated with pancreatic cancer and therapeutic implications. *Annals of Hepato-Biliary-Pancreatic Surgery*, 25(3), 315–327. https://doi.org/10.14701/ahbps.2021.25.3.315
- Wang, X. (2008). miRDB: A microRNA target prediction and functional annotation database with a wiki interface. *Rna*, 14(6), 1012–1017. https://doi.org/10.1261/rna.965408
- Wang, Y., Fang, T., Huang, L., Wang, H., Zhang, L., Wang, Z., & Cui, Y. (2018). Neutrophils infiltrating pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma indicate higher malignancy and worse prognosis. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 501(1), 313–319.
- Wegmann, S., Biernat, J., & Mandelkow, E. (2021). A current view on Tau protein phosphorylation in Alzheimer's disease. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, 69, 131–138.
- Wei, T., Ye, P., Peng, X., Wu, L. L., & Yu, G. Y. (2016). Circulating adiponectin levels in various malignancies: An updated meta-analysis of 107 studies. *Oncotarget*, 7(30), 48671–48691. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.8932
- Wierecky, J., Müller, M. R., Wirths, S., Halder-Oehler, E., Dörfel, D., Schmidt, S. M., Häntschel, M., Brugger, W., Schröder, S., Horger, M. S., Kanz, L., & Brossart, P. (2006). Immunologic and clinical responses after vaccinations with peptide-pulsed dendritic cells in metastatic renal cancer patients. *Cancer Research*, 66(11), 5910–5918. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-3905
- Wong, N., & Wang, X. (2015). miRDB: An online resource for microRNA target prediction and functional annotations. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 43(D1), D146– D152. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gku1104
- World Health Organization (WHO). (2000). OBESITY: PREVENTING AND MANAGING THE GLOBAL EPIDEMIC. Report of a WHO Consultation. World Health Organization: Geneva, Switzerland, 894, 1–268.
- Wu, Y. L., Park, K., Soo, R. A., Sun, Y., Tyroller, K., Wages, D., Ely, G., Yang, J.C. H., & Mok, T. (2011). INSPIRE: A phase III study of the BLP25 liposome

vaccine (L-BLP25) in Asian patients with unresectable stage III non-small cell lung cancer. *BMC Cancer*, *11*(1), 430. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2407-11-430

- Xiong, S., Dong, L., & Cheng, L. (2021). Neutrophils in cancer carcinogenesis and metastasis. *Journal of Hematology and Oncology*, 14(1), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13045-021-01187-y
- Xu, X. T., Xu, Q., Tong, J. L., Zhu, M. M., Huang, M. L., Ran, Z. H., & Xiao, S. D. (2011). Meta-analysis: Circulating adiponectin levels and risk of colorectal cancer and adenoma. *Journal of Digestive Diseases*, 12(4), 234–244. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1751-2980.2011.00504.x
- Yako, Y. Y., Brand, M., Smith, M., & Kruger, D. (2017). Inflammatory cytokines and angiogenic factors as potential biomarkers in South African pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma patients: A preliminary report. *Pancreatology*, 17(3), 438–444.
- Yamauchi, T., Iwabu, M., Okada-Iwabu, M., & Kadowaki, T. (2014). Adiponectin receptors: A review of their structure, function and how they work. *Best Practice and Research: Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 28(1), 15–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.beem.2013.09.003
- Yamauchi, T., Kamon, J., & Ito, Y. (2003). Cloning of adiponectin receptors that mediate antidiabetic metabolic effects. *Nature*, 423(June), 762–770. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature01683.1.
- Yang, L., Tan, D., & Piao, H. (2016). Myelin Basic Protein Citrullination in Multiple Sclerosis: A Potential Therapeutic Target for the Pathology. *Neurochemical Research*, 41(8), 1845–1856. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11064-016-1920-2
- Yang, T., Choi, Y., Joh, J. W., Cho, S. K., Kim, D. S., & Park, S. G. (2019). Phosphorylation of p53 Serine 15 Is a Predictor of Survival for Patients with Hepatocellular Carcinoma. *Canadian Journal of Gastroenterology and Hepatology*, 2019, 9015453. https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/9015453
- Yu, J. X., Hubbard-Lucey, V. M., & Tang, J. (2019). The global pipeline of cell therapies for cancer. *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery*, 18, 821–823.

- Yuzhalin, A. E. (2019). Citrullination in cancer. *Cancer Research*, 79(7), 1274–1284. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-18-2797
- Zaenker, P., & Ziman, M. R. (2013). Serologic Autoantibodies as Diagnostic Cancer Biomarkers—A ReviewSerologic Autoantibodies as Diagnostic Cancer Biomarkers. *Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers & Prevention*, 22(12), 2161– 2181.
- Zarling, A. L., Obeng, R. C., Desch, A. N., Pinczewski, J., Cummings, K. L., Deacon, D. H., Conaway, M., Slingluff, C. L. J., & Engelhard, V. H. (2014). MHC-restricted phosphopeptides from insulin receptor substrate-2 and CDC25b offer broad-based immunotherapeutic agents for cancer. *Cancer Research*, 74(23), 6784–6795. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-14-0043
- Zarling, A. L., Polefrone, J. M., Evans, A. M., Mikesh, L. M., Shabanowitz, J., Lewis, S. T., Engelhard, V. H., & Hunt, D. F. (2006). Identification of class I MHC-associated phosphopeptides as targets for cancer immunotherapy. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 103(40), 14889–14894. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0604045103
- Zhang, W. (2014). TCGA divides gastric cancer into four molecular subtypes: Implications for individualized therapeutics. *Chinese Journal of Cancer*, 33(10), 469–470. https://doi.org/10.5732/cjc.014.10117
- Zhao, D., Zou, S. W., Liu, Y., Zhou, X., Mo, Y., Wang, P., Xu, Y. H., Dong, B., Xiong, Y., Lei, Q. Y., & Guan, K. L. (2013). Lysine-5 acetylation negatively regulates lactate dehydrogenase a and is decreased in pancreatic cancer. *Cancer Cell*, 23(4), 464–476. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2013.02.005
- Zhao, H., Dong, Y., Quan, J., Smith, R., Lam, A., Weinstein, S., Clements, J., Johnson, N. W., & Gao, J. (2011). Correlation of the expression of human kallikrein-related peptidases 4 and 7 with the prognosis in oral squamous cell carcinoma. *Head & Neck*, 33(4), 566–572.
- Zhou, W., Capello, M., Fredolini, C., Piemonti, L., Liotta, L. A., Novelli, F., & Petricoin, E. F. (2010). Mass spectrometry analysis of the post-translational modifications of alpha-enolase from pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma cells.

*Journal of Proteome Research*, *9*(6), 2929–2936. https://doi.org/10.1021/pr901109w

- Zimmermann, M. T., Mathison, A. J., Stodola, T., Evans, D. B., Abrudan, J. L., Demos, W., Tschannen, M., Aldakkak, M., Geurts, J., & Lomberk, G. (2021).
  Interpreting sequence variation in PDAC-predisposing genes using a multi-tier annotation approach performed at the gene, patient, and cohort level. *Frontiers in Oncology*, *11*, 606820.
- Zorena, K., Jachimowicz-Duda, O., Ślęzak, D., Robakowska, M., & Mrugacz, M. (2020). Adipokines and obesity. Potential link to metabolic disorders and chronic complications. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 21(10). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21103570

## Acknowledgment

I started my life in research a decade ago, and the end point of my dream was to have a doctorate. I am extremely excited to finally arrive at the destination. It was a long arduous journey and wouldn't have been possible without the support of many people. I would like to first thank my mentor and supervisor, **Prof. Francesco Novelli.** Franco has been there to support me through thick and thin. He always encouraged me to bring new ideas. He supported me in venturing into bioinformatics and meta-analysis. He was there to help me during the process of the international research exchange program in The Netherlands. It was his guidance that I was able to fruitfully complete this thesis. I will always remember Franco's words of wisdom during our numerous meetings. Franco was there for me as a guardian during the COVID. His sharp and critical comments on our published work as well as during my thesis helped me a lot to learn.

My journey would have been incomplete without **Prof. Paola Cappello**. She is not just my co-PI but my biggest support in the Ph.D. journey. I will always cherish the moment we had constructive discussions in lab meetings and your input on improving my project. You taught me many skills in the lab as well as improved my personality. While I was working in The Netherlands, you always took extra steps to understand the complex bioinformatic project, despite not being your area of interest. I will never forget your constant motivation during the drafting of the review article. The constructive criticism you provided helped a lot to improve the quality of my thesis. Paola became my pillar of strength at the time of the second COVID wave when I was suffering personal losses. I have learned from you how to be a perfectionist and humbler while working.

I would like to thank my thesis reviewer **Prof. Surva Chatterjee**, and **Prof. George Priya Doss** for accepting the invite to review in a short time. Your comments have helped to improve the quality of the thesis.

My first bioinformatic project wouldn't be a possibility if I did not get the support and guidance of **Prof. Francesca Cordero**, **Prof. Marco Beccuti**, and **Dr. Laura Follia**. Marco took an extra effort to teach me the basics of R. I would always cherish my after-class interaction with Marco. Francesca provided me the constant support and feedback on the project's progress as well as on the chapter's draft. I will always be indebted to Laura for introducing me to the world of bioinformatics. I will never forget our constant chatter on any random topic during the lunch break and your strong recommendation of gelato at La Romana.

I wanted to do an international exchange as part of our Ph.D. program, but due to COVID, no lab was willing to have an exchange student. I have to say that **Dr. Rudolf Fehrmann** was an exception and allowed me to join and work in his lab. I learned so much while working in Rudolf's group due to the openness created by Rudolf himself. I had never expected a PI to be so involved in a visiting student project. Even though it was a highly complex mathematical model, you were always there to explain it to me multiple times. I will never forget your stories of transitioning from computer scientist to medical doctor. You were always there to support me in every aspect of my stay in Groningen. I will never forget the happiness you got when I first received an interview call from a company. You gave me everything to succeed and learn. It was the best experience of working abroad in my long research career. I will always be thankful to you for your encouragement, motivation, and support. I never felt that I was working with a supervisor but had a feeling of being with a friend.

The thesis and my progress would be incomplete without **Dr. Arkajyoti Bhattacharya**. I loved the way you taught me by always saying, "*You will learn only by doing mistakes*." Every time I came to you with some doubts, you challenged me to solve it by myself. You helped me understand the mathematical concept behind ICA. There are so many things that I learned from you in research that even though I am a storyteller, I am at a loss for words to explain your magnanimity. Apart from research, I will always miss those small TED talks that you gave during office hours to motivate everyone. Your determination to run can inspire so many and make a lot of people jealous. One of the best parties of my life was your defense party and the way we danced in the bar. I will never forget the delicious "Kulfi" you made at the dinner party at your place. I would also like to thank **Bashundhara** for those delicious meals and for hosting me at parties.

My journey to Ph.D. wouldn't be complete without the support I received from my collegues at Novelli Lab. I would especially like to thank **Dr. Giorgia Mandilli** for

teaching me the proteomic analysis of pancreatic cancer. I would take this opportunity to thank **Dr. Gianluca Mucciolo** for being my first friend in a foreign land. Gianluca introduced me to the various part of this beautiful city and helped me in shifting home. I would also like to thank other lab members of Novelli Lab namely **Dr. Sara Bulfamante, Dr. Cludia Curcio, Dr. Cecilia Roux, Silvia Brugiapaglia, Alessandro Scagliott, and Laura Barbasio.** I would also like to especially thank **Giorgia Guadagnin** for her support during my project on adiponectin. Giorgia helped me a lot during the review and especially with making the figure. Your suggestion on some recent literature helped me improve the quality of the thesis as well as the review.

My life at Groningen would have become a boring research job had I not found some amazing people at Rudolf's Lab. I would like to thank **Stefan** for being a work buddy, which I have always missed during my research career. I will always cherish the rides we had to go back to our home from the office. The fun we had during the open day while exploring historical buildings in Groningen. Your introvertedness and how you always needed "me time" after spending energy at parties amused me always. I will never forget how you helped me plan the trip to Zaans Schans during last year's Easter holiday. You are my constant cheerleader in the writing journey.

I never knew how to start the job search journey; it was difficult and challenging. But things become simpler if you have a friend and guide like **Setareh**. She helped me overhaul my LinkedIn profile and assisted me with the cover letter drafting. Your inspiring journey kept me motivated during my low phases, I always used to say when Setareh can make it big in her career despite so much adversity, I can also do it. I will always be indebted to you, Setareh for transforming me. I will take this opportunity to thank **Hamid** also for being such a gentle friend and joining us for all the parties.

When I went to Rudolf's lab, it was intimidating to be surrounded by all the bioinformaticians and statisticians. It was a sigh of relief to meet **Manasa**, with the same background as mine. I will always be grateful for the support you showed in finding accommodation during my first visit to Groningen. I will cherish working with you on the project of the projection of my data. The way you took extra effort to explain to me the intricacies of the projection will always stay with me. How

would I ever forget the memorable bike ride we (I, Stefan and You) took after the defense party of Arko.

I would also like to thank **Dr. Carlos** for always motivating me during my job search phase. I really enjoyed your defense party. I will also thank **Shanlin** for his inquisitive questions during many lab meetings.

My arduous journey would have been incomplete had I not gotten the support of my wonderful friends. I would like to thank **Dr. Tushar Tomar**, for being a constant support and guiding me in all difficult phases like an elder brother. Your advice has changed my life. I would like to thank my cousin and friend, **Dhwani Srivastava**. You have always been there to support me, especially during our virtual joint food cooking session during COVID. You were always there with me during my ups and downs. I wish you could have come here for the defense and lit up the ceremony as you did during my master's graduation. It is time to say thanks to one of my dearest friends **Dr. Siddharth Omar**. Sid, along with Dhwani, played an important role in keeping me motivated during the low phases of my Ph.D. Sid was an awesome host in the Netherlands whenever I had to go there to visit him. I wish you could have joined me at this occasion. I would like to thank Dr. **Raj and Dr. Sweta** for always being there with me whenever I needed support.

I would also thank **Dr. Shubham** for being my soundboard. Our Ph.D. journeys were similar in many ways, and we fed each other with positivity during this journey. You helped me in building the website and supported me throughout. You have been such a great emotional support throughout my master and Ph.D. journey. It is so great that you were not only part of those journey, but you made sure to be present even at the final destination. Thank you for your continued support. I would also like to thank **Bhanupriya.** Bhanu zeal to achieve new heights motivates me to push further. I am so much impressed with your progress in the last year. You were a constant support during my Ph.D. and current job search phase.

I would also thank my friend from my master's degree program, **Jonathan** and **Dr. Marijke.** We started our WhatsApp group during COVID, and it has been a great mental support for me. Jonathan, your journey from molecular biologist to sales manager motivates me. You always pushed me and appreciated my efforts. Marijke, despite your tumultuous Ph.D. journey, your love for research remains unhindered. The way you supported me during my journey is amazing. I congratulate you for making the transition to industry and hope that I will make it soon.

I will also like to thank my friends from bachelor and childhood who were always there for me as a soundboard. Dr. Devesh Singh and Dr. Chandrashekar Misra have been with me in the entire journey. We always wanted to make a trip together, and finally, it happened in Dec 2018, when we all went to roam around Rome, Venice, Padua, and Turin. We were three musketeers, two got the doctorate, and finally, I am finishing the race. It would have been great if you would have come to my defense personally. A special thanks to Devesh for making sure to attend my sister's wedding in December. My other friends who have supported me throughout are Dr. Sujeet, Pratyush, Dr. Anirudh Gupta, Abhay Singh, Debobrat Sabat, Suraj Pandey, Vikash Paswan, Abhishek Kumar, Dr. Ritu Singh, Manish Kumar, Dr. Pooja, Sansriti, Manish Kumar, Dr. Asutosh Tripathi, Dr. Pallav Gupta, Dr. Ashish Kumar, Dr. Neh Nupur, Dr. Sumedha Ojha, and Dr. Stephanie. A special thanks to my childhood friend Sushmita. You have played a pivotal role in my educational journey. The moment we have cherished together are some of the best moments of my life. I will always cherish our last meeting in Kolkata. You have been a constant support and a soundboard during my Ph.D. journey.

I met many people via online platforms who are helping me in my career with various roles. I would like to thank **Dr. Adam, Dr. Surya, and Murali Karthik** for their constant support.

The journey would not be a possibility if I did not find some amazing landladies during my stay in Turin and Groningen. I would like to thank **Emanuele, Shweta, and Anna** for being such lovely hosts. A special word to put in for Anna, I got in your house at the last phase of my Ph.D., but you became the most important person I have ever met in Turin. You made me feel like I am at home. I see my grandmother in you and the way you feed me food is incredible and bear me. Thank you for all the love and kindness.

During my doctoral studies, I also guided students to higher education abroad. These guiding sessions have provided me with gems of people who became close friends of mine. I would like to thank **Sucheta Patnaik**, one of my first students who

introduced me to the group of new people at VIT Vellore. I will always remember our meeting during my visit in 2017 before starting the position in Italy. I am thrilled with your career progress and wish to meet you soon. Another student who went on to become my friend is Murali Mishra. You brought some extraordinary people into my life and have been a constant support during my journey toward Ph.D. Now moving to some other close people, Shivohum, Harshita, Hansika, and Aakash. Shiv, you have been an inspiration for me for your humbleness and attention to detail-attitude. I could never express my gratitude in words as you have been my biggest cheerleader for the completion of my Ph.D. your effort to come to my defense is a testimony of that. Thank you for being my friend and supporter. Harshita, you have been one of the sweetest people I have ever met in my life. Even though we speak occasionally but the enthusiasm you spread is unmatched. I would never forget our Netherlands trip before COVID. Hansika, even though you live in a different continent, you make sure to keep me updated on all your progress. You supported me emotionally when I was down during the COVID lockdown. It was a great pleasure to meet you during my Amsterdam trip. Aakash, you helped me prove the hypothesis that I can guide students irrespective of their background. I will never forget your unrelentless faith in me. I was more than happy to help you during your master's thesis, and I look forward to meeting you in the future.

A special mention to **Prachi**; you are not only my student but one of my closest friends I have. I saw you grow from your bachelor studies to your life in Italy and now working woman in Denmark. You are an example of breaking the myth that you don't need the language to get a job in Europe. I will always cherish my trip to Trento and the neighboring part during your master defense. I enjoyed being hosted by you and **Edordo.** I wish you and Edordo could have come for my defense but given your hectic schedule. We will meet soon.

Other students who played an influential role in shaping me as a person are **Pujitha**, **Ramya**, **Lohitesh**, **Bibhudatta**, **Ranjan**, **Rohan**, **Rishika**, **Rajan**, **Rutuja**, **Chelsea**, **Bhumika**, **Ruhi**, **Dhanbala**, **Indraja**, **Meera**, **Aswathy**, **Aishwarya**, **Kavya**, **Brinda**, **Chitra**, **Sara**, **Naveen**, **Anuvind**, **Lakshmi**, and many others.

A special thanks to **Vasundhara**, your grit to keep moving always motivates me. I would like to thank you for lighting up Sangeet at my sister's wedding. I wish you

all the success in your career. You are one of the first person to appreciate my writing in full form. A word of thanks to **Ben**, you have taught me that following passion is never a difficult choice. Your Ph.D. search journey is a testament of never giving up your dream. It is a pleasure that you will be present at my defense.

I have always been blessed to be under the shadow of some great mentors. I would like to thank Prof. Anil Kumar Gopinathan, my godfather in research. You baptized me with the virus of research, and it was your dream to see me complete my doctoral studies. I am thankful to **S.K. Jha Sir**, my high school biology teacher, who made the subject so interesting that even today, I am unable to come out of this. I will always be indebted to Prof. Amitava Mukherjee; you have been a motivator and friend in my journey. Whenever I hit rock bottom, you were there to bring me out of that. I take this opportunity to thank Prof. T.Subromaniom, my mentor at the summer research fellowship. Our relationship goes beyond research; thank you for making me a part of your family life. I always looked up to you for taking inspiration. Your recent autobiography is a must-read for every researcher to learn how to overcome adversity and be happy. I met **Prof. Peter Stamp** at one of the conferences at VIT University during my undergraduate studies. You became my cheerleader and gave me the name "Little Crab Philosopher." You have always supported me through your motivational word over emails; your words of wisdom kept me going. I would like to thank **Prof. Jan Kok**, my mentor in the master's degree program and constant motivator, and it was great meeting you during my last stint in the Netherlands.

My extended family has always been appreciative of my work, I would like to thank them for their support. Bua, Badi Mami, Choti mami, Chote Mama, Ravi Mama, Beena Mami, Manu Mama, Anita Mami, Shatru Mama, Meena Mami. My cousins have also supported me throughout this journey, Pankaj Bhaiya, Shweta Bhabhi, Prasoon Bhaiya, Kirti Bhabhi, Gaurav Bhaiya, Garima didi, Amit Jijaji, Puja di, Arvind Jijaji, Vaibhav, Priyanaka, Sankalp, Toshi, Tushar, Shlok, Tanvi Di, and Garima Di.

My journey was going in a downward spiral when I met **Azra Thaseen**. Azra is my confidant I never had. You appreciated my writing as no one else did, and your appreciation pushed me to chart a career in storytelling. If you were not there, I don't

think my review would have seen the light. When my laptop stopped working, I remembered how I finished the draft at Amsterdam Airport on your laptop. I will always cherish those Pizzas, Thai Food, and Gelato we had together and how to forget our best dining place ISKCON temple of Turin. Your constructive criticism has helped me improve as a person. Throughout my thesis writing, you have pushed me hard to never ever give up. The special moment we have shared while watching "Crime Patrol", can never be replaced by anything. I get the positivity whenever we visit open market with you every weekend. There are so many things I can write but how to construct those sentences which explain my feelings in the truest sense. I hope to cherish every moment with you. Thank you for being the positivity in my life.

Last but not least, I would like to thank my parents for always pushing me to pursue higher education. You have been an inspiration to me. **Maa and Papa**, this whole journey is worthless without your effort. This thesis is for you, and I am happy to tell you that in our generation, I will be the first one to achieve a doctorate degree. I would also like to thank my elder brother **Abhishek**, **sister Shubham**, **and brother-in-law Rupesh Jijaji** for their constant support.

As I stated that the journey is incomplete without support from enormous people, and I might have missed out on many on the list. I apologize for not mentioning their name. I am and will always be thankful to everyone for their support.

# **Personal Profile**

#### Education

Ph.D. (Molecular Medicine)	University of Turin, Italy	2018-2023
MS (Molecular Biology and	University of Groningen, The	2013-2015
Biotechnology)	Netherlands	
B.Tech. (Biotechnology)	VIT University, Vellore, India	2007-2011

### Publication

Srivastava Anurag Kumar, Arkojyoti Bhattacharya, Giorgia Guadagnin, Paola Cappello, Francesco Novelli, and Rudolf SN Fehermann, (Manuscript under prep) "Role of adiponectin and its receptor in pancreatic cancer."

Srivastava, Anurag Kumar, Laura Follia, Marco Beccuti, Francesca Cordero, Paola Cappello, and Francesco Novelli. (Manuscript under prep) "Adiponectin receptors expression in the pan-cancer study."

Srivastava, Anurag Kumar, Giorgia Guadagnin, Paola Cappello, and Francesco Novelli. "Post-Translational Modifications in Tumor-Associated Antigens as a Platform for Novel Immuno-Oncology Therapies." Cancers 15, no. 1 (December 26, 2022): 138. https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers15010138.

Patel, Vikash, Abhishek Dutt Tripathi, Kundan Singh Adhikari, and Anurag Srivastava. "Screening of physicochemical and functional attributes of fermented beverage (wine) produced from local mango (Mangifera indica) varieties of Uttar Pradesh using novel saccharomyces strain." Journal of food science and technology 58, no. 6 (2021): 2206-2215. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13197-020-04731-9

Kaur E, Nair J, Kushwaha A, Shetty A, Srivastava A, Moiyadi A, Dutt S., (2016) A novel mechanism of homotypic cell fusion promote the formation of Glioma resistance cells facilitated by NHEJ driven repair (Abstract), European Journal of Cancer Supplements, 54, S41-S42 (Conference Paper).

Srivastava, A.K, Halder, K., Kok J., Neumann H., Dutt S., (2016) Investigation of Protein dynamics using genetically encoded unnatural amino acid (Abstract), European Journal of Cancer Supplements, 54, S70 (Conference Paper).

#### **Honors and Awards**

Visiting researcher fellowship of €10,000 awarded by the University of Turin, Italy, to pursue research at UMCG, The Netherlands (Jan 2022)

Research grant of €80,000 on research proposal by University of Turin, Italy: Carried out Ph.D. research work (Oct 2018)